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Revenue

SUMMARY DATA

Adjusted EBITDA & adjusted EBIT
(value / %) (mln €)

(mln €)

1,710

1800

1,570 1,612

1600
1400

1,324 1,335 1,342

1,664

200

1,433 1,429

(mln €)

2012
Revenue

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018*

2019

2020

1.324

1.335

1.342

1.433

1.429

1.570

1.612

1.710

1.664

Adjusted EBITDA

131

141

154

174

178

192

202

223

244

EBITDA

120

135

147

159

172

178

195

209

227

Adjusted EBIT

96

105

117

133

134

147

134

149

169

EBIT

85

99

110

118

128

133

127

134

149

EBT

73

87

102

104

110

109

111

126

132

Net result

50

62

73

80

83

83

82

89

97

800
600

80
60

400

40

200

97

100

89

90

80

2016

2017

2018*

2019

2020

Trade receivables

192

194

185

179

191

213

206

238

228

30

Inventories

163

172

175

205

215

248

269

276

265

20

-231

-246

-245

-269

-282

-327

-297

-331

-364

10
0

124

120

116

115

124

135

177

182

129

Fixed assets

361

369

457

498

535

592

675

781

733

Other assets and liabilities

-232

-230

-254

-276

-299

-290

-290

-274

-272

Total net capital employed

253

259

319

337

360

437

562

689

590

-108

-47

-23

-7

-30

10

98**

167

144

Shareholders’ equity

361

306

342

344

391

427

464

522

447

Total debt and shareholders’ equity

253

259

319

337

360

437

562

689

590

6.407

6.565

6.623

6.734

6.892

6.993

6.856

7.519

7.415

Net financial debt

HEADCOUNT (n°)

83

83

73
62
50

7.9%

7.3%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

57

56
41

45

62
51

48

45

45

20
10
0

427

(mln €)

342

Free Cash-Flow

PFN

186

447

391
361

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
* only includes industrial investments and capitalised
development costs.

Net financial position/Free Cash Flow**

522
464

450

250

8.7%

30

500

** 34 mln, not considering the IFRS16’s effect

96

9.3%

134
8.3%

9.4%

90

40

(mln €)

300

0

50

Shareholder’s equity

* with the adoption of IFRS15-IFRS16

117
105

60

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

350

133

9.4%

70

40

400

147
134

169
149 10.2%
8.7%

80

82

50

2015

10.6%

(mln €)

(mln €)

2014

11.5%

CAPEX*

Net result

2013

141

20
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

60

Net working capital

140

100

2012

Trade payables

131
9.9%

120

70

(mln €)

160

1000

80

Statement of financial position

154

180

1200

Income statement

220

244
223 14.7%
202 13.0%
192
12.5%
178 12.2%
174
12.1% 12.5%

344

130

108

80

91

306
30
-20

200

67
47

69
23

78

111

75
30

7

36

23

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
-10

-70

150
100

-120

50

-170

0

-98
** cash flows from EBITDA
and operating activities, net of Capex

-144
-167

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
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CORPORATE
BOARDS

2021

AFTER A YEAR FULL OF CHALLENGES,
OUR COMMITMENT TO PEOPLE, DIGITAL
TRANSFORMATION AND SUSTAINABILITY
IS EVEN STRONGER

Board of Directors
NAME

Paolo Merloni, Executive Chairman

Francesco Merloni

Honorary Chairman

Paolo Merloni

Chairman

Laurent Jacquemin

CEO

2020 will be remembered for its unprecedented impact on

and impact. We reviewed many elements of our organization

society, on health systems, on global economies and on

model to better absorb the relevant growth of the past years

each of us, at a personal and professional level. The Covid-19

and prepare for new developments and we strengthen our

pandemic crisis has deeply challenged the way we live, work

commitment to digital transformation, focusing on many

Sara Dethridge

and relate to each other.

go-to-market initiatives aimed directly at the end consumer,

Andrea Guerra

At Ariston Thermo we navigated this uncharted territory
building on our core values of entrepreneurship, team work

“Renewable champion” was the third mantra: in 2020 we

Roberto Guidetti

and long-term orientation, complementing them with a

raised our sales and our share in the heating heat pump

Maria Francesca Merloni

commitment to act quickly, to anticipate proactively new

market; we further increased our investments both in

emerging challenges and issues, to continuously adapt.

renewables and hybrid technologies, and likewise we

Gianemilio Osculati

In 2020 we delivered a significant growth on EBITDA and

Paolo Tanoni

a double-digit growth of EBIT adjusted compared to

Marinella Soldi
Enrico Vita

revenues. Moreover, 2020 was our best year so far on cash

mantra, enabling us to strengthen our presence in many

generation.

key markets in 2020. To increase our engagement in China,

a gold coin to each of our employees around the world: a

Lorenzo Pozza

symbol of gratitude, esteem and good luck to the people of
the company.
There are several remarkable achievements to celebrate this
year.
Chairman

Antonia Di Bella
Andrea Silvestri
Alternate auditor

Biones Ferrari

Alternate auditor

Independent Auditors

NAME

we introduced our new range of heating solutions. We then
established Ariston Thermo USA to consolidate the North
American platform, launched our new range of commercial
heating solutions with Elco Heating Solutions, and strongly
revamped our portfolio of water heating solutions. Finally, we
strengthened our R&D centres in China and Mexico.
Notwithstanding the global pandemic, in 2020 Ariston
Thermo further reinforced its commitment to a sustainable

“People come first” was one of 2020’s mantras. We put in

future. We are nearing the completion of the first leg of our

place safety measures for our staff in our offices and plants,

sustainability journey, which we started in 2017 with a set of

often anticipating many governments’ decisions. At the

milestones for 2022. This year, we started the development

same time, we ensured the continuity of our supply chain

of an even more ambitious plan to be launched in 2021-2022,

and our activities, to guarantee a high level of service to

Giorgio Fumagalli

sales support in each of our key markets.
“Global champion, at home everywhere” was the last

We chose to celebrate this special milestone by donating

NAME

expanded the number of teams providing go-to-market pre-

2019, exceeding our budget target and maintaining steady

Last year also marked the 90th anniversary of Ariston Thermo.

Board of Statutory Auditors

sales and marketing automation processes, and eCommerce.

our customers. In Italy and Europe, in March, when personal
protective equipment was almost unavailable, the Group -

with a new vision for 2030 and targets until 2025, focused on
the ESG pillars: environmental, social and governance.

leveraging its supply chain - donated over 200,000 masks to

2020 proved that we are able to overcome difficult moments

hospitals, healthcare facilities and other entities, as well as to

by acting as a team. And we are ready to grow again, willing

all employees, Technical Assistance Centres and customers.

to commit our entrepreneurship, teamwork and long-term

In China, Vietnam, Tunisia, Indonesia, Nigeria and Romania,

orientation to our profitable and sustainable growth.

the company provided support to hospitals and people on the

This is the approach and the spirit that will guide Ariston

front line of the fight against the pandemic, through product

Thermo expansion for the next 90 years, continuing bringing

donations and fundraising.

sustainable comfort to our markets and to our customers.

“Agility for the future” was a second mantra. In 2020 we
confirmed all the key projects with a long-term orientation

EY SpA
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WHO WE ARE AND WHAT WE DO

WHO WE ARE AND WHAT WE DO

ARISTON THERMO
A global leader in thermal comfort and energy efficiency.

Ariston Thermo operates in three different sectors, offering a full range
of products, systems and services mainly under the global brands Ariston
and ELCO, and operating leading national brands such as Chaffoteaux, ATAG,
Racold, Calorex, NTI, HTP, as well as Ecoflam and Thermowatt
in burners and components.

THE

RMAL COMFOR

T

Air conditioners
Water heaters

All over the world, Ariston Thermo is synonymous
with comfort, energy efficiency and respect for
the environment, thanks to its high efficiency
products, its plants in compliance with the most
advanced production standards and excellent
pre- and after-sales customer support services.
The Group has now a leadership position
in the global thermal comfort market
for domestic, commercial and industrial spaces.

91%

Heat pumps

Solar thermal

Burners

Boilers

Services

System
components

4%

5%

Heating
elements

CO
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Burners

Thermostats
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Services
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R
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THE GROUP BY NUMBERS

2020 HIGHLIGHTS

THE GROUP BY NUMBERS

Global presence and local resources: our numbers describe a solid
and growing Group rooted in its values and the local territory.

1.66

7.5

7,400

75

BILLION EURO
IN SALES

MILLION PRODUCTS
PER YEAR

EMPLOYEES

MILLION EURO
IN INVESTMENTS AND R&D

89% of sales is generated
outside Italy.

(and 34 million components)
sold in over 150 countries in the world.

Local people hold 84%
of managerial positions.

The Group features 25 centres of competences for
product research and development in 16 countries.

SALES
BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA

SALES
BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

EMPLOYEES
BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA

EMPLOYEES
BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

OTHER
AMERICAS

13%

4%

ITALY

OTHER

COMPONENTS
BURNERS

11%

5%

4%

AMERICAS

BURNERS

3%

COMPONENTS

15%
ITALY

4%

8%

22%
MIDDLE EAST
+ ASIA

MIDDLE EAST
+ ASIA

14%

19%

EUROPE

58%
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THERMAL COMFORT

91%

EUROPE

41%

THERMAL COMFORT

88%

13

GLOBAL VISION, LOCAL ACTION

GLOBAL VISION,
LOCAL ACTION
Ariston Thermo is the world’s partner in energy efficient thermal comfort, with a strong and long
established presence in Europe and emerging countries over time.

COMPANIES AND REPRESENTATIVE OFFICES
Argentina
Austria
Bahrein
Belarus
Belgium
Canada
China
Croatia
Czech Republic
Denmark
Egypt
France

PRODUCTION SITES
Bahrein
Belgium
Canada
China
France
Germany
Italy

Mexico
Netherlands
Russia
Serbia
South Africa
Tunisia
U.S.A.
Vietnam

Germany

Manama
Namur
Saint John
Sussex
Qingxi Town
Wuxi
Chartres
Vieux-Thann
Pirna
Albacina
Arcevia
Cerreto
Follina
Genga
Osimo
Resana
Saltillo
Kerkrade
Lichtenvoorde
Saint Petersburg
Svilajnac
Johannesburg
Tunisi
New Bedford (2)
Hanoi

Hungary
India

70

26

25

150

OPERATING COMPANIES
AND 6 REPRESENTATIVE
OFFICES IN 42 COUNTRIES

CENTRES OF COMPETENCES
AND R&D IN 16 COUNTRIES

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Buenos Aires
Vienna
Manama
Minsk
Anderlecht
Saint John
Shanghai
Zagreb
Prague
Risskov
Cairo
Massy
Paris
Vieux-Thann
Düsseldorf
Frankfurt
Hechingen
Pirna
Budapest
Pune

Indonesia
Israel
Italy

Kazakhstan
Mexico
Morocco
Netherlands
Nigeria
Poland
Portugal
Romania
Russia

Jakarta
Tel Aviv
Arcevia
Fabriano
Follina
Milan
Resana
Varese
Almaty
Saltillo
Casablanca
Kerkrade
Lichtenvoorde
Naarden
Lagos
Kracow
Sintra
Bucarest
Moscow

Saudi Arabia
Serbia
Singapore
Slovakia
South Africa
Spain
Switzerland
Tunisia
Turkey
Ukraine
UAE
United Kingdom
U.S.A.
Uzbekistan
Vietnam

Riyahd
Svilajnac
Singapore
Bratislava
Johannesburg
Barcelona
Aarburg
Manno
Vilters
Tunisi
Istanbul
Kiev
Dubai
Basildon
High Wycombe
Delaware
Wilmington
Tashkent
Hanoi

PRODUCTION SITES
IN 15 COUNTRIES

DISTRIBUTION
COUNTRIES

Direct commercial presence
Industrial presence
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OUR HISTORY

OUR HISTORY
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Ariston Thermo signs an agreement with
Mexican conglomerate Grupo Industrial
Saltillo for the acquisition of 100% of
Calorex, a leading company in Mexico
that offers water-heating solutions for
residential and commercial sectors and
that is the authorized licensee of the
American Standard brand in the USA. With
this operation, the Group consolidates its
presence in the American continent.

2017

2019

The Ariston Thermo plant in Cerreto D’Esi,
specialised in the production of electric
water heaters, receives the World Class
Manufacturing (WCM) bronze medal.

Ariston Thermo continues growing,
through both acquisitions and the
achievement of important goals in
historical sites: NTI – the brand leader in
Canada and one of the leaders in the USA in
the condensing boiler segment – joins the
Group with products and services famous
for their quality and reliability, while
in Italy the Arcevia and Osimo plants win
the coveted World Class Manufacturing
bronze medal.

Ariston Thermo reaches an agreement with
Whirlpool for the reindustrialisation of the
site in Albacina to establish a competence
centre for the design and production of
advanced thermal comfort technology
powered by renewable energy.
The Group launches “The Ariston Comfort
Challenge”, the first global campaign for
the Ariston brand that best expresses the
Group’s core values: innovation, comfort,
energy sustainability and efficiency.

2020

2014
Ariston Thermo acquires ATAG Heating,
a Dutch highend brand in the heating
industry. In the same year, two important
transactions are conducted to expand
production in the markets enjoying
greatest growth: the acquisition of Heat
Tech Geysers, the second player in the
South African market for water heaters,
and the inauguration of a new factory in
Vietnam, at the forefront in the production
of electric water heaters.

2018

The Group acquires a number of historical
companies and brands in the heating
and burner industry, like Chaffoteaux,
ELCO, Cuenod and Ecoflam, and opens a
new factory in Saint Petersburg, Russia.
Following this growth, the Group changes
its name to Ariston Thermo and becomes
one of the global leaders in the water and
space heating industry, with a full range of
products, systems and services.

2015

2011
2013

Ariston Thermo finalises the acquisition
of DhE, an Italian leader in the sector of
heating elements for commercial
and industrial applications, and enters
into a joint venture for selling
high-efficiency home heating systems
in Uzbekistan.

The Group opens a new branch,
Ariston Thermo Indonesia, and debuts on
the Danish market with the acquisition of
Gastech-Energi A/S.
The Group also acquires SPM, French
manufacturer of burners and components.
On Ariston Thermo’s 20th anniversary in
Russia, a new logistics hub is opened in
Saint Petersburg.

2016

In the Sixties, with nearly 600 employees
and 5 plants, the Company starts the
production of gas cylinders and electric
water heaters. In a period of intense
growth during the Seventies, the Ariston
brand is created and the Company
becomes a leader in the Italian water
heater segment, expanding into Western
Europe’s main markets.

2000s

1960s
1970s

1930

1980s
1990s

Aristide Merloni founds the Industrie
Merloni in the Marche Region of Italy,
starting the production of weighing
scales.

Already a market leader in water heating,
during the Eighties the Company enters
the heating sector and starts producing
boilers. By setting up subsidiaries in
Eastern Europe and Asia, the Company
consolidates its global leadership in
heating and water heating. In the Nineties,
it acquires Racold, the largest water
heating company in India, and opens its
first wholly owned factory in China.

By acquiring Cipag SA and Domotec AG,
Ariston Thermo confirms its leadership in
Switzerland in the production, distribution
and maintenance of water heating
systems.

Laurent Jacquemin takes over as Group’s
Chief Executive Officer.
The Ariston Thermo Innovative
Technologies, a research centre for
cutting-edge solutions on the global
thermal comfort market, is established
in Agrate, Italy. Investments by Ariston
Thermo continue with the acquisition of
HTP, a well-established brand
on the US high-efficiency thermal comfort
market, and of Atmor, an Israeli company
which distributes its instantaneous
electric water heaters in 40 countries
worldwide. Ariston Thermo also opens a
new manufacturing facility in Tunisia.

Ariston Thermo celebrates its 90th
anniversary since its foundation, an occasion
to underline the Company’s values.
In such a significant and difficult year due
to the pandemic, the Company is launching
a series of CSR activities at a global level to
support different stakeholders in the fight
against Covid-19.
Ariston Thermo also signes a framework
agreement with Politecnico di Milano
and Fondazione Politecnico di Milano to
broaden and make more strategic the
areas of collaboration already underway in
research and technological innovation for the
development of sustainable solutions in the
thermal comfort sector.
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2020 HIGHLIGHTS

2020 HIGHLIGHTS
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In response to the Covid-19 lockdown,
Ariston Thermo accelerated the
digitalization process already underway
and extended the Microsoft platform
Teams globally towards all the employees.
After just four weeks, the service had
already been rolled out for 3,000 people.

JUN

AUG

MAY
APR

FEB

JAN
Ariston Thermo Innovative Technologies
(ATIT), the Group’s research and
development company for efficient air
conditioning technologies, is taking part
in the LombHe@t project, aimed at
identifying heating solutions with low
environmental impact able to guarantee a
decarbonisation process.
Thanks to the collaboration with A2A Calore
& Servizi, Fondazione Politecnico and
Enersem, the project aims to develop highefficiency technologies that use renewable
energy sources for both new and existing
buildings and optimised district heating.
On February 26, the first internal directive
with precautionary anti-COVID-19
measures was issued at Group level, before
certain provisions were implemented at
government level.
The stated objective was to regulate conduct
in company offices and production plants,
travel and transfers, whether international
or domestic, outside the workplace, the use
of internal safety devices and risk mitigation
monitoring systems.

As preventive measures against
Covid-19, the Group also organised a
campaign of serological tests and
swabs to allow a safe resumption of
post-holiday work activities.
The smart working continues, while
implementing shifts between in-person
and remote work.

Paolo Merloni, Executive Chairman
of Ariston Thermo Group, was
awarded the title of Cavaliere del
Lavoro. The honour, conferred on the
basis of “ work merit “ was announced
by the President of the Republic Sergio
Mattarella, on the occasion of the
Republic Day on the 2nd of June.
The award is conferred to Italian
entrepreneurs and professionals who
have excelled in specific sectors including industry - while maintaining
impeccable civil and social conduct.
The appointment follows the one
of Francesco Merloni, Honorary
President of Ariston Thermo,
appointed Cavaliere del Lavoro in 1995.

The ranking, defined by analysing 800
initiatives from 350 different companies,
aims to highlight high-performance
CSR projects that give great emphasis
on issues such as stakeholder dialogue,
project sustainability, alignment with GRI
standards and measurement of medium
and long-term impact. The award was
won thanks to local activities carried out
in 2019.

Ariston Thermo ranked first in the
Leone 2020 class (companies with over
€100 million value) of the Best Value
Award 2020. The survey, conducted by
Imprenditore Smart in collaboration with
the Wealth Advisory section of Banca
Mediolanum led by Massimo Cupillari,
analysed around 5,300 companies in
the Marche region which, during 2019,
produced the greatest value, intended
as the ability to generate income and the
financial dimension.

OCT

In Tunisia, the Group took part in a
fundraising event aimed at supporting
hospitals and families in need. Moreover,
Ariston Vietnam donated 200 boilers to
the Ministry of Health, which were installed in
quarantined areas.

Ariston Thermo presented Igea Care,
the new product concept that makes
hand washing and hygiene practical,
accessible and universal in public
places. The product, conceived by designer
Umberto Palermo for the health emergency
situation linked to the pandemic, was
developed with the aim of responding to
the need of having your hands frequently
sanitised, an essential practice to prevent
the spread of viruses.

SEP

With a commitment to research and
innovation, digital transformation and
the enhancement of human capital, the
company is willing to pursue its growth in
the future, improving strong partnerships
with its stakeholders.

MAR

Ariston Thermo celebrates the
ninetieth anniversary of its foundation.

In China, Ariston Thermo donated electric
water heaters to the Wuhan rescue teams,
set up an assistance programme for
national health staff and made prevention
kits for the new Coronavirus available to its
suppliers and partners.

This year the Ariston Comfort Challenge
in Romania achieves an important
recognition for its CSR, winning the
Gold Level award in the Disadvantaged
Environments category of the Community
Index 2020.

DEC

In Italy and Europe, the Group has offered a
significant supply of masks – leveraging on its
supply chain – from Africa to China - donating
over 200,000 masks of different types to
hospitals, healthcare facilities and other
organisations, as well as to all employees,
Technical Assistance Centres and Clients.
During this month, office staff rotations and
production plant shift separations were put
in place.

In Spain, the #Aristontecuida
campaign aimed at installers,
retailers and the community goes on.
The campaign, launched by Ariston
Thermo in June in Spain, consists of a
series of educational, promotional
and support activities with a focus on
Covid-19.
Installers are provided with tools and
instructions to work safely, a loyalty
scheme, a series of online training
webinars, digital catalogues and
promotions. The campaign includes
incentives to purchase through retailers
and the donation of Ariston products to
healthcare and residential facilities and
social housing, respectively.

NOV

Ariston Thermo carries out various
CSR activities at a global level and is
continuously committed to fighting Covid-19.

Two years after the launch of the global
campaign Ariston Comfort Challenge
in Greenland, Ariston Thermo faces a
new challenge in Vietnam: three famous
Vietnamese influencers, supported by a
team of local installers, will travel the
entire country to reach the neediest
populations, bringing them comfort
through Ariston brand products.

In November, Ariston Thermo signed a
framework cooperation agreement for
scientific collaboration with Politecnico di
Milano and Fondazione Politecnico di Milano.
The agreement will last five years and aims to
improve and broaden the strategic collaborations
already established in research and technological
innovation for the development of sustainable
solutions in the field of thermal comfort.

Their journey, documented on various
socials throughout the course of the
campaign, is aimed at demonstrating the
quality of the solutions offered by Ariston,
this time installed in extremely needy
Vietnamese areas.

The collaboration also involves the support
from Politecnico di Milano to Ariston Thermo
in recruiting talents and providing specific
training programmes addressed to sustainable
heating professionals. It will also provide PhD
programmes in areas chosen by the Company,
thus fostering the vital exchange of know-how
between the two environments and facilitating
the alignment on the latest developments in
scientific-technological research.
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OUR BRANDS
COMFORT
ALWAYS ON

THE INVENTORS
OF THE CONDENSING BOILER

Ariston is the global specialist in the thermal comfort with unique
expertise and cutting-edge efficient solutions for heating and water
heating. Ariston’s challenge is to bring comfort to everyone, even
where it seems impossible.

ATAG Heating keeps innovating in durable energy technologies,
working from its core competence: high efficiency boilers. Its
growth is based on a strong focus on customers and sustainble
premium product ranges.

POWERED
BY SOLUTIONS

COMFORT
AND SAVINGS

For decades Elco has been a leading European brand offering smart
solutions and technologies designed to meet the needs of any
domestic and commercial project. Maximum energy saving and
a 24-hour assistance service, working 365 days a year.

NTI is a leading company in condensing technology in North
America and the Canada’s market leader for condensing boilers
for residential and commercial use. Aattention to customer
requirements and excellent support service underpin its success.

MASTER THE BEST
OF EVERY ENERGY

HIGH-QUALITY
AND WORRY-FREE COMFORT

A pioneer in the development of multi-energy solutions,
Chaffoteaux offers a complete and innovative range for heating
and hot water. The latest technological innovations in energy
performance, resource management and energy savings.

HTP, a leading US company producing innovative,
high-efficiency solutions for space and water heating, produces
a wide range of highly efficient products and long-lasting
system components.

REBORN EVERY DAY
WITH HOT WATER

THE HEART
OF ELECTRIC APPLIANCES

Racold is the Ariston Thermo Group leader in India on the water
heating market, with a complete range of electrical, solar and gas
water heaters.

For more than 50 years, Thermowatt has delivered
high quality and innovative components for the electric
appliances industry, helping its customers build unique
and effective product portfolios.

'
˜ TE CAMBIA EL DIA
UN BUEN BANO
Calorex, a leader in domestic and commercial water heating
solutions in Mexico, boasts 70 years of history in terms of the
quality and reliability of its products.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

INNOVATION AND EFFICIENCY
The best technologies applied to a range of burners from 11 kW
to 80 MW. Reliable, highly efficient and customized solutions for
residential and commercial heating applications, guaranteeing
environmental protection.

21

DIRECTORS’
REPORT ON
OPERATIONS
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ON OPERATIONS

EXCHANGE RATES OF THE EURO AGAINST THE MAIN CURRENCIES

REFERENCE FRAMEWORK

2020

MACROECONOMIC SCENARIO
The International Monetary Fund estimates that world
GDP shrunk by 4.4% in 2020 and will grow by 5.5% in 2021
and 4.2% in 2022.

Vietnam and China are the only two economies that
expanded in 2020, by 1.6% and 2.3%, respectively, and in
2021 they are expected to grow by 6.7% and 8.1%.

Italy would swing from -9.2% in 2020 to +3% in 2021,
France from -9% to +5.5%, and Spain from -11.1% to +5.9%.

India and Mexico are forecast to grow by 11.5% and 4.3%
in 2021 after a severe contraction in 2020 (-8% and -8.5%,
respectively).

Germany would see a narrower fluctuation, from -5.4%
in 2020 to +3.5% in 2021, and so would the United States,
going from -3.4% to +5.1% also on the back of constant
economic stimulus measures in terms of both monetary
policy and support to demand.

With respect to year-on-year changes in average exchange
rates, the Swiss franc remained the only currency that
rose against the euro (-3.8%), while the latter significantly
appreciated relative to other major currencies, with doubledigit increases against the rouble, Turkish lira, and Mexican
peso (+14.2%, +26.7%, and +13.7%, respectively).

At the end of 2020, compared with the prior-year period,
the euro appreciated against nearly all the major currencies
of interest to Ariston Thermo Group. The euro appreciated
especially against the Turkish lira (+36.3%), the Russian
rouble (+30.8%), and the Mexican peso (+15.1%), whereas the
only currency that gained ground on the euro was the Swiss
franc (-0.5%).

Although they are still to be confirmed based on how
the pandemic unfolds and individual governments will
respond, these data suggest that the euro area is expected
to fall short of the average global GDP growth rate.

2019

∆

31/12/2020

2020 average

31/12/2019

2019 average

% ‘20-’19
end of the year

% ‘20-’19
average

1.08

1.07

1.09

1.11

-0.5%

-3.8%

CHF
CNY

8.02

7.87

7.82

7.74

2.6%

1.8%

GBP

0.90

0.89

0.85

0.88

5.7%

1.4%

RON

4.87

4.84

4.78

4.75

1.8%

2.0%

RUB

91.47

82.72

69.96

72.46

30.7%

14.2%

USD

1.23

1.14

1.12

1.12

9.2%

2.0%

CAD

1.56

1.53

1.46

1.49

7.1%

3.0%

VND

28,331

26,534

26,033

26,003

8.8%

2.0%

INR

89.66

84.64

80.19

78.84

11.8%

7.4%

TRY

9.11

8.05

6.68

6.36

36.3%

26.7%

MXN

24.42

24.52

21.22

21.56

15.1%

13.7%

Source: ECB

GDP growth projections.
annual percentage changes

Actual
2019

Variation
2021 - 2020

New Projections
2020

2021

2022

World Output

2.8%

-3.5%

5.5%

4.2%

9.0%

Belgium

1.4%

-8.3%

5.4%

n.a.

13.7%

China

6.0%

2.3%

8.1%

5.6%

5.8%

France

1.5%

-9.0%

5.5%

4.1%

14.5%

Germany

0.6%

-5.4%

3.5%

3.1%

8.9%

India

4.2%

-8.0%

11.5%

6.8%

19.5%

Indonesia

5.0%

-1.9%

4.8%

6.0%

6.7%

Italy

0.3%

-9.2%

3.0%

3.6%

12.2%
12.8%

Mexico

-0.1%

-8.5%

4.3%

2.5%

Poland

4.5%

-3.4%

2.7%

5.1%

6.1%

Romania

4.1%

-4.8%

4.6%

n.a.

9.4%

Russia

1.3%

-3.6%

3.0%

3.9%

6.6%

Saudi Arabia

0.3%

-3.9%

2.6%

4.0%

6.5%

South Africa

0.2%

-7.5%

2.8%

1.4%

10.3%

Spain

2.0%

-11.1%

5.9%

4.7%

17.0%

Switzerland

1.2%

-5.3%

3.6%

n.a.

8.9%

Turkey

0.9%

1.2%

6.0%

3.5%

4.8%

United Arab Emirates

1.7%

-6.6%

1.3%

n.a.

7.9%

United Kingdom

1.4%

-10.0%

4.5%

5.0%

14.5%

United States

2.2%

-3.4%

5.1%

2.5%

8.5%

Vietnam

7.0%

1.6%

6.7%

n.a.

5.1%

Source: IMF, World Economic Outlook, January 2021

RAW MATERIALS
In 2020, the main raw materials for the Ariston Thermo
Group had a mixed performance compared to the average
for the prior year. The commodity that appreciated the
most is silver, as its annual average price in euros jumped
by approximately 23.4% over 2019. The prices of two out
of the Group's three main commodities climbed steadily
towards the end of the year: steel and copper were up 51.5%

and 25.8% year-on-year at the end of 2020, respectively.
Polypropylene was the only commodity whose price fell
in 2020 (-7.6% compared to the 2019 year-end spot price).
Finally, the upward trend across all commodities, which
began in late 2020 and is expected to continue into 2021,
becomes apparent when comparing the year-end spot price
and the average price of all commodities for 2020.

MONTHLY AVERAGE MARKET PRICES OF THE MAIN RAW MATERIALS MARKETS (per ton)
2020

2019

∆

COMMODITY

31/12/2020

2020 average

31/12/2019

2019 average

% ‘20-’19
end of the year

% ‘20-’19
average

Steel [€/ton]

665

442

439

469

51.5%

-5.8%

Polypropylene [€/ton]

1,178

1,145

1,275

1,345

-7.6%

-14.9%

Copper [USD/ton]

7,742

6,181

6,156

6,000

25.8%

3.0%

Nickel [USD/ton]

16,540

13,789

14,000

13,936

18.1%

-1.1%

Silver [€/ton]

693.8

575

516.7

465.8

34.3%

23.4%

Note: For steel, the price of hot-rolled steel was used for the European market while for copper, the average of daily “cash”
quotations was used.
Source: Metal Bulletin, ICIS LOR, LME
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MARKET AND BUSINESS PERFORMANCE
The Covid-19 emergency has significantly affected
markets across all the main geographies in which the
Group operates, especially in the first half of the year.
Despite rising demand in the second half, the market
for domestic water heating systems was down overall
in 2020, while in the last few months of 2020 the space
heating market is estimated to have recouped most of
the volumes lost in the first half of the year.

against this backdrop, Ariston Thermo increased its sales
volumes and market share.

in most of the main geographies in which the Group
operates, and also renewable energy heat pump water
heaters are expected to have declined compared to 2019.
With respect to space heating solutions, overall demand
for wall-hung boilers is estimated to have slightly fallen.

As for gas storage systems, the market is estimated to
have grown year-on-year, and Ariston Thermo's share
remained stable also in this segment.

In this segment, heat pump solutions continue growing at
a brisk pace.

RENEWABLE ENERGY SOLUTIONS

ELECTRIC SOLUTIONS
In 2020, demand for electric storage water heating
systems is estimated to have declined in the core
European markets. Against this backdrop, Ariston Thermo
increased its market share.
In the main emerging markets in Africa and Asia, demand
for electric storage water heaters was down year-onyear. India, Indonesia, and South Africa were some of
the countries most affected by the pandemic. Against
this backdrop, overall Ariston Thermo's market share is
estimated to have remained stable.
Demand for electric storage systems was up in the United
States compared to 2019, and Ariston Thermo's share was
estimated to be in line with the prior year.
Demand for instantaneous electric systems is expected to
have fallen overall, especially in India and the main Asian
markets. Ariston Thermo's performance was mixed across
the various geographies in which the Group operates and,
overall, its competitive positioning improved compared to
the previous year.

Against this backdrop, Ariston Thermo defended its market
share in France and improved its competitive positioning
in Switzerland.
In Eastern Europe, demand for this category of products is
estimated to have risen and Ariston Thermo increased its
market share, with a strong performance in Poland.

In Western Europe, the volumes of both the overall market
as well as Ariston Thermo in the segment of heat pump

The market for traditional water heaters contracted

DOMESTIC
WATER HEATING

In America, overall sales of instantaneous gas water
heating systems were up year-on-year, and Ariston
Thermo's market share grew in Mexico and held steady in
the United States.

water heating solutions declined in 2020. Specifically,
both France, the largest market for this segment, as well
as Italy were slightly down.

GLOBAL WATER HEATERS MARKET*

(mln pieces)
100

100.1

100.3

2017

2018

102.6

100.7

2019

2020

86.8

80
60
40
20
0
2016

1. The change in the amounts relating to 2019 sales was due to the fact that
the updated numbers incorporate the impact of the cut-off, which had not
been included in previous editions.
2. The estimates for the water heating markets were adjusted also for
previous years, following a review of the Chinese water heating market
carried out in 2020.

EUROPEAN WATER HEATERS MARKET SHARE**

(mln pieces)

GAS SOLUTIONS
In the main European countries, demand for instantaneous
gas water heating systems bounced back compared to
2019, when sales had declined sharply because of the
introduction of the ErP directive as well as of Spain's RITE
regulation for thermal installations in buildings, which
prohibits sales of low-efficiency open-chamber products.
Against this backdrop, Ariston Thermo is estimated to have
improved its competitive positioning
Demand for instantaneous gas systems is expected to
have fallen overall in the main emerging geographies;

Ariston Thermo 20%

Others 80%

* Electric and gas water heaters; boilers and solar water heaters excluded.
** Europe: West, East and Central Europe, Turkey, Romania, Balkans, Russia,
Belarus, Ukraine.
Sources: BRG Consult + Ariston Thermo internal estimates.

Velis
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RENEWABLE ENERGY SOLUTIONS

SPACE HEATING
GAS SOLUTIONS
Market demand for gas systems in Europe is expected to
have remained stable, with volumes rebounding in the
final stretch of the year.
Against this backdrop, Ariston Thermo is estimated to have
delivered an essentially stable performance.
In China, market demand is expected to have declined
from 2019 because of both the sharp contraction in

the retail channel in the first half of the year and the
slowdown in the Coal-to-gas programme during the last
quarter of 2020. Against this backdrop, overall Ariston
Thermo's market share is estimated to have remained
stable.
In North America, demand for high-efficiency gas hydronic
space heating solutions was down overall, and the Group's
competitive positioning is estimated to have remained
stable.

Against this backdrop, Ariston Thermo continued
expanding its market share compared to the prior year
across the entire area and in all major countries, with
different offerings for each market and in the Mainstream
and Premium segments.
These two segments are growing in Europe, and
specifically in the two geographies defined with the
following focus:

WESTERN EUROPE WALL-HUNG BOILERS MARKET*
(2020 volumes - mln pieces)

1,7

The renewable heating technology segment continued
growing steadily across all European countries despite the
impact of Covid-19, driven mostly by regulatory standards
for new buildings and specific incentive schemes for
existing buildings that require using renewable solutions
promoting heat pumps.

• Northern European markets, with a focus on the DACH
area. Now that commercial offerings have matured,
putting the high efficiency of HHPs front and centre, the

1.58

focus has shifted to acoustic comfort. The main goal is
to allow installing outdoor units near other buildings in
accordance with applicable laws and without significant
acoustic impacts, including under high load conditions. In
this sense, regulations on acoustic comfort such as BWP in
Germany or FWS in Switzerland are reinforcing the trend,
which is also supported in part by incentive schemes
(BAFA in Germany).
• Central and Southern European Markets, with a focus
on Italy-France. These skew towards the Mainstream
segment and are focused on mass-market high-efficiency
solutions. The markets feature incentive schemes that
reward high efficiency.
Ariston covers both segments to meet European
requirements. It performed especially well in terms of
market share as well as volumes and sales in Italy, France,
Poland, Germany and the Netherlands, with firmly doubledigit growth rates.

1,5
1,2
1,0

0.84

0,7
0,5

0.43

0.51

0.47
0.30

0,2

0.19

0
UK*

IT

NL

FR

ES

DE

BE

0.04

0.01

AU

CH

Source: National Manufacturers Associations and internal elaboration

CHANGES IN THE CONDENSING SEGMENT IN WESTERN EUROPE**
(mln pieces)

5,0

4.3

4.2

4.5

4.5

4.4

4,0
3,0
2,0
WHB Standard

1,0

WHB Cond

0
2016

* Includes Ireland.

2017

2018

2019

2020

** Includes Ireland and Portugal.

Source: National Manufacturers Associations and Ariston Thermo internal elaboration

Nimbus Connected
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BURNERS

COMPONENTS

In 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic significantly affected most
of the Burners division's main markets. The burners market
saw an overall reduction in volumes in Europe: gas burners
were down significantly in France, Germany, Italy and the
United Kingdom. The volumes of oil burners also declined
across the board.
With respect to emerging countries, the market has been
slowly recovering in China, despite widespread credit
issues, but stood out for the aggressive presence of local
manufacturers, while the Russian market was estimated to
have contracted due to the combination of the pandemic,
depreciating rouble, and sliding oil prices.
Against this backdrop, the Burners division improved its
competitive positioning in key European countries such as
France, the United Kingdom, and the Netherlands, while it
came under pressure in China.
Finally, the Burners division reported growth in certain
markets in Eastern Europe and Asia, such as Ukraine,
Kazakhstan, and Malaysia, largely driven by the high
demand for PPE made of latex as a result of Covid-19.

The Components division reported lower sales in 2020
compared to the previous year, largely because of the
Covid-19 pandemic. The contraction was concentrated in
the second quarter of 2020, while the following months
saw a recovery that accelerated in the fourth quarter.
Here are the highlights: sales in the water heater market
were up following the strong recovery in the third and
fourth quarters; sales volumes declined in both the
professional market, severely affected by repeated
lockdowns and uncertainty over the recovery, and
the home appliance market. Here, while sales steadily
bounced back in Europe in the second half of the year,
volumes fell in Asia, also because of strategic commercial
policy decisions.

COVID-19
2020 was characterised by the spread of the
Covid-19 pandemic. This severely affected the global
macroeconomic scenario, resulting in a triple shock for
the world economy, also because of the restrictions
introduced by several governments: the initial supply-side
shock, caused by lockdowns across most of the world,
was compounded at the same time by a demand-side
shock, largely due to falling consumer spending and, in
some areas, rising unemployment. These were followed
by an uncertainty shock, as the world economy came
to a sudden and unprecedented halt. All this was made
worse by the lack of clarity on the timing of a resolution
and recovery, with consequences that are hard to predict.
Looking forward, while it is likely that the negative impact
of containment measures will subside and global output
will gradually recover, the lingering uncertainty over the
economic-health outlook will probably continue weighing
on consumer spending and is still casting doubts as to
when the economic recovery will become stronger and
steadier.
The World Health Organisation issued its first warning
about the Covid-19 virus on 30 January 2020, and then
declared it a pandemic on 11 March 2020. In response,
several governments in the jurisdictions affected
introduced travel bans, quarantines, and other emergency
public safety measures, as well as restrictions on
economic activity. Ariston Thermo Group acted early to
protect first its employees and communities, issuing a first
internal directive on 26 February 2020 that introduced
continuous prevention and monitoring measures. The
Group then set up several Crisis Committees, with weekly
meetings dedicated to monitoring the global scenario,
ensuring the safety of human resources and the normal
course of business operations, securing the supply chain
and distribution to customers, and monitoring operating

costs, investments and liquidity. All this did not negatively
affect the internal control system and financial reporting
processes.
The Group made the safety of the workforce its absolute
priority by taking the steps required to minimise the
risk of contagion among employees, such as switching
to smart working, implementing social distancing
measures, providing and requiring the adoption of
personal protective equipment, sanitising premises,
testing, organising work shifts for employees on-site,
and cancelling all travel — all this while ensuring business
continuity and duly complying with the emergency laws
passed by the various local authorities. In addition, based
on the regulations applicable in individual countries, the
Group temporarily halted production at its plants. These
restrictions were all but lifted in the final quarter of the
year.
To offset the fallout of the pandemic on its financial
performance and financial position, the Group has
adopted precautionary strategies: starting from March, it
has focused on measures intended to protect profitability
and cash flows by containing costs, revising investment
plans, and tightly monitoring credit policies as well as
collection and payment times — and, therefore, the
management of existing and future cash flows. With
respect to financing activities, it pre-empted potential
stress situations by introducing more flexibility in cash
management for the purpose of managing working
capital, drawing down existing and unused lines of
credit as a precaution for a period of time and entering
into additional loan agreements with its main financial
partners.
Below is a summary of the actions taken:

CREDIT LINE

AMOUNT
(IN MILLION EURO)

AVERAGE TERM
(MONTHS)

AVERAGE
MATURITY

Pre-emptive use of existing RCFs*

380

4

> 4.5 years

New loans

170

18

Dec-21

* Revolving Credit Facilities

Nuos Plus
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The measures intended to contain and optimise costs
include those relating to labour costs (activation of benefits
for redundant employees, hiring freeze) and costs for
services (selective cancellation of secondary activities and
planned, but low-priority and non-strategic marketing
investments, suspension of discretionary costs such as
consulting services and travel not strictly necessary to
conduct the business, renegotiation of the terms and
conditions of multi-period contracts). In addition, the
Group has been constantly monitoring existing investment
plans for high-priority projects. The effective and timely
implementation of the above measures, combined with
the sector's resilience to adverse business cycles and the
Group's geographic diversification, allowed Ariston Thermo
to not only limit significantly the impact of declining sales
(-2.7% year-on-year), but also, and most importantly, to
report the best financial performance and the highest
free cash flow in its history in 2020, with € 244 million in
adjusted EBITDA (14.7% as a percentage of revenues), € 169
million in adjusted EBIT (10.1% as a percentage of revenues),
and € 186 million in free cash flow.
The Group benefited from the grants and subsidies
made available by the various governments and other
public-sector entities in the wake of the adverse

economic conditions caused by the pandemic to
support employment. These mainly referred to labour
cost subsidies and measures to support the business,
amounting to € 9.4 million recognised through profit or
loss at the Group level. Other measures to reduce labour
costs generated € 2.3 million in savings, while the impact
of the reduction in operating costs, such as travel and
lease payments, totalled € 12 million.
On the other hand, the Group incurred a series of
additional costs, amounting to € 4.9 million, that were
directly attributable to the Covid-19 emergency and
mainly concerned the purchase of personal protective
equipment for employees, deep cleaning costs, health
consulting services for testing and monitoring, and the
costs of cancelling scheduled events and activities as well
as the costs of ad hoc ads/communications relating to the
consequences of the pandemic.
The following table summarises and shows the main impacts
on profit or loss and cash flows of the grants and subsidies
received, the other cost-cutting measures specifically
implemented by the company in response to the Covid-19
emergency, and the additional costs directly attributable to
the Covid-19 emergency, broken down by type:

This “Directors’ Report” contains some summary data
compliant with international accounting standards (IFRS),
even if not required by the same.
This data is provided in order to allow for a better

INCOME
STATEMENT (*)

STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (**)

9,377

9,808

168

2,516

GRANTS RECEIVED/SAVINGS AND COSTS INCURRED
Grants received from governments and other public-sector entities
On labour costs
Tax credits, other tax and social security payment holidays and deferrals

-

1,878

Other measures to reduce labour costs
Impact of measures to reduce operating costs
Costs directly related to Covid-19

2,334
11,968
-4,853

2,334
11,968
-4,853

Total

18,994

21,773

RECLASSIFICATIONS

IFRS RECONCILIATION

Revenue
Adjusted EBITDA
EBITDA
Adjusted EBIT
EBIT
EBT
Net result

Revenue
Operating profit + Amortisation + Special Items (*)
Operating profit + Amortisation
Operating profit + Special Items (*)
Operating profit
Profit before tax
Net result

(*): income from non-recurring events or transactions, restructuring or employment termination agreements, other events not representative
of normal business operations.

RECLASSIFICATIONS

IFRS RECONCILIATION

Trade receivables
Inventories
Trade payables
Net working capital

Trade receivables
Inventories
Trade payables

Fixed assets
Other net assets/liabilities
Total capital employed

Intangible assets + Tangible assets + Investments in associates
Other residual assets/liabilities items

Net financial position

+ Non-current financial liabilities
+ Non-current loans
+ Current financial liabilities
+ Current loans
– Current and non-current financial assets
– Cash and cash equivalents
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent

(*) sign '+' lower cost; '-' higher cost
(**) sign '+' cash in

Equity
More generally, the Covid-19 emergency represents
an impairment indicator and requires assessing the
company's ability to continue as a going concern.
As required by IAS 36, the Group assessed the potential
impacts on the recoverability of the amounts accounted
for as goodwill, other intangible assets, and property,
plant and equipment. Sensitivity analyses were conducted
on the basis of assumptions that, based on a scenario
analysis, conservatively considered a delay in the
achievement of the objectives of the medium-term plan
previously approved by management and the Board of
Directors. The discount rate (WACC) was determined by
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assessment of the operating performance of the Group,
but it is not to be considered as an alternative to the data
required in IFRS.
Specifically, the operating data were reclassified as follows:

The equity and financial data are instead reclassified in accordance with the following model:

COVID-19 IMPACT - YEAR 2020
(in thousand €)

- including Timing differences with 2021 impact

RECLASSIFICATIONS
AND ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

considering different levels of risk, each with a different
probability of occurrence. This exercise, which was
completed by conducting sensitivity analyses of the
margin and fixed cost structure, allowed confirming that
the carrying amounts of fixed assets were lower than their
recoverable amounts — and that, therefore, the Covid-19
emergency did not require writing down the underlying
assets.
Finally, as all other operating and financial indicators for
the year 2020 show, management believes there is no
impact on the going concern assumption resulting from
the uncertainty caused by Covid-19.

Total equity
and financial liabilities

The reclassifications, in addition to the conventional financial indicators required in IFRS, present some
complementary performance indicators in order to allow for a better assessment of the operating and financial
performance. In particular:
EBITDA/Adjusted EBITDA - EBIT/Adjusted EBIT - These are measures of operational profitability and are used by
Ariston Thermo to define and evaluate its operational performance targets.
Net Financial Position - This indicator shows the capacity to support financial obligations, such as gross financial
debt after deducting cash and cash equivalents, and other current and non-current financial assets.
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OPERATING RESULTS

whereas certain markets in North-Western Europe
reported a contraction in condensing gas solutions.

The following table presents the Group’s main financial performance indicators for 2020, with a comparison to
the previous year.
SUMMARY OF
OPERATING RESULTS

2020

▲ 2020 - 2019

2019

(mln €)

Revenue

1,664

100.0%

1,710

100.0%

-46

-2.7%

Adjusted EBITDA

244

14.7%

223

13.0%

21

1.6%

EBITDA

227

13.6%

209

12.2%

18

1.4%

Adjusted EBIT

169

10.1%

149

8.7%

20

1.4%

EBIT

149

9.0%

134

7.9%

15

1.1%

EBT

132

7.9%

126

7.4%

6

0.6%

Net result

97

5.8%

89

5.2%

8

0.6%

PROFITABILITY
RATIOS (*)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

590

689

21.7%

17.3%

28.6%

22.3%

25.3%

20.2%

10.1%

8.7%

9.0%

7.9%

EMPLOYED CAPITAL (mln €)
ROE
(Net result / Equity)

Adjusted ROI
(EBIT Adjusted/Net Invested Capital)

ROI
(EBIT / Net Invested Capital)

Adjusted ROS
(EBIT Adjusted/Revenue)

ROS
(EBIT / Revenue)

The domestic water heating business division reported
declines in the Middle East and Africa, whereas the
recovery continued in Russia even though the rouble
depreciated steadily.
The Burners division declined during the period despite
the steady improvement in the second half of the year,
during which it clawed back some of the ground lost in the
first six months of 2020.
The Components division showed a similar trend, as
performance suffered from the generalised slump in
demand resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic, especially
in the professional channel.
At 31 December 2020, Adjusted EBITDA totalled € 244
million, 14.7% as a percentage of revenues, compared to
€ 223 million and 13.0% in 2019 — the best performance
on record in both absolute terms and as a percentage of
turnover. Profit margins rose steadily thanks to a series
of factors such as the positive contribution of efficiency
gains in procurement and industrial processes, the
containment of overall costs, and the ability to maintain
a positive price-mix in the face of shrinking volumes.
The special items for the period (income from nonrecurring events or transactions, restructuring or
employment termination agreements, other events not
representative of normal business operations) amounted
to € 17.2 million and were mainly associated with ongoing
corporate restructuring efforts and non-recurring costs
resulting from Covid-19. They had been lower in the
prior-year period (€ 14.2 million) in the absence of Covid-19
impacts.

EBITDA amounted to € 227 million, i.e. 13.6% as a
percentage of turnover, compared to € 209 million and
12.2% in 2019
The Group delivered also its highest Adjusted EBIT ever
in both absolute terms and as a percentage of turnover,
amounting to € 169 million (10.1% of turnover) at 31
December 2020, compared to € 149 million (8.7% of
turnover) in 2019. The result was affected by the slight
increase in depreciation and amortisation expense for the
period.
The EBIT for the period amounted to € 149 million, i.e. 9.0%
as a percentage of turnover, compared to € 134 million
in 2019. The special items relevant only to EBIT included
the amortisation of intangibles arising from the 2019
acquisition of the Calorex Group, totalling € 2.4 million for
the period.
Overall, the Group reported € 15.8 million in financial
charges, with a € 2.1 million decline compared to the prior
year. This was driven largely by adverse exchange rate
movements, which resulted in foreign exchange losses
totalling € 3.5 million.
Therefore, the Group's operations generated € 132 million
in EBT, i.e. 7.9% as a percentage of turnover, compared to
€ 126 million and 7.4% in December 2019.
Excluding € 35.2 million in charges relating to direct and
deferred taxation, with a tax rate of 26.7%, the Group
posted € 97 million Net Profit, amounting to 5.8% as a
proportion of revenues — up significantly compared to €
89 million (5.2% of revenues) in the prior year.

* Rolling last 12 months/balance at year-end; changes in scope normalised for the full year.

( )

Ariston Thermo Group ended 2020 with € 1,664 million
in consolidated Revenues, down € 46 million and -2.7%
from € 1,710 million in 2019. The decline in organic sales,
adjusting for the expanded scope of consolidation
following the acquisition of the Calorex Group and
Kesselheld GmbH effective May 2019 and April 2020,
respectively, and the effect of exchange rates, amounted
to € 64 million (-3.7%).
Throughout 2020, the trend in sales was closely related
to the Covid-19 health emergency, whose impact started
becoming apparent in March and then peaked early in
the second quarter following the severe lockdowns
introduced in almost all the Group's main markets,
bringing a consolidated and continued growth trend in
revenues to a halt. In the following months, however, as
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said measures were gradually eased, sales showed signs
of an increasingly robust recovery driven by European
markets that even exceeded initial expectations, allowing
to move away from a double-digit contraction at the
beginning of the pandemic to a -2.7% decline for the full
year.
The “Thermal Comfort” division stood out for the strong
recovery of European markets in the second half of 2020
and the year-on-year growth in overall turnover in key
markets such as Italy, Germany, Romania and Poland — as
well as water heaters and renewables in the Elco area.
More specifically, the space heating segment saw
steady growth in Eastern Europe and Canada as well as
Switzerland and the domestic Italian market, especially
with respect to renewable energy heat pump solutions,
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
The following table contains a summary of the financial position at year-end.

NET WORKING CAPITAL TREND
% On net turnover

FINANCIAL POSITION
(mln €))

31 DEC.
2020

31 DEC.
2019

%

Trade receivables

228

38.6%

238

34.5%

Inventories

265

45.0%

276

40.0%

Trade payables

-364

-61.7%

-331

-48.1%

Net working capital

129

21.9%

182

26.4%

7.8%

Net fixed assets

733

124.2%

781

113.3%

Other net assets /liabilities

-272

-46.1%

-274

-39.8%

Total capital employed

590

100.0%

689

100.0%

Net financial position

144

24.3%

167

24.2%

Total shareholders’ equity

447

75.7%

522

75.8%

Total financing sources

590

100.0%

689

100.0%

10.5%

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

0.76

0.76

DSO
(Days Sales Outstanding – going back)

42

47

DPO
(Days Payables Outstanding – going back)

95

93

Gearing
(Net equity/Net employed capital)

At 31 December 2020, Ariston Thermo Group reported
€ 590 million in net invested capital, down from € 689
million in December 2019 largely because of the decrease
in net working capital and the translation of assets in
local currency following the generalised and strong
appreciation in the euro against the Group's main reporting
currencies. The gearing ratio was unchanged year-on-year,
staying firmly below 1 and coming in at 76%.
At 31 December 2020, Net Working Capital totalled € 129
million, i.e. 7.8% as a proportion of rolling turnover, compared
to € 182 million at the end of December 2019, and 10.5% as
a percentage of turnover. The decline in working capital,
which fell to one of the lowest levels in the Group's history,
was the result of a very strong focus on the policies for
managing collections and payments as well as liquidity

15,0 %

13.5%

135

177

200
182

171
124

10,0 %

9.4%

%

% on rolling turnover

FINANCIAL POSITION RATIOS

NWC

%

120
9.0%

116
8.5%

115

7.9%

124
10.9%
8.6%

129

150

10.5%
100

8.3%

mln
€

7.8%

5,0 %
50

0,0 %
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

At 31 December 2020, Net Fixed Assets came in at € 733
million, down from € 781 million in the prior year largely
because of a negative foreign currency translation effect.

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

0

Other Net Assets/Liabilities recorded a negative balance
of € 272 million, down € 2 million compared with the
previous year.

more generally, but also of the unusual seasonality of
purchases, which were more concentrated in the second
half of the year, and a negative foreign currency translation
effect for the period.
Trade receivables totalled € 228 million and 13.7% as a
percentage of turnover, compared to € 238 million and
13.6% in 2019, with 42 and 47 days sales outstanding,
respectively. Inventories amounted to € 265 million and
15.9%, compared to 15.8% in December 2019.
Trade payables increased to € 364 million, i.e. 21.9% as a
proportion of revenues, compared to € 331 million and
19.0% in 2019. Days sales outstanding rose from 93 to 95
days year-on-year as a result of the careful management
of procurement contracts and the relevant terms and
conditions.
ELCO TRIGON® XL
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CASH FLOWS PER TYPE OF ACTIVITY (mln €)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

INITIAL NET FINANCIAL POSITION

-167

-99

Direct cash flows EBITDA

227

209

Cash flows from investment activities and capex (*)

-41

-98

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(FREE CASH FLOW)

186

111

Cash flows from financial investments

-27

-149

Cash flows from financing activities

-136

-30

23

-68

-144

-167

TOTAL CASH FLOW
END NET FINANCIAL POSITION

* Including change in working capital, provisions, financial charges and taxes.
The 2019 amounts were restated to account for the reclassifications relating to IFRS16.
( )

At 31 December 2020, the Net Financial Position was
negative € 144 million, an improvement compared to
negative € 167 million in December 2019 despite the
special dividend payout to shareholders. The increase in
cash flows used by the Group was exclusively attributable
to the outflows associated with the extraordinary
dividend, whereas cash flows from operating activities
were up sharply year-on-year.
The Group reported +€ 186 million in free cash flow at 31
December 2020, compared to +€ 111 million at the end
of 2019. The increase was driven both by the greater
contribution from the EBITDA for the period (+€ 18 million)
and the significant contraction in working capital, which
generated approximately € 36 million in free cash flow.

Cash flows used in “investing activities” reflected the
outflow for the payment of certain tranches of put and
call options, mainly Ariston Thermo USA (formerly HTP)
and NY Thermal, the acquisition of Kesselheld GmbH, and
some minor acquisitions relating to the Elco service in
Switzerland. At 31 December 2020, consolidated Equity
was € 447 million compared to € 522 million at the start
of the period. The overall € 76 million decline was all but
due to the positive contribution from the net profit for
the period, totalling € 97 million, less the € 128.6 million
dividend payout and the € 40.2 million exchange rate
effect for the translation of the equity of the scope of
consolidation under IAS 21 - Effects of Changes in Foreign
Exchange Rates.

RECONCILIATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS WITH THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF THE PARENT COMPANY
The reconciliation of the profit for the year and the equity attributable to owners of the Parent with the corresponding
figures in the financial statements of the Parent Company is included in the Notes to the consolidated financial
statements for a better understanding of the financial statements prepared in compliance with IFRS.

HUMAN RESOURCES
At 31 December 2020, the Group’s workforce decreased from 7,519 at 31 December 2019 to 7,415. The net decline of 104 in
the headcount compared to the prior year was associated with the restructuring of the workforce at some of the Group's
production sites as well as the streamlining of structures.
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INVESTMENTS, NEW PRODUCTS,
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
During the period ended 31 December 2020, industrial
and technical investments amounted to € 44.5 million,
compared to € 51 million recorded in the same period of
the previous year.
Said investments were focused on upgrading and
replacing manufacturing equipment at the end of its
useful life as well as new production lines, platforms for
new products, and the continued industrialisation of the
historic production site in Albacina.
As for investments in research and development,
following is a description of the main activities carried
out and the new products launched in all product
categories.
In the domestic water heating business, with respect
to electric storage products, in February 2020 Ariston
launched Andris2 in Indonesia, a new platform for smallcapacity electric storage water heaters featuring new
technological solutions such as Wi-Fi, titanium heating
elements that come with a lifetime warranty, and
automatic temperature control to always have the right
amount of hot water, optimising consumption.
April saw the launch of the new ESWH (electric storage
water heater) product range in China, featuring cleanline technology that allows removing chlorine and heavy
metals from water. By combining this with the Ag+
antibacterial function, Ariston can provide customers
with cleaner water, delivering the highest comfort
possible.
A new Slim product, Vitaly, was launched under the
Ariston brand in Vietnam. It sports a basic look and is easy
to use, allowing to differentiate and expand Ariston's
offering at the entry point of the market.
In Europe, Ariston launched new Velis models featuring
new dry heating technology.
This replaces the traditional heating elements not
in contact with water, allowing to avoid emptying
the water heater when repairing/replacing a heating
element.

new markets such as Mexico, South Africa, Vietnam, and
Singapore.
With respect to gas storage products, in 2020 the Group
launched a new open chamber forced flue product range
under the American Standard brand in the US, featuring 2
capacities (40 and 50 gallons) and 2 different diameters.
The new water heaters meet the minimum Energy Star®
requirements as well as the US Low NOx standard.
During the same period, the Group filled out the
European range of ErP '18-standard compliant Low NOx
gas storage water heaters with wall-hung (80-100 litres)
and floor-standing (160-200 litres) sealed chamber
forced flue products.
As for instantaneous gas products, in 2020 the Group
launched new solutions to round out the product range
in Russia, China, and India.
With respect to domestic water heat pumps, the
third quarter of 2020 saw the launch of Nuos Extra in
Switzerland, allowing to produce hot water in collective
or condo applications. The offering combines a singleblock heat pump designed for outdoor installation with 3
different storage capacities (600, 800, 1000 litres).
In the final quarter of 2020, the Group launched the
evolution of Nuos Plus, a single-block floor-standing
heat pump water heater available in 200, 250, and
250 litre versions, with either single- or dual-coil
systems. The new range boasts high energy efficiency
and the fastest heating time in the market. It features
new electronic self-learning and hourly scheduling
functionality as well as Wi-Fi connectivity, and it is
compatible with the Bus Bridge Net standard for the
installation of other Ariston heat generators.
In the space heating sector, and specifically the
commercial segment, in 2020 the focus was on the
finalisation and launch of the “WHBC” project, one of
the main innovations on which the company has been
working on in recent years.

In the first half of 2020, in order to benefit from the
growth of electric water heaters in Mexico, Calorex
launched the first products of the Ariston Thermo range,
including storage systems (Velis Evo, Andris Lux, Pro R) as
well as instantaneous solutions (Aures Slim, Aures Multi,
and Aures Pro) custom-tailored to the local market.

This is a new platform for both wall-hung and floorstanding commercial condensing gas boilers that offer
world-class efficiency and emissions performance and
represent the state of the art in terms of modulation,
power/size ratio, and the accessory range to ensure ease
of use and installation. It sets a new standard for the
market.

As for instantaneous electric water heaters, in 2020
the Group continued introducing the Aures range in

The product range will launch in Germany, Italy, the
United Kingdom, and the Netherlands, as well as Belgium,
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Russia, Poland, Hungary and Romania under the Elco
brand.
The Premium segment of the air-to-water heat pump for
indoor installation sector was bolstered with the launch
of two new products that refreshed and expanded the
platform's offering.
September saw the launch of the new Elco-branded
Aerotop S, which overhauled the existing platform of
ducted machines for domestic applications (from 5 to 15
kW).
The refresh of the Aerotop S range has led to the
introduction of the latest electronic platforms, inverters
and components, which helped improve the quality and
performance. A new model with a divisible structure
has been designed to address installation challenges,
allowing to divide the product into two parts to make it
easier to transport inside the installation site.
The use of a ducted solution, combined with the
insulation of the installation site, allows for a particularly
quiet solution both outside and inside the house.
The smaller sizes of this platform (up to 9 kW) were
designed with the requirements of new houses in
mind and optimised to also provide cooling during the
summer.
With respect to Premium heat pumps for outdoor
installation, between 2020 and 2021 the Group launched
the Aerotop G 8.2 model on the market, which allows
expanding the range of applications to include also
solutions requiring lower thermal power, as in the case of
new constructions.
This new model offers the opportunity to control the
device remotely within the house, streamlining the
product's installation, and generates less noise, allowing
to install it even where thresholds are stricter.
As for Mainstream heat pumps, the Group completed
several projects aimed at optimising the solutions on the
market, especially in Italy.
With respect to electric heat pumps of the Pacman 3
series, the team made a major effort to strengthen the
unit's documentation so as to support the Italy market
in maximising the incentives available under the new
Superbonus scheme.
As for hybrid systems, the Group validated new
combinations of heat pumps and boilers that made the
product range significantly more flexible, thus better
meeting market needs and allowing the Customer to
seize the opportunities available under the Superbonus
110% incentive scheme.
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To support the growth in heat pump volumes in Europe,
in 2020 the Group introduced two new ranges of fan coil
units: these new products meet the market's need for an
expanded offering that includes also terminals, allowing
to bolster the commercial offering of “systems” and
thus strengthen the brand's image as an HHP specialist.
In Italy, Spain, Portugal and the Balkans, the Group
launched two new wall-hung and floor-standing ranges
of fan coil units under the Ariston and Chaffoteaux
brands. A third model is scheduled to launch in 2021: the
ducted fan coil, which will be particularly interesting for
the Spain and Portugal markets.
As for the residential segment, between August and
September 2020 Ariston Thermo completed the launch
of the new NTI- and HTP- branded product ranges in
the US and Canada that had begun in 2019 with the first
products of the TRX and ELU series. These are water-tube
and fire-tube condensing boilers rated between 24 and
60 kW. By meeting the technical specifications of the
North American market, these products, made at the NTI
plant in Canada, complete the refresh of the NTI and HTP
residential product ranges, combining high performance
with a competitive price. The project benefited from
Ariston Thermo's state-of-the-art production process
for condensing boilers — the result of the consolidated
experience of the Italian and North American team.
With respect to connected services, 2020 saw the
launch of the new heating App under the Ariston,
Chaffoteaux, Elco, and Atag brands, with an overhauled
user interface that delivers an even simpler and more
intuitive user experience. The new App is both “Easy
by default”, making key information about the product
easily available, and “Powerful on demand”, granting
access to a series of advanced functions such as smart
scheduling based on artificial intelligence and a greater
customisation of the services.
The launch of the new App was supported by the
creation of a new and powerful key visual, which puts
Ariston Thermo's connected services at the centre of the
Smart Home global megatrend, emphasising the ideas
of convenience and making life simpler for both end
customers and professionals.
In light of the renewed focus on home security, the
remote support service made available to consumers
was key in providing support remotely, limiting the need
to dispatch technicians.
As for the Burners division, in 2020 R&D efforts were
focused on the laboratory in Resana to finalise the EKTRON FGR Ultra Low NOx project for boilers from 2 to 6
t/h for the Chinese market, as well as adapt the Max Gas
range up to 500 kW to the Chinese market—associated

with light-process applications. In addition, development
continued on burners for OEM customers for domestic
and light-process applications.
The R&D centre in Pirna, for Elco-branded solutions,
continued developing the technology to reduce NOx
emissions below 50 mg/kWh and the project to lower
the costs of RPD duoblock high-power burners with the

aim of making them more competitive, especially in the
Chinese market.
Finally, in 2020 the R&D department of the Components
division focused on developing a new range of heating
elements for heating applications as well as innovative
temperature control electronics for water heating
applications.

MAIN NON RECURRING TRANSACTIONS
On 17 April 2020, the Group finalised the acquisition of a
controlling interest in Kesselheld GmbH, which operates in
the service business in Germany.
In addition, during the year the Group reorganised and
streamlined its corporate structure by turning the parent
into a holding company that exclusively manages and
coordinates its investees. The operational and industrial
business unit previously under the charge of the parent
was transferred to a new entity, wholly owned by the
transferor, named Ariston Thermo Italia SpA. The transfer
became effective for accounting and tax purposes on 1
October 2020, and the transferor changed its name into

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA effective as of the same date.
Considering the constant and relentless improvement
in all the financial indicators of the Ariston Thermo
Group over the years, and, specifically, the steady and
consolidated growth in both revenues and profit margins
as well as continued free cash flow generation year
after year — including in adverse business cycles and
even in the current year, despite the pandemic — at the
meeting held on 5 November 2020, the parent's Board of
Directors approved a proposal for a special dividend of
€ 100.2 million. This was subsequently approved by the
Shareholders’ Meeting and paid out in December.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
AND BUSINESS OUTLOOK
No significant events occurred after the reporting period.

resolution to the pandemic on a global scale.

The global pandemic that broke out in early 2020 and
continues to this day has dramatically affected not
only the global macroeconomic and social scenario,
but also the behaviours, habits, and propensity to buy
of consumers in each sectors, causing a widespread
paradigm shift that gives rise to continued uncertainty
and vagueness as to not only future macroeconomic
growth forecasts and the time it will take to fully recovery
from the pandemic, but also post-pandemic economicsocial interactions. Today, the situation is significantly
better than last year: the now widespread use of
vaccines and the improved ability to prevent, contain and
treat Covid-19 certainly bode well for a rapid and final

As its 2020 results have decisively shown, the company
is confident it can keep operating despite the lingering
uncertainty to the best of its ability, continuing above all
else to protect the health of its employees and partners
and ensure the continuity of its services to customers.
The industry's resilience, alongside the company's
focus on sustainable and high-efficiency solutions
and products — whose acceleration perfectly fits the
times we are living in — its geographic diversification,
and strong emphasis on continued efficiency, allow us
to remain confident that we will achieve our strategic
profitable growth and free cash flow objectives under our
medium/long-term plans.
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MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES TO WHICH ARISTON
THERMO GROUP IS EXPOSED AND GOVERNANCE SYSTEM
THE GOVERNANCE SYSTEM
Effective risk management, integrated into the
governance system, is a key factor to protecting the
Group’s value over time. The Group’s Internal Control
System has therefore been gradually developed, drawing
inspiration from, among other sources, the principles laid
down in Article 6 of the Corporate Governance Code for
Listed Companies approved by the Corporate Governance
Committee in January 2020, to the extent applicable.
The corporate organisation consists of management
committees and/or internal committees within the Board
of Directors of Ariston Thermo Holding SpA, organised as
follows:

BOARD COMMITTEES
• The Strategic Committee, which shall support the Board
of Directors in setting guidelines concerning business
strategies, models and decisions regarding the Group’s
footprint and industrial operations, marketing models,
organisational recommendations and operational criteria,
as well as explore potential integrative or transformative
inorganic growth opportunities.
• The Human Resources and Remuneration Committee,
which shall support the Board of Directors in assessing
the adequacy of the organisation as well as management's
growth plans, identifying and recommending potential
organisational changes to make the organisational
structure more efficient and effective; with respect to
remuneration, submit proposals to the Board on the
remuneration policy for Directors and key management
personnel and examine the proposals of the Executive
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in this regard,
make proposals on the remuneration of the Executive
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer as well as the
performance targets for variable pay, verifying every
year whether these have been met; regularly assess the
overall adequacy and consistency, as well as the actual
implementation, of the remuneration policy.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEES
• The Internal Audit Committee, which shall examine
Internal Audit reports and the state of the art with respect
to business remediation plans on issues associated with
the assessment and improvement of the internal control
system. The Committee also validates the annual audit
plan — ensuring it is implemented — and is briefed on
the annual audit report, which the Chief Audit Executive
presents at a meeting of the Board of Directors.
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• The Finance Committee, which shall analyse problems
bearing on the Group’s finances and set the policies for
managing the related issues.
The Executive Chairman and/or CEO, in addition to other
members of the Board of Directors of Ariston Thermo
Holding SpA and/or the Group’s management, participate
in each committee.
Business risks are monitored with at least monthly
frequency through management meetings during
which results, opportunities and risks are analysed for
all business segments and geographical areas in which
the Group operates. The measures deemed necessary to
mitigate the risks identified are also determined in this
venue.
The Internal Audit Function shall pursue, among
others, the goal of assessing the adequacy of, and
propose improvements to, the control system by
providing independent and objective assurance and risk
assessments. The annual audit plan and any mitigation
plans issued in coordination with the head of business
functions are the tools through which the Internal Audit
function operates. The function interacts with the Board
of Directors, the Internal Audit Committee, the Board of
Statutory Auditors, the Supervisory Body of the Parent
Company and the Italian associates with respect to the
risks associated with the requirements as per Italian
Legislative Decree 231/2001, independent auditors in
order to exchange information, and the business functions
themselves.
In addition, the Parent Company and all the Group’s Italian
subsidiaries complied with the requirements in Italian
Legislative Decree 231/2001, appointing a Supervisory
Body composed of three members, with an external Chair,
as well as adopted an Organisation and Management
Model that is constantly updated, complying with its
procedures and ensuring the information flows required
to effectively implement it. At the meeting held on 5
November 2020, the Board of Directors approved version
number 12 of Ariston Thermo Holding SpA's Organisation
and Management Model, updating the Model to reflect the
relevant regulatory and organisational changes occurred
since version number 11 was approved on 7 November
2019. The Supervisory Body reports annually to the
Board of Directors, to which it submits any critical issues
identified, and it also constantly monitors problems until
they have been completely resolved.

MAIN RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The types of risks identified for Ariston Thermo Group,
whose profile has not changed substantially compared to
previous years, are as follows:
A) Strategic risks
B) Operational and compliance risks
C) Financial risks
The following is a summary of the main risks and
uncertainties to which the Group is exposed, classified
by type. The order in which they have been listed is
not intended to imply significance, either in terms of
probability of occurrence or potential impact.
The parent company, Ariston Thermo Holding SpA is
exposed — both directly, as manufacturer, distributor and
exporter, and indirectly as Parent Company — to the same
risks and uncertainties described in reference to
the Group.
A) Strategic risks
Risks relating to the Group’s ability to expand its product
line and to offer innovative products compliant with
regulatory requirements
Such risks are primarily related to technological
development, i.e. the development of technologically
superior products by competitors based on innovative
technologies.
The Group’s success depends on, among other factors,
its ability to maintain or increase its share of the markets
on which it operates and to expand into new markets
through innovative, high-quality products that ensure
adequate profitability levels.
The increasing demand for integrated climate control
systems, above all in countries with the greatest
ecological and environmental sensibilities, and legal
constraints relating to efficiency necessitate constant
expansion of the product range, in particular to include
greater use of renewable energy sources.
The risk relating to the ability to offer innovative
products compliant with evolving regulations cannot be
eliminated, but Ariston Thermo manages it by constantly
investing in research and development efforts, which
cover both existing and newly applied technologies, and
by constantly updating its product line, accompanied by
accessories and replacement parts (on this subject, see
also the previous section “Investments, new products,
Research and Development”).
Risks relating to the conditions of the economies and
sectors in which the Group operates
The sector in which Group companies operate is sensitive
to economic cycles, whose trends are inevitably reflected
in the heating and water heating business and demand

for heating systems. Ariston Thermo also derives most
of its turnover from mature markets in Europe subject
to gradual concentration, where demand is primarily for
replacements, and thus related to the age of existing
devices, as well as household economic resources, which
steer the decision to repair or replace a device.
In order to manage the risk relating to the concentration
and saturation of the segments and markets in which
it operates, the Group has specialist functions with the
ability to analyse current developments and has launched
a strategy of growth and geographical diversification,
with a particular focus on geographical areas with the
highest growth rates and in which first installation
is the most common scenario. Potential difficulties
in mature markets can primarily affect the margins
on technologically advanced products, whereas in
geographical areas of interest for diversification purposes
they would affect volumes and margins on lower-end
products.
In addition, investments in new areas are particularly
exposed to the risk of significant changes in
macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions, in
addition to being influenced by possible substantive
unforeseen changes in the local legislative scenario: such
developments may result in change, including significant
change, compared to the conditions in place when the
investment decision was made.
B) Operational and compliance risks
Risks relating to environmental legislation and
governmental measures in general
At the national and supranational level, the Group’s
products are subject to environmental laws and
regulations concerning, for example, atmospheric
gas emissions and the objective of reducing energy
consumption. Legal and regulatory developments have
significant impacts on the definition of the product
range, production planning (in terms of both the time
required to apply the requested design changes and
the product mix and production cycles), but also on
management of the inventory of products in the phase-in
and phase-out process, as well as on total average sales
margins. In order to mitigate this risk, the Certification &
Regulation function examines technical product standards
and ensures production fully complies with the laws
applicable in the various countries, and each function
constantly monitors legal and regulatory developments
within its purview and works with the other functions
and the Group's Management to determine the operating
strategy and the most appropriate actions to be taken.
Any governmental initiatives aimed at stimulating or
steering consumer demand, for example, in the form of
incentives for the purchase of certain products, may also
affect the Group’s revenue performance.
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Risks relating to product quality and liability
At the level of quality standards, the Group is subject to
the laws and regulations in force in the various countries
in which its products are marketed. Such laws and
regulations normally entail the assumption of typical
manufacturer’s liability for damages caused by defective
products.
The Group manages the related risks by systematically
pursuing the goal of maximum product quality and
safety, through the use of specialist functions charged
with studying technical product legislation, drafting
and implementing structured, standardised quality
procedures and controls that extend to the selection
of suppliers, to production lines and management of
possible crisis situations according to protocols compliant
with European regulations. It also undertakes adequate
investments to ensure the development of safe products
compliant with applicable legislation, in keeping with the
pursuit of excellence. In addition, the Group also carries
extensive product liability insurance cover, which is
deemed adequate to its risks.
Despite the breadth and depth of the safeguards
implemented, it is not possible to exclude manufacturing
defects or insufficient insurance cover in some
circumstances, resulting in possible damages or negative
consequences for the management and development of
the Group’s activities.
Risks relating to workplace health and safety issues
The Group is exposed to risks of insufficient protection
of the health and safety of its workers, which may take
the form of accidents and professional illnesses, or
of environmental pollution, relating, for example, to
uncontrolled emissions or inadequate waste disposal
activities.
The Group takes all measures required to allow it to
monitor and manage such risks as effectively as possible,
in full compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
In particular, Ariston Thermo conducts a systematic
assessment of its specific risks and then reduces and
eliminates those risks deemed unacceptable. In particular,
the Group subjects its Italian facilities to OHSAS 18001
certification (safety), with the resulting external
inspection and certification process, and to ISO 14001
certification (environment).

the Group has implemented rules and management
procedures, certified compliant with international
standards, that allow the number of such accidents and
their real impact to be kept to a minimum. Since 2011, the
Group also adopted World Class Manufacturing methods
that make workplace safety one of the key indicators in
the assessment of each production facility.
Risks relating to the performance of raw material prices
and supply arrangements
The risk relating to raw materials, and in particular
steel, non-ferrous and precious metals, takes the form
of price volatility. The Group manages its exposure to
the risk of such fluctuation both by including in supply
contracts suitable mechanisms to establish prices and by
periodically fixing the price of raw materials for coming
months, and also by operating on the financial derivatives
markets within the limits envisaged by its hedging policy
(in this regard, see the paragraph “Commodity risk”, in the
section “Other information” of the “Notes”).

TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN GROUP COMPANIES
AND RELATED PARTIES
Transactions with subsidiaries, associated and related companies, as well as with the Parent Company Merloni Holding SpA,
concerning primarily business transactions and provision of services, at market prices, have been detailed in the Notes to
the financial statements.

TREASURY STOCKS AND INVESTMENTS
IN CONTROLLING COMPANIES
At 31 December 2020, the Parent Company held 13,451,850 treasury stocks, equal to 32.15% of the whole share capital,
while the parent Merloni Holding Spa and Amaranta Srl owned 59.71% and 8.14%, respectively.

The Group is also exposed to the risk of dependence on
certain suppliers, which could undermine the continuity
of the production process and the ability to fill orders
according to the agreed schedule, if arrangements with
such suppliers were to be interrupted unexpectedly. In
order to face this risk, the Group carefully selects and
diversifies its suppliers: the number of alternative sources
and the availability of potential substitutes, as far as
possible, also reduces the risk of an uncontrolled rise in
prices.
The risk of purchasing components with quality levels
below the Group’s standards has also been significantly
mitigated by a dedicated Suppliers Quality Assurance
function.
C) Financial risks
In the conduct of its business, the Group is exposed
to various financial and related risks (liquidity, foreign
exchange, interest, commodity and credit). For a more
thorough examination of the degree of exposure and
related management instruments, see the section “Other
information” of the Notes.

Specifically, during 2019 the Group adopted an additional
specific procedure to protect the health and safety of
employees working in foreign countries as well as manage
the various types of risks that may exist in different
countries, such as health risk, safety risk, and others.
Consequently, although the occurrence of accidents
cannot be categorically excluded, it is believed that
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OTHER INFORMATION
European Directives on the disposal of electrical and
electronic equipment and on the use of polluting items
In 2002, the European Union introduced regulation
2002/96/EC regarding the disposal of electrical and
electronic equipment (WEEE Directive) which sets
forth, at the European level, the responsibility of the
manufacturers as regards recovery, recycling and disposal
of products at the end of their useful life.
Ecodom is the non-profit consortium formed in 2006 by
Italy’s foremost home appliances manufacturers to ensure
collective compliance with regulatory obligations, and
Ariston Thermo SpA is one of the organisation’s founding
members. Ariston Thermo SpA, which has already
complied with the European Directives, has long adopted
product development and end-of-life management
policies for EEE aimed at protecting the environment.
In 2014, the process of transposing Directive 2012/19/
EU into Italian law was concluded by the publication of
Legislative Decree 49 of 14 March 2014, “Implementation
of Directive 2012/19/EU on electric and electronic device
waste” which establishes, among its other provisions,
ambitious new waste collection targets. Starting
from October 2020, the merger between Ecodom
and Remedia gave birth to Erion, one of Italy's largest
national consortia, which play a key role in the creation
and development of the Italian Waste from Electrical
and Electronic Equipment, Batteries, and Accumulators
industry.
Born from the experience of Ecodom and Remedia, Erion
represents the strategic evolution of both entities in
terms of operational structure, services for its members,
and commitment to the environment, the circular
economy, and technological research and development.
Erion is the first multi-consortium system that offers
manufacturers an all-round service for managing waste
from electronic products (domestic and professional
WEEE), batteries, but also — and this is a major addition —
packaging. The Erion System is comprised of four nonprofit consortia specialising in regulatory compliance
services, with specific expertise in different types of
waste that support Electrical and Electronic Equipment
Manufacturers. The four consortia are Erion WEEE, Erion
Professional, Erion Energy and Erion Packaging. Ariston
Thermo SpA is a founding member of Erion WEE and, as
such, has a seat on the Board of Directors. Erion provides
waste management and regulatory compliance services
to over 2,400 manufacturers of EEE, Batteries and
Accumulators across Italy.
In 2020, it handled 300,301 tonnes of waste, including
261,088 tonnes of domestic WEEE, 9,525 tonnes of
professional waste, and 29,688 tonnes of waste from
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batteries and accumulators, carrying out 119,682 missions
and generating € 82.3 million with an organisation of 48
employees. Erion was born at a historic moment: the
launch of Europe's strategic Green Deal, under which the
EU is committed to achieving carbon neutrality by 2050
through sustainable economic growth decoupled from
the use of natural resources. The goal is to accelerate
Europe's transition towards a regenerative growth model
that gives back the Planet more than it takes, reducing its
consumption footprint, the massive production of waste,
and the excessive use of virgin materials. The strategy
hinges on gradually moving away from the traditional
linear-economy paradigm of take-make-dispose that
industries and consumers apply to resources and goods,
respectively, and towards a true, strong circular economy.
The stages for implementing this economic and cultural
model are already set out in the New Circular Economy
Action Plan, a manifesto in which the European
Commission outlines measures aimed at raising public
awareness about purchasing durable goods, making
corporate production processes more sustainable, and
ensuring the ecodesign of products, including EEE,
batteries and packaging. 2020 was an unusual year
for collecting Waste from Equipment, but this did not
stop the collection of Waste from domestic Electrical
and Electronic Equipment: the data from the WEEE
Coordination Centre points to a +6.4% increase in the
final part of the year just ended. This allowed to exceed
365,000 tonnes, equal to 1 million kg per day — an
impressive achievement, considering the challenges
associated with the pandemic. The fourth quarter of 2020
was up over 9% compared with the last three months of
2019. Between October and December, Italy's South and
Islands stood out with a +17% rise in waste collected, with
a peak of +21% in the White Goods (R2) Group. Northern
and Central Italy also fared well, growing by 7% over 2019.

about 150 tonnes. The Collective Systems once again
operated at maximum efficiency in 2020, handling 201,131
collections across Italy, with an average of 564 missions
per day (ranging from 191 collections/day in April to 703
collections/day in June). The final quarter of 2020 saw a
year-on-year increase of 8.28% (4,117 more collections),
with a punctuality of 99.65%.
Accounting and administrative audit of the Company
With the corporate law reform, the functions of
administrative and accounting auditing of the parent
company Ariston Thermo Holding SpA have been
separated. The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible
for administrative auditing, which consists of monitoring
of compliance with the law and Articles of Association, the
principles of sound management and the adequacy of the

organisational, administrative and accounting structure.
Strictly accounting auditing has been assigned to the
independent auditors EY SpA for the years 2019, 2020 and
2021. EY SpA, which audited the separate and consolidated
financial statements of Ariston Thermo Holding SpA as
of and for the year ended 31 December 2020, directly
conducted a full audit of all Group companies, with the
sole exception of several minor companies of limited
significance, on which the audit work was done by other
auditors.
Group’s management and coordination activity
Ariston Thermo Holding SpA, in its capacity as Parent
Company, carries out the management and coordination
activities of all the Group’s companies.

11 March 2021
The Chairman
Paolo Merloni
This document has been digitally signed pursuant to Legislative Decree 85/2005 as subsequently
amended and related regulations, and replaces the paper document with hand signature.

The Group that climbed to the top spot in the ranking
of most collected WEEE was that of White Goods (R2),
up 11% in the final quarter of the year, followed by small
appliances and consumer electronics (R4) with +9%, TVs
and monitors (R3) with +8%, and refrigeration equipment
(R1), with +7%. Only light sources (R5) were down year-onyear, falling by 2%—although this was an improvement
compared to -5% in the previous quarter.
The R2 (White Goods) Group accounted for the lion's
share of the domestic WEEE handled by Erion WEEE in
2020, with 112,000 tonnes — 43% of the total. The R1
(Refrigeration and Climate Control) Group came in second
with 79,000 tonnes (30%), followed by R3 WEEE (TVs and
Monitors) with 44,000 tonnes (17%), R4 (Small Appliances)
with over 25,000 tonnes (10%), and R5 (light sources) with

47

CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

49

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (in thousand €)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (in thousand €)

			

notes

31 DEC. 20

.

31 DEC. 19

REVENUE
Revenue
Other revenues and income

1.1
1.1

1,663,971
27,876

100.0%
1.7%

1,710,153
21,893

100.0%
1.3%

Total Revenue

1.1

1,691,847

101.7%

1,732,046

101.3%

OPERATING EXPENSES
Change in inventories
Raw materials, consumables and goods for resale
Services
Personnel
Amortisation
Provisions and write-downs
Other operating expenses

1.2
1.2
1.3
1.4
2.1/2.2
1.5
1.6

-9,273
757,790
339,655
388,297
74,376
15,567
31,173

-0.5%
44.3%
19.9%
22.7%
4.3%
0.9%
1.8%

Total operating expenses		
1,542,763
92.7%
1,597,585

93.4%

OPERATING PROFIT		

-4,077
704,746
325,167
387,134
77,677
19,279
32,838

-0.2%
42.4%
19.5%
23.3%
4.7%
1.2%
2.0%

149,084

9.0%

134,461

7.9%

1.7
1.8
1.9

2,214
-14,599
-3,452

0.1%
-0.9%
-0.2%

3,701
-17,246
-156

0.2%
-1.0%
0.0%

Total financial Income and Expense		

-15,837

-1.0%

-13,701

-0.8%

PROFIT (LOSS) ON INVESTMENTS
Valuation according to the equity method		
Other profit (loss) on investments
1.10

0
-1,332

Total profit (loss) on investments

1.10

-1,332

-0.1%

5,040

0.3%

PROFIT BEFORE TAX		

131,915

7.9%

125,799

7.4%

FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSE
F inancial Income
Financial Expense
Exchange rate gains/losses

			

notes

NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement
Actuarial gains (losses) (*)

31 DEC. 20

31 DEC. 19

3.1

96,687

89,017

3.1

-1,933

-2,878

-1,933

-2,878

-40,221
113

1,884
1,304

Sub-total of Items that may be
reclassified to the income statement		
Total other gains (losses) net of taxes		

-40,108
-42,041

3,188
310

TOTAL PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD		

54,646

89,327

Attributable to:
- Equity holders of the Parent		
- Non-controlling Interests		

54,646
0

89,327
0

Sub-total of items that will not be reclassified
to the income statement		
Items that may be reclassified to the income statement
Gains (losses) from the translation of financial statements
3.1
Net gains (losses) under cash flow hedge reserve (*)
3.1

(*) Tax effect included

			
0.0%
0
0.0%
-0.1%
5,040
0.3%

TAXES

1.11

35,227

2.1%
36,782
2.2%
26.7%		29.2%
				
PROFIT (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS		
96,687
5.8%
89,017
5.2%
PROFIT (LOSS) FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

1.12

0

0.0%

0

0.0%

NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD		

96,687

5.8%

89,017

5.2%

3.1

0

0.0%

0

0.0%

3.1

96,687

5.8%

89,017

5.2%

3.41		

3.14

Net profit/loss for the period attributable
to non-controlling Interests
Net profit/loss for the period attributable
to equity holders of the Parent

Basic earnings per outstanding share		
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (in thousand €)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (in thousand €)

				

Assets

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets

notes		

31 DEC. 20

31 DEC. 19

2.1		 285,737
2.1		
105,698

299,932
111,422

2.1		

391,435

411,354

Property, plant and equipment		
Land and buildings
2.2		
Plant and machinery
2.2		
Other property, plant and equipment
2.2		

147,135
106,756
87,443

161,586
110,295
97,542

2.2		

341,333

369,424

Property investment			
Investments in associates
2.3		
Deferred tax assets
2.4		
Financial assets
2.5		
Non-current financial assets
2.6		
Other non-current assets
2.7		

0
0
58,304
3,878
5,127
7,795

0
0
50,107
3,371
3,516
6,208

Total non-current assets			

807,873

843,980

2.8		 265,490
2.9		
227,766
2.10		
12,121
2.11		
10,000
2.12		
37,087
2.13		
452,458

275,943
237,618
16,007
16,022
32,212
313,346

Total intangible assets

Total property, plant and equipment

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories
Trade receivables
Tax receivables
Current financial assets
Other current assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets			
ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
TOTAL ASSETS

1,004,922

891,148

304

377

		1,813,099

1,735,505

2.14		

			

notes

31 DEC. 20

31 DEC. 19

3.1
3.1
3.1

41,845
24,008
283,976

41,845
24,008
367,613

3.1

96,687

89,017

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent

3.1

446,517

522,483

Non-controlling interests and reserves
Profit/loss for the period attributable to
non-controlling interests
Total equity attributable to non-controlling interests

3.1
3.1

0
0

0
0

3.1

0

0

Total equity

3.1

446,517

522,483

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Deferred tax liabilities
Non-current provisions for risks and charges
Provisions for employee benefits
Non-current financial liabilities
Non-current loans
Other non-current liabilities

3.2
3.3
3.4
3.5
3.6
3.7

32,150
51,827
58,263
0
389,874
40,278

32,416
46,432
57,601
0
434,396
41,626

Total non-current liabilities		

572,392

612,471

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Tax payables
Current provisions for risks and charges
Current financial liabilities
Current loans
Other current liabilities

3.8
3.9
3.10
3.11
3.12
3.13

364,061
21,640
31,276
33,337
188,009
155,868

331,128
18,741
29,487
42,742
22,305
156,148

Total current liabilities		

794,190

600,550

3.14

0

0

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY		

1,813,099

1,735,505

TOTAL EQUITY
Share capital
Share premium reserve
Retained earnings and other reserves
Profit/loss for the period attributable
to equity holders of the Parent

LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (in thousand €)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (in thousand €)

		

notes 31 DEC. 20 31 DEC. 19

CHANGES IN SHORTTERM FINANCIAL POSITION

- SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL POSITION AT THE BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD		
		 Effect of changes in exchange rates		
		 Changes in short-term financial position		
- SHORT-TERM FINANCIAL POSITION AT THE END OF THE PERIOD		
of which:
		 * cash and cash equivalents
2.12
		 * short-term payables to banks		

295,786
-15,379
150,307
430,714

291,352
4,476
-1,251
295,786

452,458
-21,744

313,346
-17,560

3.1

96,687

89,017

1.11
1.8/1.9/1.10

35,227
17,169

36,782
8,662

OPERATING PROFIT
Amortisation
2.1/2.2
of which: Amortisation for right-of-use fixed assets		
Provisions
1.5
Other adjustments		
(+1+2+3+4)
GROSS OPERATING CASH FLOW

149,083
77,677
23,709
19,279
-206
245,833

134,461
74,376
22,702
21,326
0
230,163

Change in trade receivables
2.8
Change in inventories
2.7
Change in trade payables
3.8
Change in other short-term assets/liabilities		
Change in provisions		
Tax paid		
Total		
(+5+6+7+8+9+10+11)
12 = NET OPERATING CASH FLOW

-666
-3,299
40,216
5,934
-3,688
-32,967
5,530
251,362

-12,204
27,355
16,723
-2,389
-20,084
-45,803
-36,402
193,761

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
13 - Investments in intangible assets
2.1
14 - Investments in property, plant and equipment
2.2
		 of which: Investiments in right-of-use assets		
15 - Investments in financial assets		
16 - Change in the scope of consolidation		
17 - Value of tangible and intangible assets sold
2.1/2.2
(+13+14+15+16+17)
18 = CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

-13,813
-47,257
-16,559
-26,920
222
3,273
-84,495

-15,748
-68,463
-24,100
-144,326
4,400
1,890
-222,247

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
19 - Financial income/expense collected/paid		
		 dof which: Financial expense pursuant to IFRS16		
20 - Income/expense on exchange rate
1.9
21 - Increase/decrease in short-term financial payables
3.6/3.11
		 of which: Financial payables pursuant to IFRS16		
22 - New loans
3.6/3.11
		 of which: Financial payables pursuant to IFRS16		
23 - Loans repayment
3.6/3.11
		 of which: Financial payables pursuant to IFRS16		
24 - Dividends
3.1
25 - Capital and reserves increase/distribution		
26 - Other changes in equity		
27 - Buyback/sale of treasury shares
3.1
(+19 / +27)
28 = CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

-6,799
-1,500
-8
-4,747
-1,262
187,032
17,022
-63,394
-25,581
-128,644
0
0
0
-16,561

-5,103		
-1,810
-7,337
-2,388
-1,168
235,559
25,340
-162,705
-23,699
-30,790
0
0
0
27,235

29 = CASH FLOW FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

150,307

-1,251

0

0

150,307

-1,251

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
> NET PROFIT/LOSS FOR THE PERIOD
		 Adjustments for:
- Taxes
- Income and expense from financing and investment activities
1 2 		
3 4 5 =
6
7
8
9
10
11

-

(+12+18+28)

30 = C ASH FLOW FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS		
31 = TOTAL CASH FLOW
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(+29+30)

CHANGES IN
EQUITY
(in thousand €)

Notes

Share
capital

Treasury
shares

Share
premium
reserve

Legal
reserve

Reserve
for
gains/
losses in
equity

Actuarial
gains
(losses)

Retained
earnings
(losses)
and other
reserves

Profit/
Loss
for the
year

		

Total
Total
attributable attributo the
table
Group
to non
controlling
interests

Balance as at 31 Dec.2018 3.1
41,845 -13,452
-82,289
8,369
-2,548 -25,720 456,140
81,575 463,920
		
Consolidated
profit allocation								
81,575
-81,575
0
		
Payment
of dividends
3.1							 -30,813		 -30,813
		
Other changes								
49		
49
		
Comprehensive
income (loss)						
1,304
-2,878
1,884
89,017
89,327
		
Balance as at 31 Dec.2019

3.1

41,845 -13,452

-82,289

8,369

-1,244 -28,598 508,835

89,017

522,483

Total
net
equity

0

463,920

0

0

0

-30,813

0

49

0

89,327

0

522,483

Consolidated
profit allocation								
89,017 -89,017
0
0
0
												
												
Payment
of dividends
3.1							 -128,644		 -128,644
0 -128,644
												
												
Other changes								
-1,968		
-1,968
0
-1,968
												
												
Comprehensive
income (loss)						
113
-1,933 -40,221
96,687
54,646
0
54,646
Balance as at 31 Dec.2020 3.1
41,845 -13,452
-82,289
8,369
-1,131 -30,531 427,019
96,687 446,517
0
446,517
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NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
AS 31 DECEMBER 2020

INTRODUCTION
During the reporting period, following a partial nonproportional spin-off carried out by the Parent, effective 5
May 2020, Ariston Thermo SpA's ownership structure was
as follows: Amaranta Srl owns 8.14%, Merloni Holding SpA
owns 59.71%, and Ariston Thermo SpA owns 32.15% of the
company.
In addition, as part of a process to reorganise and
streamline the Group's corporate structure by turning the
Parent Company into a holding company that exclusively
manages and coordinates its investees, the operational and
industrial business unit previously under the charge of the
Parent Company was transferred to a new entity, wholly
owned by the transferor, named Ariston Thermo Italia SpA.
Said business unit consists of the assets, rights, liabilities,
employees, and contracts relating to the production
and marketing of goods, and includes the investments
in the companies Elco Italia SpA and Ariston Thermo
Innovative Technologies Srl, owned by the company at 31
December 2019, as well as the investment in AR 1 Srl, which
generates and sells electricity from renewable sources and
cogeneration.
The transfer became effective for accounting and tax
purposes on 1 October 2020, and the transferor changed
its name into Ariston Thermo Holding SpA effective as of
the same date.
The transaction did not affect the ownership structure
of Ariston Thermo Holding SpA, which changed on 5 May
2020.
Ariston Thermo Holding SpA (hereafter also the “Parent
Company”) is a public limited company incorporated in Italy
and enrolled in the Register of Companies of Ancona (no.
104629 R.E.A. of Ancona, Tax Code: 01026940427), with
registered office in V.le A. Merloni, 45 - 60044 Fabriano
(Ancona) – Italy.
The Parent Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter
the “subsidiaries” and jointly with the Parent Company:
the “Group”) are primarily active in the business of the
production and distribution of thermal comfort and,
therefore, water and space heating solutions.
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Following are the main accounting standards and
assessment criteria applied to the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. The standards adopted
are compliant with those applied to the preparation of the
comparative statements of equity and financial position.
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
following: statement of financial position, income
statement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity
(in thousand euro) and these notes to the financial
statements.
It should also be noted that the model adopted for the
statement of financial position contains a “current/noncurrent item” breakdown, whereas the model adopted for
the income statement classifies costs “by type”.
The statement of cash flows has been prepared using the
“indirect method” and shows the changes that occurred,
during the period, in the “short-term financial position”
which measures the cash and cash equivalents (shortterm and high liquidity financial investments promptly
convertible and not subject to the risk of change in value),
classifying the financial flows according to their origins,
from operating activities, investments or financing.
These financial statements have been prepared in euro,
the currency used in most of the Group’s transactions.
Transactions with foreign companies are included in the
consolidated financial statements in compliance with the
standards hereunder described.
The Consolidated Financial Statements as 31 December
2020 have been approved by the Board of Directors on
11 March 2021 and audited, and will be submitted to the
shareholders’ meeting.

INTERNATIONAL ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
COMPLIANCE WITH IFRS –
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in compliance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”), which include all International
Accounting Standards in force as well as all interpretations
provided by the IFRS Interpretation Committee
previously known as International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). Following the entry
into force of European Regulation no. 1606, dated July
2002, Ariston Thermo Group has used the option set
forth in Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28 February 2005
and has adopted the International Accounting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board
(IASB) and approved by the EU for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements starting from 1 January
2005.
The Parent Company prepares the separate financial
statements in compliance with the “accounting
standards” under art. 2423 bis, with the “assessment
criteria” under art. 2426 and with the provisions under art.
2424 et seq. of the Italian Civil Code, supplemented, where
applicable, by the accounting standards set forth by the
Italian National Council of Certified Accountants (Consiglio
Nazionale dei Dottori Commercialisti e degli Esperti
Contabili) and reviewed by the Italian Accounting Standard
Setter (Organismo Italiano di Contabilità).

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS,
AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS
APPROVED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION
APPLICABLE AS FROM 1 JANUARY 2020
In March 2018, the IASB issued the Amendments to
References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS
Standards. These amendments set out definitions and
clarify important concepts. The main changes include:
attaching more importance to managing economic
resources for financial reporting purposes; restoring
prudence as an element that supports neutrality; defining
the reporting entity, which may be a legal entity or a
portion of such entity; revising the definitions of asset
and liability; eliminating the probability threshold for
recognition and stating that profit or loss is the main
indicator of performance and that, in principle, items of
income and expenses included in other comprehensive
income must be recycled to profit or loss when doing so
results in the statement of profit or loss providing more
relevant information or a more faithful representation.
In October 2018, the IASB issued a document concerning

the Amendments to IFRS 3 - Definition of a Business with
the goal of providing guidelines for entities to determine
whether a set of activities and assets can be defined as a
business. More specifically, the amendments clarify that
a business, considered as an integrated set of activities
and assets, must include, at a minimum, an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute
to the ability to create output. The definition of output, as
amended by this document, focuses on goods and services
provided to customers, investment income, and other
income, and excludes returns in the form of lower costs or
other economic benefits.

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 - Definition of Material,
issued in October 2018, to align the definition of
material between the accounting standards and the
Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting and to
clarify certain aspects. The definition of material is as
follows: “information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of a specific reporting
entity’s general purpose financial statements make on the
basis of those financial statements”.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that: “obscuring
information” concerns situations for which the effect for
users of the financial statements is similar to omitting
or misstating information whose materiality is assessed
in the context of the financial statements as a whole;
“Primary users of financial statements”, for whom general
purpose financial statements are intended, are “existing
and potential investors, lenders, and other creditors” who
must rely on general purpose financial statements for
much of the financial information they need; “materiality”
depends on the nature or magnitude of information, or
both. An entity assesses whether information, either
individually or in combination with other information,
is material in the context of its financial statements as
a whole. A misstatement of information is material if it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users of financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 – Interest
Rate Benchmark Reform, issued in September 2019.
The changes modify some specific hedge accounting
requirements to mitigate the potential effects of the
uncertainty caused by the IBOR (Interbank Offered Rates)
reform. In addition, entities are required to provide
additional disclosures to investors about the hedging
relationships directly affected by said uncertainty. Please
note that the reform affects the fair value measurement,
the effects of hedge accounting, and net financial results
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when the alternative rates will be defined.
On 28 May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 16
- Covid-19 - Related Rent Concessions, aimed at giving
the option to use temporary exemptions from applying
lease modification requirements for any rent concessions
obtained by lessees because of Covid-19, if certain
requirements are met.
The application of the above amendments did not generate
impacts on the Group’s financial position and income.

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS
AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET
APPROVED BY THE EUROPEAN UNION
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1,
concerning the Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current, that influences the requirements of
IAS 1 for the presentation of liabilities, including the
clarification of one of the criteria used to classify a liability
as non-current. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022, but earlier
application is permitted. In July 2020, the IASB deferred
the effective date of this amendment to 1 January 2023.
On 14 May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework, to: (i) update the
remaining references to the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting in the accounting standard; (ii) provide
clarifications on the requirements for recognising funds,
contingent liabilities, and levies assumed in a business
combination at the acquisition date; (iii) state explicitly
that contingent assets acquired in a business combination
cannot be recognised.

16 - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before
Intended Use, to state that the proceeds from selling
items produced while the company is preparing the asset
for its intended use shall be recognised in profit and loss,
together with the related production costs.
On 14 May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS
37 - Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract,
providing clarification as to how to determine the cost
of fulfilling a contract.
On 14 May 2020, the IASB issued Annual Improvements to
IFRS Standards 2018-2020, which include amendments
to the following standards: IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption
of International Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS
9 - Financial Instruments, IAS 41 - Agriculture and the
illustrative examples accompanying IFRS 16 - Leases.
In June 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS
17 - Insurance Contracts, aimed at helping companies
implement the standard and making it easier for them
to explain their financial performance. The fundamental
principles introduced when the Board first published IFRS
17 in May 2017 remain unaffected. The amendments, which
respond to feedback from stakeholders, are designed to:
reduce costs by simplifying some requirements in the
standard; make financial performance easier to explain;
and ease transition by deferring the effective date of the
standard to 2023 and by providing additional relief to
reduce the effort required when applying IFRS 17 for the
first time.
We do not anticipate a significant impact on our
consolidated financial statements or disclosures upon
adopting the amendments.

On 14 May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS

SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements reflect the
financial position and economic result of the Parent
Company and of its subsidiaries, both directly and
indirectly controlled. In particular, the consolidated
entities are those under the control of Ariston Thermo
Holding SpA either through a direct or indirect equity
ownership, with the majority of voting rights at
shareholders’ meeting, or through the exercise of a
dominant influence over the financial and operating
policies of the companies/entities, thus obtaining
the related benefits, even without regard to equity
ownership. Entities are not consolidated on a line-byline basis if their consolidation, given their operations
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(e.g., companies that are not yet or no longer operative,
or expected to become operative, and companies that
have nearly completed the liquidation process), would
be quantitatively and qualitatively immaterial in terms of
a correct presentation of the Group’s financial position
and economic result for the year.The exclusion from
the consolidation of some subsidiaries, which are not
significant either individually or considered together,
did not entail a material impact for the purposes of the
correct representation of the Group’s equity, income and
financial situation (in accordance with the provisions of
the Framework of the international accounting standards:
“information is material if its omission or misstatement

could influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of the financial statements”).
All subsidiaries are consolidated from the date when the
Group acquired their control. The entities are excluded
from the consolidation area from the date when the
Group ceases to control them. The consolidation,
prepared on a line-by-line basis, was carried out using,
for all subsidiaries, a specific reporting package, written

based on the IFRS standards adopted by the Group,
reclassifying and/or rectifying the accounting data
approved by the corporate bodies of the respective
companies.
On the basis of the provisions of IFRS 12, hereafter is
set out the Group’s composition at 31 December 2020,
highlighting the controlling interests for the purposes
of drawing up the consolidated financial statements.

LIST OF COMPANIES CONSOLIDATED ON A LINE BY LINE BASIS
n°

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57

Company

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
Ar1 Srl
Ariston Thermo Argentina Srl
Ariston Thermo Benelux sa
Ariston Thermo Canada Ltd
Ariston Thermo (China) Co. Ltd
Ariston Thermo Croatia Ltd
Ariston Thermo CZ sro
Ariston Thermo Deutschland GmbH
Ariston Thermo Egypt LLC
Ariston Thermo Espana sl Sociedad Unipersonal
Ariston Thermo Gulf Water Heating LLC
Ariston Thermo Heating Tech. Nigeria Ltd
Ariston Thermo Holding USA LLC
Ariston Thermo Hungária kft
Ariston Thermo India Private Ltd
Ariston Thermo Industrial Vietnam Ltd
Ariston Thermo Innovative Technologies Srl
Ariston Thermo International Srl
Ariston Thermo Isitma ve Sogutma Sistemleri Ithalat,
Ihracat ve Dagitim Ltd. Sti.
Ariston Thermo Kazakhstan LLP
Ariston Thermo Maroc sa
Ariston Thermo MEA SPC
Ariston Thermo Mexico sa de C.V.
Ariston Thermo Parts & Services SA
Ariston Thermo Polska Sp. z o.o.
Ariston Thermo Pte Ltd
Ariston Thermo Romania Srl
Ariston Thermo Rus LLC
Ariston Thermo SpA
Ariston Thermo South Africa (Pty) Ltd
Ariston Thermo Tunisie sa
Ariston Thermo UK Ltd
Ariston Thermo Ukraine LLC
Ariston Thermo USA LLC
Ariston Thermo Vietnam Ltd
Atag Construction BV
Atag Electronics BV
Atag Engineering BV
Atag Heating BV
Atag Heizungstechnil Gmbh
Atag Verwarming Belgie BVBA
Atag Verwarming Nederland BV
ATM1 HR sa de V.V.
ATM2 HR sa de V.V.
Atmor (Dongguan) Electronic Technolgy Co. Ltd
Atmor Electronic Technolgy Company Ltd
Atmor Industries Ltd
BCE Srl
Calentadores de America S.A. de C.V.
Chaffoteaux sas
Cuenod sas
Domotec AG
Ecoflam Bruciatori SpA
Elco Austria GmbH
Elco B.V.
Elco Belgium nv/sa

Registered
office

Italy
Italy
Argentina
Belgium
Canada
China
Croatia
Czech Republic
Germany
Egypt
Spain
UAE
Nigeria
USA
Hungary
India
Vietnam
Italy
Italy
Turkey
Kazakhstan
Morocco
Bahrain
Mexico
Switzerland
Poland
Singapore
Romania
Russia
Italy
South Africa
Tunisia
United Kingdom
Ukraine
USA
Vietnam
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Netherlands
Germany
Belgium
Netherlands
Mexico
Mexico
China
Hong Kong
Israel
Italy
Mexico
France
France
Switzerland
Italy
Austria
Netherlands
Belgium

Division
(*)

Group’s
controlling
interest

TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC

controllante
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
BUR
TC
TC
BUR
TC
BUR
TC
TC
TC

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
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n°

58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80

Company

Elco Burners B.V.
Elco Burners GmbH
Elco GmbH
Elco Heating Solutions Limited
Elco International GmbH
Elco Italia SpA
Elcotherm AG
Fluida S.A. de C.V.
Gastech-Energi A/S
Kesselheld Gmbh
Marchi e Brevetti Srl
NTI Boilers Inc
NTI Holdings Ltd
NTI Industrial Inc
NTI-USA Inc.
PT Ariston Thermo Indonesia
Racold Thermo Private Ltd
S.H.E. d.o.o. Svilanjnac
SPM Innovation sas
STV France sas
Thermowatt Professional Srl
Thermowatt (Wuxi) Electric Co. Ltd
Thermowatt SpA

Registered
office
Netherlands
Germany
Germany
United Kingdom
Germany
Italy
Switzerland
Mexico
Denmark
Germany
Italy
Canada
Canada
Canada
USA
Indonesia
India
Serbia
France
France
Italy
China
Italy

Division
(*)

BUR
BUR
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
TC
COM
BUR
TC
COM
COM
COM

Group’s
controlling
interest
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

The participation shares in this table are the ones relevant for determining the Consolidated financial statements. The companies acquired with the put/call contracts to be exercised on the remaining
shares of the share capital were fully consolidated, together with the acquisition agreement based on the provisions set forth in IFRS 3 (see the specific treatment of the individual put/call options in the
notes). The statutory ones can be found in the table at the end of the Notes to the Consolidated financial statements.
(*)

Refers to the main division: TC = Thermal Comfort, BUR = Burners, COM = Components

- in September 2020, Ariston Thermo Canada
Ltd exercised the final tranche of the put and call
commitment set forth in the agreement for the
acquisition of the NY Thermal Group equal to 7%,
redetermining its shareholding to 100% of the share
capital;
- the merger between the French subsidiaries SPM Sas
and SPM Innovation Sas was finalised in December of the
current year.
For further details on the two acquisitions occurred in the
year, reference should be made to the following section
“Accounting standards and assessment criteria”.

CONSOLIDATION
AND TRANSLATION PRINCIPLES
For the purposes of preparing the IFRS-compliant
consolidated financial statements, all consolidated
companies have prepared a specific reporting package,
at the same reference date, based on the IFRS standards
that the Group has adopted and which are described
below, entailing the reclassification and/or rectification
of their accounting data prepared for disclosure purposes
on a local level.
Subsidiaries

LIST OF COMPANIES NOT INCLUDED IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
n°

Company

Registered
office

1

Joint venture “Ariston Thermo - UTG LLC” (**)

Uzbekistan

(*)
(**)

Refers to the main division: TC = Thermal Comfort, BUR = Burners, COM = Components
The company was not included in the scope of consolidation because of its limited area of operation and little significance.

Division
(*)

Group’s
controlling
interest

TC

51.00

The consolidated financial statements of Ariston Thermo
Group include the financial statements of the Parent
Company and of its subsidiaries.
A subsidiary is a company where the financial and
operating policies are determined by the Parent Company
which aims to benefit from their activities.
The economic result of the subsidiaries, whether
acquired or transferred during the period, are included
in the consolidated income statement from the actual
acquisition date to the actual transfer date.

Compared with 31 December 2019, the scope of
consolidation is changed due to the following transactions:
- the Italian subsidiary Ariston Thermo Italia SpA was
incorporated on 18 March 2020. Later renamed as Ariston
Thermo SpA, it is 100% owned by the parent Ariston Thermo
Holding SpA;
- the US companies Water Heating Technologies
Corporation and HTP Comfort Solutions LLC merged in April
2020, with the resulting entity renamed as Ariston Thermo
USA LLC;
- on 17 April 2020, the subsidiary Elco International GmbH
acquired 80% of Kesselheld GmbH, which specialises in the
installation and maintenance of heating systems. On the
remaining 20% of the company, put and call agreements
have been entered into to be exercised in 2024.
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This will enable the Group to acquire total control;
- in May 2020, Ariston Thermo Holding USA LLC (formerly
Ariston Thermo USA LLC) exercised a tranche of the put
and call commitment set forth in the agreement for the
acquisition of Ariston Thermo USA LLC (formerly HTP
Comfort Solutions LLC) equal to 31.84%, redetermining its
shareholding to 82.84% of the share capital;
- the Italian subsidiary AR1 Srl was incorporated on 7 July
2020, and is 100% owned by the controlling company
Ariston Thermo SpA. The company generates and sells
electricity from renewable sources and cogeneration;
- in August 2020, Ecoflam Bruciatori SpA exercised the
final tranche of the put and call commitment set forth in
the agreement for the acquisition of BCE Srl equal to 15%,
redetermining its shareholding to 100% of the share capital;

The share of non-controlling interests in the net assets
of the consolidated subsidiaries is identified separately
from the equity attributable to owners of the Parent. This
share is determined based on their percentage of interest
held:
a- in the fair values of the assets and liabilities recognised
at the date of their original acquisition. As regards the
symmetric put and call contracts connected to the new
acquisitions, they have been represented by recognising
under other long-term liabilities in the statement of
financial position the fair value of the payable arising
from the purchase and sale options signed at the moment
of the acquisition on all the shares held by the minority
shareholders, and without the recognition of the residual
equity attributable to non-controlling interest (see the
subsequent section: “Business combinations”);

b- in the changes in equity after that date. Subsequently,
the losses attributable to non-controlling interests
exceeding the equity attributable to them, are recognised
under non-controlling interests.
Associates
The consolidated financial statements include the
portion of associates’ economic results attributable
to the Group. Associates are companies on which the
Group has a significant influence, in terms of financial
and operating policies, although not holding a control or
joint control. The portion of these companies’ economic
results attributable to the Group is recognised according
to the equity method, from the date when the significant
influence starts until it ceases to exist. If the portion of
losses of an associate attributable to the Group exceeds
the carrying value of the investment recognised in the
financial statements, the amount of this investment
is waived and the portion of exceeding losses is not
recognised, except and to the extent of the obligations
assumed by the Group.
Transactions excluded from the consolidation process
During the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, all intergroup balances and significant
transactions, as well as gains and losses that were
generated on intergroup transactions, were not
recognised. All realised gains and losses generated
on transactions with associates or jointly controlled
companies were not recognised according to the Group’s
interests in those companies.
Consolidation of foreign companies
All assets and liabilities of foreign companies in a currency
other than the euro, falling within the consolidation area,
are converted using the exchange rates in effect at the
reference date of the financial statements (method of
the current exchange rates). Income and expenses are
converted at the average exchange rate for the period.
Should it be possible to identify the specific exchange
rate for individual transactions, these items are converted
at the related spot rate. The differences in the exchange
rates on assets and liabilities of foreign companies in
currencies other than the euro arising from application
of this method are recognised under equity until the
shareholding is transferred. Goodwill and adjustments to
the fair values generated by the acquisition of a foreign
company, are recognised in their currency and converted
using the exchange rate at the end of the reporting period.
The following table contains the exchange rates against
the euro applied in the translation of financial statements
expressed in another currency: (exchange rate = euro/
currency).
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CURRENCY		
2020		
2019
		
Average exch. rate Exch.rate at31/12 Average exch. rate Exch.rate at31/12
EMIRATI DIRHAM

AED

4.2094

4.5065

4.1071

4.1257

ARGENTIN PESO

ARS

103.2494

103.2494

67.2749

67.2749

NEW BELARUSIAN RUBLE

BYN

2.7898

3.1646

2.3426

2.3687

CANADIAN DOLLAR

CAD

1.5327

1.5633

1.4819

1.4598

SVISS FRANC

CHF

1.0703

1.0802

1.1124

1.0854

CHINESE RENMINBI

CNY

7.9112

8.0225

7.7310

7.8205

CZECH KORUNA

CZK

26.4420

26.2420

25.6808

25.4080

DANISH CROWN

DKK

7.4538

7.4409

7.4663

7.4715

EGYPTIAN POUND

EGP

18.0394

19.3168

18.3770

18.0192

ENGLISH STERLING

GBP

0.8892

0.8990

0.8755

0.8508

CROATIAN KUNA

HRK

7.5340

7.5519

7.4167

7.4395

HUNGARIAN FORINT

HUF

351.8861

363.8900

325.5342

330.5300

INDONESIAN RUPIAH

IDR

16,600.4321

17,240.7600

15,803.6174

15,595.6000

INDIAN RUPIAH

INR

85.8509

89.6605

78.6757

80.1870

KAZAKHSTANI TENGE

KZT

474.9192

517.0400

428.5653

429.5100

MOROCCO DIRHAM

MAD

10.8110

10.9190

10.7636

10.7810

MEXICAN PESO

MXN

24.2426

24.4160

23.7134

22.8817

NIGERIAN NAIRA

NGN

456.0900

538.2100

398.3600

400.0000

POLISH ZLOTY

PLN

4.4375

4.5597

4.3017

4.2568

ROMANIAN NEW LEU

RON

4.8445

4.8683

4.7455

4.7830

RUSSIAN RUBLE

RUB

83.4888

91.4671

72.0333

69.9563

SINGAPORE DOLLAR

SGD

1.5792

1.6218

1.5264

1.5111

TUNISIAN DINAR

TND

3.1986

3.2943

3.2819

3.1390

TURKISH NEW LIRA

TRY

8.1122

9.1131

6.3446

6.6843

UKRAINIAN HRYVNIA

UAH

31.4753

34.7689

28.6076

26.7195

US DOLLAR

USD

1.1471

1.2271

1.1202

1.1234

VIETNAM DONG

VND

27,210.6982

28,331.0000

25,828.7145

26,033.0000

SOUTH AFRICAN RAND

ZAR

18.6437

18.0219

16.1728

15.7773

The exchange rate used for the translation of the Nigerian
naira into the presentation currency is that at which
future cash flows would be realised, in accordance with
IAS 21.

the financial statements overall requires the application
of specific procedures and a measurement process which
the Group had already started in the final part of 2018. In
particular:

Hyperinflation in Argentina

- in relation to the income statement, costs and revenue
were restated applying the change in the general
consumer price index, in order to reflect the fall in
purchasing power experienced by the local currency at
31 December 2020. For the purposes of the translation
into euro of the income statement thus restated, the spot
exchange rate at 31 December 2020 was consistently
applied rather than the average exchange rate for the
period. With reference to consolidated net sales in the
period, the effect from the application of the standard
entailed a negative change of € 0.9 million in 2020;

In Argentina, following a long observation period of
the inflation rates and other indicators, consensus
was reached at global level about the existence of
the conditions which determine the presence of
hyperinflation in accordance with the IFRS (International
Financial Reporting Standards). Consequently, as of 1
July 2018, all the companies operating in Argentina have
been required to apply IAS 29 – Financial Reporting in
Hyperinflationary Economies in preparing the financial
reports. With reference to the Group, the consolidated
financial results at 31 December 2020 include the effects
from the application of the aforementioned accounting
standard as in the prior year. In accordance with the
provisions of IAS 29, the remeasurement of the values in
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- as regards the statement of financial position, the
monetary elements were not restated, since they are
already expressed in the current unit of measurement
at the end date of the period; the non-monetary assets

and liabilities were instead restated to reflect the fall in
purchasing power of the local currency that occurred
from the date on which the assets and liabilities were
initially recorded, at the end of the period.
Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is recognised according to
the acquisition method. The acquisition cost is determined
by summing the current values, at the trading date, of the
transferred assets, of the incurred or acquired liabilities,
and of the financial instruments issued by the Group in
exchange for the control of the acquired company.
The identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
of the acquired company that meet the conditions for
recognition under IFRS (IFRS 3), are recognised at their
current values at the acquisition date except for noncurrent assets (or disposal groups) which are classified
as held for sale in compliance with IFRS 5 and recognised
and measured at the current value less sale costs. The
transaction costs are fully expensed.
The goodwill deriving from the acquisition of a company
is recognised under assets and determined initially as
an excess of the cost of acquisition compared with
the interest of the Group in the current values of the
recognised identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities. If the interest of the Group in the current values
of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
exceeds the acquisition cost, the exceeding amount is
immediately recognised in the income statement. Noncontrolling interests in the acquired company are initially
recognised to the extent of their share in the current
values of recognised assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities (share of fair value of net assets).
According to the revised IFRS 3 standard, the term
“business combination” refers to a transaction
where the purchaser obtains control of one or more
company’s businesses, or to the effect of the accounting
consolidation or combination of different entities or
company activities into a single entity for the purpose of
the financial statements.
In application of this standard, it is necessary to recognise
the “contingent consideration” intended as obligations
of the purchaser to transfer additional activities to the
previous owners, if specific future events occur or if
certain contractual conditions are met. This contingent
consideration must be measured at the fair value at the
acquisition date.
Accounting treatment of the Gastech-Energi A/S earn-out
On 30 April 2015, 100% of the share capital of the Danish
company Gastech was acquired. The acquisition agreement
sets forth a mechanism for a subsequent adjustment of
the price (earn-out) based on the earning performance of

the company at the specific dates set out in the agreement
with a likely further payment. Therefore, a liability equal
to the current value of the estimated obligation as at the
date of its possible exercise, was recognised in the financial
statements against a higher goodwill.
The liability, reviewed annually, changed at 31 December
2020, with the subsequent recognition in the income
statement of the identified valuation differences.
Accounting treatment of the NY Thermal Group
put and call option
As a result of (i) the consideration of the characteristics of
the control exercised due to the contractual commitments
and (ii) the specific accounting policy adopted by
the Group, the acquisition of 79% of the NY Thermal
Group which occurred on 1 September 2016, with the
simultaneous subscription of a put option in favour of the
seller and a call option in favour of the buyer, relating to
the residual 21% of the share capital, has been represented
by recognising under other long-term liabilities in the
statement of financial position the fair value of the payable
arising from the purchase and sale options signed at the
time of the purchase on all the shares held by minority
shareholders, and without the recognition of the residual
equity attributable to non-controlling interest.
At 31 December 2020, this liability was written off
following the settlement of the final tranche of the call/
put option under the purchase agreement, therefore the
Group increased its ownership interest to 100%.
Accounting treatment of the HTP Comfort Solutions LLC
(now Ariston Thermo USA LLC) put and call option
The acquisition of 51% of HTP Comfort Solutions LLC,
which occurred on 28 July 2017, with the simultaneous
subscription of a put option in favour of the seller and a call
option in favour of the buyer, relating to the residual 49%
of the share capital, has been represented by recognising
under other long-term liabilities in the statement of
financial position the fair value of the payable arising from
the purchase and sale options signed at the time of the
purchase on all the shares held by minority shareholders,
and without the recognition of the residual equity
attributable to non-controlling interest.
At 31 December 2020, this liability was reduced due to the
settlement of part of the commitment envisaged in the
acquisition agreement (i.e. the exercise in May).
The fair value of the liability related to the symmetric
options, which is reviewed annually, changed at 31
December 2020, with the subsequent recognition in the
income statement of the identified valuation differences.
The entity that is subject to a residual put and call, formerly
known as HTP Comfort Solutions LLC, is now Ariston
Thermo USA LLC.
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Accounting treatment of the Atmor Industries Group
put and call option
As a result of (i) the consideration of the characteristics of
the control exercised due to the contractual commitments
and (ii) the specific accounting policy adopted by the
Group, the acquisition of 60% of the Atmor Group, which
occurred on 7 September 2017, with the simultaneous
subscription of a put option in favour of the seller and a call
option in favour of the buyer, relating to the residual 40%
of the share capital, has been represented by recognising
under other long-term liabilities in the statement of
financial position the fair value of the payable arising from
the purchase and sale options signed at the time of the
purchase on all the shares held by minority shareholders,
and without the recognition of the residual equity
attributable to non-controlling interest. The liability,
reviewed annually, changed at 31 December 2020, with the
subsequent recognition in the income statement of the
identified valuation differences.
Accounting treatment of the BCE Srl put and call option
As a result of (i) the consideration of the characteristics of
the control exercised due to the contractual commitments
and (ii) the specific accounting policy adopted by the
Group, the acquisition of 85% of BCE Srl, which occurred on
1 August 2018, with the simultaneous subscription of a put
option in favour of the seller and a call option in favour of
the buyer, relating to the residual 15% of the share capital,
has been represented by recognising under other longterm liabilities in the statement of financial position the
fair value of the payable arising from the purchase and sale
options signed at the time of the purchase on all the shares
held by minority shareholders, and without the recognition
of the residual equity attributable to non-controlling
interest. At 31 December 2020, this liability was written off
following the settlement of the final tranche of the call/
put option under the purchase agreement, therefore the
Group increased its ownership interest to 100%.
Accounting treatment of the Kesselheld GmbH
put and call option
The acquisition of 80% of the German company Kesselheld
GmbH, which occurred in April, with the simultaneous
subscription of a put option in favour of the seller and a call
option in favour of the buyer, relating to the residual 20%
of the share capital, has been represented by recognising
under other long-term liabilities in the statement of
financial position the fair value of the payable arising from
the purchase and sale options signed at the time of the
purchase on all the shares held by minority shareholders,
and without the recognition of the residual equity
attributable to non-controlling interest.
The changes in fair value of the liability related to the
symmetric options, which is reviewed annually, will be
recognised in the income statement.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill
Goodwill arising from the acquisition of a subsidiary
or jointly-controlled entity reflects the excess of the
acquisition cost over the percentage attributable to
the Group, of the fair value of the subsidiary's or jointly
controlled entity's identifiable assets, liabilities and
potential liabilities at the acquisition date. The goodwill
is recognised as an asset and undergoes an impairment
test on an annual basis, or more frequently if there are
events or changes in the circumstances that may result in
impairment losses. For this purpose, the goodwill, if any,
resulting at the acquisition date is allocated to each of the
cash generating units, which are expected to benefit from
the synergy effects deriving from the acquisition. Any loss
in value is identified through valuations that are based
on the capacity of each unit to produce financial flows
capable of recovering the part of goodwill allocated to
it, according to the methods described hereinafter, in the
section “Impairment of assets”. If the value recoverable by
the cash generating unit is below the attributed carrying
value, the related impairment loss is recognised. This
impairment loss is not restored if the reasons that have
generated it cease to exist.

in the financial statements, the development costs are
recognised in the income statement for the period in which
they are incurred.
Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets, whether purchased or internally
produced, are recognised under assets in compliance with
IAS 38 - Intangible Assets, if it is likely that the use of the
assets will generate future economic benefits and when
the cost of the asset can be accurately measured.
These assets (such as concessions, licenses and software)
with a definite useful life are recognised at purchase or
production cost and amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimated useful life. Any impairment losses, and any

Research costs are recognised in the income statement for
the period in which they are incurred. Internally generated
intangible assets deriving from the development of the
Group’s products are recognised under assets, only if all of
the following conditions are met:

Intangible assets with indefinite useful life are not
amortised but are subject to evaluation in order to identify
any impairment loss, yearly or, more frequently, at any
time there is an indication that the asset may have been
impaired.
The other intangible assets recognised following the
acquisition of a company are recognised separately from
the goodwill, if their current value can be accurately
measured.
Here below are the principles applied by the Group for
intangible assets:

Licences

Trademarks

Useful file

Definite (5 years)

Indefinite

Definite (5 years)

Definite (4 years)

Amortisation
method used

Amortised over
the duration of
the license itself

No amortisation

Amortised on a
straight line basis
over the period
of the expected
future sales
resulting from
the related project

Amortised over
its period of use

Produced in-house
or purchased

Purchased

Purchased

Generated
in-house

Purchased

If a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity is sold, the portion
of goodwill attributable to it at the date of the sale is
included in the calculation of the gain or loss on disposal.
Internally generated intangible assets - Research and
development costs

restatement, are based on the same methods described in
the section “Impairment of assets”.

Development costs

Software

• the asset is identifiable;
• it is probable that the asset will generate future
economic benefits;
• the cost for the development of the asset can be
accurately measured.
The capitalised development costs include only the
expense incurred which may be attributed directly to the
development process.
These intangible assets with definite useful life are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the respective
useful life of the product, which is normally 5 years. Any
impairment losses, and any restatement, are based on the
same methods described in the section “Impairment of
assets”.
If the internally generated assets cannot be recognised

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

the use of depreciation rates that accurately represent it.

Property, plant and equipment are recognised at cost,
net of accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
if any. Assets with components of a significant value and
with a different useful life are recognised separately when
depreciated.

If significant parts of these tangible assets have a different
useful life, they will be stated separately.

The cost incurred subsequent to the purchase is
capitalised only if the future economic benefits of the
asset to which it refers increase. All other costs are
recognised in the income statement for the period in
which they are incurred.
The depreciation is calculated, on a straight-line basis,
according to the cost of the asset net of all residual values,
on its estimated useful economic-technical life through

The depreciation will be based on the following
percentage rates:
■ Buildings and light constructions
from		 1,8
to 3,0
■ Plant and machinery
from		 6,0
to 15,5
■ Industrial and commercial equipment
from		10,0
to 25,0
■ Cars and internal transport vehicles
from		20,0
to 25,0
■ Furniture, office equipment, data processing systems
from		 12,0
to 20,0
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Land with no construction or annexed to residential and
industrial buildings, is not depreciated since it has an
unlimited useful life.
The rights of use relating to leases, following the earlier
application in 2018 of IFRS 16 which eliminated the
distinction between financial lease and operating lease, are
recognised in a single accounting model to recognise the
lease. In accordance with this model, the entity recognises:
(1) assets and liabilities for all leases with a duration of over
twelve months; (2) separately in the income statement, the
amortisation/depreciation of the recognised asset and the
interest on the financial payable recorded.
More specifically, in order to determine the value of
the assets with “right of use”, the value of the related
discounted liabilities, any payments made to the lessor
before signing the contract, net of the incentives received,
the initial direct costs incurred by the lessor as well as the
provisions for removal and dismantling, if any, were taken
into account.
The new standard mainly concerns operating leases
relating to assets such as real estate, machinery and cars/
lorries. In addition, the Group used the practical approach,
envisaged by IFRS 16.B1, of applying the new standard also
to a portfolio of leases which regard similar assets and
which have the same characteristics (duration, start date
and end date), since the effects from the application of
the standard to the portfolio are not materially different
from the application of the same standard to the individual
contract. Lastly, on the basis of the practical expedients
(recognition exemptions for low-value and short-term
leases), mainly rent contracts for IT equipment worth
around € 0.9 million in annual fees were not considered,
and the non-lease components approach was used, on
the basis of which all the costs not strictly related to the
right of use are not considered, while, to measure the right
of use of assets at the date of first application, the initial
direct costs are excluded.
With respect to the impact of IFRS 16 on liabilities, please
refer to the accounting policy “Finance lease liabilities”.
The impact for the year 2020 on the components of profit
or loss amount to: € 1.5 million in increased financial
charges, € 22 million in increased depreciation and
amortisation expense, and € 23.5 million in reversals of
lease payments. Gains and losses arising from the sale or
disposal of assets are calculated as the difference between
revenue from sales and the net carrying value of the asset,
and are recognised in the income statement for the year.

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying
value of its tangible and intangible assets to verify whether
there is any indication that they were subject to an
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impairment loss. If there are indications of impairment, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the assets to
calculate the related impairment loss. If it is not possible
to estimate individually the recoverable amount of an
asset, the Group estimates the recoverable value of the
cash generating unit to which the asset belongs. Intangible
assets with an indefinite useful life, including goodwill, are
assessed on an annual basis or more frequently if there is an
indication of possible impairment losses.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to sell and value in use. In calculating the value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their current
value using a discount rate that reflects the current market
values relating to money and the risks associated with the
asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or of the cash
generating unit) is estimated to be lower than its carrying
value, it is reduced to the lower recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are immediately recognised in the
income statement. If a depreciation has no longer a reason
to exist, the carrying value of the asset (or of the cash
generating unit), excluding the goodwill, is increased to the
new amount resulting from the estimate of its recoverable
value, but not above the net carrying value that the asset
would have had if the loss had not occurred. The restored
value is recognised in the income statement.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held
for sale are measured at the lower of their previous carrying
value and market value less costs to sell.
Non-current assets (and disposal groups) are classified as
held for sale when the Group expects that their carrying
value will be recovered through sale rather than used in its
operating activities.
This condition is met only when the sale is highly probable,
the asset (or group of assets) is held for immediate sale in its
current condition, and Management has committed to the
sale, which should occur within 12 months from the date of
classification of this item.
Financial activities related to ceased or discontinued
operations, net of tax effects, are recognised under one
single item in the consolidated income statement, including
the comparative data of the relevant period.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
Investments in associates are recognised according to the
equity method, starting from the date of the significant
influence by the Parent Company up to the time when
this influence ceases to exist, as described in the previous
paragraph “Consolidation and translation principles”.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
In line with the new IFRS 9, financial assets, which are
represented by debt instruments (trade receivables,
financial receivables, etc.), are classified on the basis of
the business model (the way the Group manages financial
assets in order to generate cash flows) and the contractual
characteristics of the cash flows (the so-called SPPI test,
“solely payment of principal and interest”), in one of the
following categories:
- amortised cost, for the financial assets held with the
aim of receiving the contractual cash flows which pass
the SPPI test, since the cash flows represent solely
payment of principal and interest; this category includes
trade receivables, other operational receivables included
in other current and non-current assets, and financial
receivables included in other current and non-current
financial assets;
- fair value through shareholders’ equity (FVOCI), for
financial assets held with the aim of collecting cash flows,
both contractual, which represent solely payments of
principal and interest, and from sales. The changes in fair
value subsequent to initial recognition are offset under
OCI and are recycled to the income statement upon
derecognition. The Group classifies in this category listed
shares which pass the SPPI test and which are held for the
purpose of collecting the contractual and sale cash flows;
- fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), as a residual
category, for assets which are not held in one of the above
business models. This category mainly holds financial
derivatives held for trading and debt instruments the
contractual flows of which are not solely principal and
interest.
The Group envisages, as per the provisions of the new
IFRS 9, the treatment of non-strategic investments
and investment funds shares at FVTPL; while other
investments, which are considered strategic, are treated
individually and, at the moment, are all valued at FVTOCI.
Financial assets with embedded derivatives are fully
valued at fair value through profit or loss, if they do not
pass the SPPI test as a single financial instrument.
Financial assets which are classified as contingent
consideration are valued at fair value profit or loss.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are recognised at the lesser value between
purchase and production cost, according to the weighted
average cost method, and their presumed net value based
on market price.
Cost includes direct materials and direct labour, general
production costs and other costs incurred to bring
inventories to their current location and condition.

The expected realisable net value is calculated keeping
into account any production and direct costs of sale still
to be incurred. Lastly, some obsolete stock provisions are
calculated for materials, finished goods and spare parts
that are considered obsolete or slow moving, keeping into
account their expected future use and realisable value.

TRADE RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are recognised at fair value of the
initial consideration increased by transaction costs and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method, net of impairment losses
that reflect amounts deemed non-recoverable. The
effective interest rate is recognised as financial income
in the profit and loss statement of the year. Appropriate
write-downs, with an estimate of non-recoverable
amounts, are recognised in the income statement when
there is objective evidence that the receivables have been
impaired. Write-downs reflect the difference between
the carrying value of receivables and the current value of
expected future cash flows discounted at the effective
interest rate calculated at the initial recognition.
The provisions of IFRS 9 require the application of the
expected credit loss model to assess the recoverability of
the financial assets on the basis of a predictive approach;
in particular, with reference to trade receivables, the
expected losses were generally determined using the
simplified approach based on the product of:
(i) the exposure due from the counterparty net of the
related mitigants (so-called Exposure at Default, EAD)
(ii) the probability that the counterparty may not comply
with their payment obligation (so-called Probability of
Default, PD)
(iii) the estimate, in percentage terms, of the quantity of
credit that cannot be recovered in the case of default
(so-called Loss Given Default, LGD), on the basis of past
experience and possible available recovery actions
(e.g. out-of-court actions, legal disputes, etc.). In this
regard, in order to determine the probability of default
by counterparties, the internal ratings were adopted
that were previously used for the purposes of the loan.
Consolidated trade receivables include also accounts
payable of a temporary nature, arising mainly from the
recognition of accruals and adjustments to business
bonuses.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at their
nominal value and include numeric values, i.e. those
values that meet the requirement of on demand or
very short-term availability, positive outcome and no
costs of disposal. This item includes also the collection
and payment instruments that have been subject to an
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account recording at the servicing financial institution
as at the closing date of the period notwithstanding any
subsequent different accounting records.

Following initial recognition, financial liabilities relating
to IFRS 16 leases are valued using the amortised cost
method.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The discount rate at which the lease fees (fixed and
variable) that are still to be paid are discounted is called
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate and is equal to
the interest rate the lessor would have paid if they had
borrowed money to the value of the right of use, with
payment terms similar to the contractual duration of the
lease in a similar economic environment. Management
estimated the discount rate by individual country, on the
basis of the contractual duration and the total amount of
the current “lease portfolios with similar characteristics”.

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at cost, as
determined at the settlement date and corresponding to
their fair value, net of transaction costs, recognised in the
income statement, that are directly attributable to the
issue of the financial liability. After the initial recognition,
these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method. The difference
between amortised cost and the redemption value is
recognised in the income statement in relation to the
duration of liabilities based on accrued interest.
The item “Loans” includes interest-bearing bank loans and
bank overdrafts, recognised on the basis of the collected
amounts, net of the transaction costs, and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities relating to IFRS 16 leases are initially
measured at the present value of the lease fees (fixed and
variable) still to be paid.
The Group determines the lease term as the noncancellable period of the lease, together with both periods
covered by an option to extend the lease, if it is reasonably
certain to exercise that option, and periods covered by an
option to terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not
to exercise that option.
With respect to some of its leases, the Group has the
option to extend or terminate them. The Group applies
judgement when assessing whether it is reasonably
certain to exercise renewal options. That said, the Group
considers all relevant factors that may create an economic
incentive to exercise the options to renew or terminate
the lease.
After the commencement date, the Group reassesses
the lease term upon the occurrence of a significant
event or a significant change in circumstances that are
within its control and affect whether it can exercise (or
not exercise) an option to renew or terminate the lease
(e.g. investments in leasehold improvements or specific
material changes to the leased asset).
The redemption price for the underlying asset, in the
presence of purchase options, and/or the contractual
value of the penalties, in the case of early termination of
the lease, are included in the value of the financial liability
only if their exercise is reasonably certain.
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POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS
Payments for defined contribution plans are recognised
in the income statement for the period in which they are
due.
The liability related to the short-term benefits granted to
employees, paid during the employment relationship, is
recognised as the amount accrued at year-end.
The liability related to the benefits granted to the
employees and paid at the time of, or following, the end
of the employment relationship through defined benefit
plans, i.e. the employee severance indemnity and the
defined benefit pension plans, is recognised in the period
when the right is exercisable, net of any plan assets and of
any advance payments, and is calculated on the basis of
actuarial assumptions, and recognised on an accrual basis,
consistent with the employment obligations to be met in
order to obtain the benefits; the liability is calculated by
actuaries.
As from 1 January 2013, the Group has applied, on a
retrospective basis, the new amendment to IAS 19 Employee Benefits.
More specifically, the amendment has eliminated the
option to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and
losses according to the corridor method, requiring that
all actuarial gains and losses be recognised immediately
in the Other Comprehensive Income (OCI), so that the
entire net amount of defined benefit provisions (net of
plan assets) is recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Additionally, the amendment sets forth
that changes, between one period and the next, occurring
in the defined benefits provision and in the benefit plan
assets, must be divided into three components: the
cost components related to the work performed in the
year must be recognised in the income statement under
“service costs”; net financial charges, calculated by
applying the appropriate discount rate to the net balance
of the defined benefit provision, net of the assets resulting

Welding, Ariston Thermo Innovative Technologies

at the beginning of the period, must be recognised as
such in the income statement; actuarial gains and losses
deriving from remeasurements of liabilities and assets,
following mainly the changes in the demographic and/
or financial actuarial assumptions, must be recognised in
“other comprehensive income”. In addition, the return on
assets under net financial charges, as described above, is
calculated on the basis of the discount rate of the liability
and no longer of the expected return on assets.

Trade payables are recognised at their amortised cost,
according to the effective interest rate method. Trade
payables that are due within normal commercial terms
are not discounted.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group recognises provisions for risks and charges
when it has an obligation, either legal or implicit, toward
third parties arising from a past event, and it is likely that
it will be necessary to use the resources of the Group
to meet the obligation, and when it is possible to make
an accurate estimate of the amount of the obligation
itself. Changes in estimates are reflected in the income
statement of the period when the change has occurred.
In addition, the amortised cost method will be used for
assessment where necessary.

Public contributions, obtained against investments, are
recognised in the income statement when the conditions
for recognition are met (i.e. when there is reasonable
certainty of recognition) as deferred income, over the
period required to relate them to their respective costs.

Disclosures about provisions follow IAS 37 (paragraph 92)
which regulates and limits these indications when they
might prejudice the company’s position in any disputes.

TRADE PAYABLES

REVENUE
In order to recognise and measure revenue so as to
faithfully represent the process of transferring goods
and services to customers for an amount which reflects

71

the expected consideration from the goods and services
supplied, the Group applies a model consisting of five
essential stages, as envisaged by IFRS 15: to identify the
contract with the customer (stage 1); to identify the
contractual obligations recognising the goods or services
which can be separated as separate obligations (stage
2); to determine the transaction price, i.e. the expected
consideration (stage 3); to allocate the transaction price
to each obligation identified in the contract on the basis
of the stand-alone sale price of each separable good or
service (stage 4); to recognise revenue when the related
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. upon transfer of the
good or service promised to the customer (stage 5).

REVENUE STREAM

PROFESSIONAL

DIY (DO IT YOURSELF)

BUSINESS-TO-BUSINESS
(B2B)

SERVICE

“REVENUE STREAM” DESCRIZIONE

% REVENUES
2020

% REVENUES
2019

Customers are mainly installers, medium-large distributors
and professionals in the field of Thermal Comfort.
Standard T&Cs apply and the main performance obligation
is characterised by the sale of finished products
including variable considerations too.

70%

66%

Customers are large retailers
(Euronics, Brico, LeRoy Merlin, Modern Trade…).
The main performance obligation is characterised by the sale
of finished products and the variable considerations are significant.
T&Cs are decided by the customer by means
of annual framework agreements.

5%

8%

The main performance obligation is characterised by the sale of
components, burners and heating only for specific projects:
e.g., for institutions (schools, hospitals, etc.)

9%

10%

Indirect service: maintenance and repair services offered
through Techical Support to the end customer.
Direct service: maintenance and repair services
offered directly to the end customer.

16%

16%

100%

100%

TOTAL

In addition, as a result of the new standard IFRS 15,
the line item “Revenues” includes the main variable
considerations, which in the case of the Group are largely
associated with payables to customers. These consist of
charges for commercial and marketing services received
from customers (approximately € 4.2 million, measured
by reference to contractual agreements or standard
business practices), the “discounts granted on payments”
to customers for prepayments (approximately € 15.4
million, measured by reference to specific terms and
conditions of sale), and YEBs (year-end-bonuses), i.e.
retroactive year-end bonuses awarded to customers upon
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The transfer is considered completed when the customer
obtains control of the good or service, which can happen
either over time or at a point in time.
In applying the aforementioned model, Ariston Thermo
Group took into consideration the specific facts and
circumstances mainly arising from the regulations in place
in the various jurisdictions where the Group companies
operate.
The most important situations for the purposes of the
consolidated financial statements refer mainly to the
following revenue streams (standard categories for
contractual terms and conditions (T&C) with customers,
which describe the nature, amount, timing and cash flows):

Osimo plant

meeting specified sales target, should the amount of
products purchased during the period exceed a threshold
specified in the agreement through offsetting with the
amounts payable by the customer (approximately € 79.1
million, measured by reference to the specific year-end
calculation). At the moment, rights of return are not
material at the Group level. The revenue from the sale of
goods is recognised at a point in time on the basis of the
means of delivery agreed with the customer (Incoterms,
for approximately € 4.3 million), while the revenues from
the sale of services and warranties are recognised over the
contractual period on the basis of a straight-line method.

INCOME TAXES AND PRE-PAID
AND DEFERRED TAXES
Current taxes are based on the taxable income for the
year. The taxable income is different from the profit/
loss recognised in the income statement, since it
excludes positive and negative items which are taxable or
deductible in other years and it also excludes items that
will never be taxable or deductible. Current tax liabilities
are calculated at the applicable rates at the end of the
reporting period.
Deferred taxes are those that the Group expects to settle
or recover based on the temporary differences between
the carrying value of assets and liabilities and their
corresponding tax values used for calculating taxable
income. They are recognised using the balance sheet
liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences, whereas

deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that there will be future taxable income against which
deductible temporary differences can be used. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not recognised, if the
temporary differences derive from goodwill or the initial
recognition (not in business combinations) of other assets
or liabilities in transactions that do not affect the profit
(loss) for the year or the taxable income.
The carrying value of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and impaired, if it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable income exists that can
enable recovery of all or part of the assets. Deferred taxes
are calculated at the tax rate that is expected to be applied
when the asset is realised or the liability extinguished.
Deferred taxes are recognised directly in the income
statement, except for those related to items recognised
directly under equity, in which case the deferred taxes are
also recognised under equity.
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DIVIDENDS

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Dividends are recognised as changes in equity in the year
when the Group’s unconditional right to receive payment
arises, that is when the shareholders’ meeting approves the
distribution of dividends.

The basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing
the portion of profit/loss attributable to the Group by the
weighted average of the outstanding shares of the year.

TREASURY SHARES
Treasury shares are recognised in the financial statements
at purchase cost and deducted from consolidated equity.
Gains and losses deriving from the negotiation of treasury
shares, net of the related tax effects, are recognised under
equity reserves.

TRANSACTIONS IN A FOREIGN
CURRENCY
Monetary assets and liabilities originally expressed in a
foreign currency, recognised in the financial statements
at the exchange rate in effect at the recognition date, are
adjusted to the exchange rate at the end of the reporting
period by offsetting them in the income statement of
the relevant year. Should a company in the Group have a
monetary item to be received or to be paid in regard to
another foreign subsidiary, for which settlement is not
planned nor is it likely that it may occur in the foreseeable
future and is substantially part of the entity’s net
investment in this foreign operation, it is recognised in
accordance with the provisions of IAS 21 (paragraphs 32 and
33). This envisages the treatment of the related differences
in exchange rates recognised under the items of the
statement of comprehensive income in the consolidated
financial statements which include this foreign operation.

The diluted earnings per share are calculated keeping
into account, both as regards the portion of profit/loss
attributable to the Group and the above mentioned
weighted average, the impact deriving from the total
subscription/conversion of all potential shares that may
be issued through the exercise of outstanding options.

If derivative instruments are held for trading, they
are measured at fair value while offset in the income
statement; if the same are classified as effective hedging
instruments against changes in the fair value of assets,
liabilities, obligations assumed by the Group or related
future cash flows, the Group applies hedge accounting.
The Group, consistent with its internal policies, does not
use financial instruments of a speculative nature (i.e. for
trading).
The Group uses financial derivative instruments mainly to
hedge its exposure to exchange rate risk, interest rate risk
and commodity price fluctuation risk.
With reference to the classification of hedging
transactions, the provisions of IFRS 9 require that:
(i) there is an economic relationship between the hedged
item and the hedging instrument, such as to offset the
related changes in value;
(ii) this ability to offset is not undermined by the
counterparty’s credit risk level;

The preparation of the financial statements and related
notes in accordance with IFRS standards requires that
management provide estimates and assumptions which
affect both the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and
the disclosure about potential assets and liabilities at the
end of the reporting period.

(iii) a ratio between the hedged object and the hedging
instrument (the so-called hedge ratio) is defined, in line
with the risk management objectives, as part of the
established risk management strategy, rebalancing where
necessary. Changes in the risk management objectives,
the termination of the above conditions to classify
hedging transactions or rebalancing lead to the future,
total or partial, discontinuation of the hedge.

The estimates, if significant defined in more detail in the
specific section of the Notes, are produced by applying
specific statistical techniques based on the historic incidence
of the carrying values of the relative items together with
assumptions on the possible future development with the
adoption, where necessary, of subjective assessments of the
individual estimated liabilities.
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hedged assets and liabilities. If the derivative, even if
created with non-speculative intent, does not meet all the
formal requirements necessary to be designated in hedge
accounting, the changes in fair value are recognised in the
income statement, under the same line of the changes in
hedged item.

DERIVATIVES

USE OF ESTIMATES
AND SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS

Accordingly, actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates are used to recognise provisions for credit
risks, obsolete stock, benefits to employees, restructuring
provisions, other allocations and provisions. Estimates and
assumptions are periodically reviewed and the impact of any
change is immediately reflected in the income statement.

from an asset or liability or a future transaction (hedged
underlying element), that is deemed as likely to occur
and that could have an impact on the income statement,
is formally documented. Changes in the value of the
derivatives designated as fair value hedge and that are
qualified as such, are recognised in the income statement,
consistent with the changes in the fair value of the

Financial instruments are recognised according to hedge
accounting rules when:
- at the beginning of the hedging, the formal designation
and documentation of the hedging exist;
- the hedging is assumed to be effective;
- the efficacy can be accurately measured and the
hedging itself is highly effective during the relevant
periods.
The Group applies the cash flow hedge, if the hedging
relationship of changes in the cash flows originating
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
INCOME STATEMENT
NOTE 1.1 – REVENUE
During 2020, the Group recorded revenue of € 1,663,971
thousand, compared to € 1,710,153 thousand in the
previous year, with a decrease of around € 46 million
(-2.7%%).
The decline in sales, adjusting for the exchange rate effect
and the expanded scope of consolidation following the

REVENUE (in thousand €)

NOTE 1.3 – SERVICES
acquisition of the Calorex group and Kesselheld GmbH
effective May 2019 and April 2020, respectively, would
have amounted to € 64 million (-3.7%).
For a more complete analysis, reference should be made
to the Directors’ Report on Operations.

“Costs for services” amounted to € 325,167 thousand versus € 339,655 thousand for the year 2019, down by € 14,488
thousand, and can be detailed as follows:

The Revenue item can be broken down as follows:

Logistics and transport
Other services
Sub-contracted work
Advertising and promotion
Rental and lease expenses
Utilities
Bonuses and commissions
Consulting services
Sub-contracted maintenance
Technical support
Insurance
Directors and Statutory Auditors’ Fees

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Revenues from sales
Revenues from services
Other revenues
Total
Other operating income

1,524,555
130,729
8,687
1,663,971
27,876

1,573,016
128,192
8,945
1,710,153
21,893

Total revenue

1,691,847

1,732,046

SERVICES (in thousand €)

Total

“Other operating income” totalled € 31,590 thousand at
31 December 2019 and € 21,893 thousand at 31 December
2020: in accordance with IAS 37 (paragraph 59), the Group
reclassified the item relating to the reversal of provisions,
totalling € 9,697 thousand, into the notes 1.5 - “Provisions
and write-downs” and 1.4 – “Personnel costs”, in order to
make the balance comparable between 2020 and 2019.

not directly refer to the production activities of the Group,
but are all the same connected to the core business.
They include, mainly, extraordinary income related to no
longer due obligations; the gains on the disposal of fixed
assets, and other income. At 31 December 2020, they
amounted to € 27,876 thousand, up by € 5,983 thousand
compared to 31 December 2019.

The generalised contraction in costs was the result
of the steps taken by Management in the wake of the
slump induced by the Covid-19 pandemic to contain
and optimise costs. Specifically, the reduction was seen
mainly in “Advertising and promotion” (€ 6,746 thousand),
“Other services” (€ 5,423 thousand), and “Rental and

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

78,746
63,171
48,772
28,795
12,295
16,187
18,262
17,919
14,949
13,331
6,277
6,463

73,909
68,594
51,910
35,541
15,317
17,710
19,196
17,875
15,341
13,225
6,393
4,644

325,167

339,655

lease expenses” (€ 3,022 thousand). Only “Logistics and
transport” moved in the opposite direction and upward,
largely because of the greater non-recurring costs
incurred during the year to ensure the continuity of
the supply chain and distribution to customers during
lockdowns.

“Other operating income” is represented by items that do

NOTE 1.2 – RAW MATERIALS, CONSUMABLES AND GOODS FOR RESALE
At 31 December 2020, the “Purchase cost of raw materials,
consumables and goods for resale” amounted to € 704,746
thousand, down by € 53,044 thousand compared with the
same period of the previous year. The trend in purchases
and the change in inventories highlight a slight decrease
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in the average percentage of raw materials consumed
to revenue, a percentage which, from 43.8% in 2019, fell
to 42.2%, largely because of the steps taken to optimise
procurement costs and the trend in raw materials.
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NOTE 1.4 – PERSONNEL COSTS

NOTE 1.5 – PROVISIONS AND WRITE-DOWNS

In 2020, “Personnel costs” amounted to € 387,134 thousand, down by € 5,101 thousand compared with the same period
of the previous year. Costs are detailed as follows:

During the year, “Provisions and write-downs” were recognised for € 19,279 thousand versus € 15,567 thousand in 2019.
In detail, the provisions were the following:

PERSONNEL (in thousand €)

PROVISIONS AND WRITE-DOWNS (in thousand €)		

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Provision for Employees severance indemnity
Provision for retirement benefits and other funds
Other personnel costs

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

304,624
64,657
6,075
100
11,677

304,859
66,810
7,222
-1,495
10,900

387,134

388,297

Total

Bad debt provision
Product warranty provision
Provision for installation
Provision for legal disputes
Provision for restructuring
Other provisions and write-downs
Total

“Personnel costs” totalled € 392,235 thousand at 31
December 2019 and € 388,297 thousand at 31 December
2020: in accordance with IAS 37 (paragraph 59), the
Group reclassified the item relating to the reversal of
provisions, totalling € 3,938 thousand, out of the note
1.1 - “Revenues”, in order to make the balance comparable
between 2020 and 2019. Despite the approximately € 4.2
million contribution from the acquired Kesselheld GmbH,

HEADCOUNT (number of people) 31 DEC. 2020

personnel costs were down € 1,163 thousand year-onyear, thanks to the restructuring of the workforce at some
of the Group's production sites as well as the streamlining
of structures as a result of the plans to contain Covid-19.
At 31 December 2020, the Group’s workforce decreased
from 7,519 at 31 December 2019 to 7,415.

“Provisions and write-downs” totalled € 21,326 thousand
at 31 December 2019 and € 15,567 thousand at 31
December 2020: in accordance with IAS 37 (paragraph
59), the Group reclassified the item relating to the
reversal of provisions, totalling € 5,759 thousand, out of
the note 1.1 - “Revenues”, in order to make the balance

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

1,378
5,471
3,365
1,285
1,442
6,338

1,390
7,812
3,411
1,797
417
740

19,279

15,567

comparable between 2020 and 2019.
Compared to the prior-year period, provisions and
write-downs saw a net increase of € 3,712 thousand
and a change in their composition, largely due to the
reclassification out of the “Product warranty provision”
and into “Other provisions and write-downs”.

The headcount by category of employee was:

31 DEC. 2019

Average

▲

Managers and white collars
Blue collars

3,612
3,803

3,681
3,838

3,646
3,821

-69
-35

Total

7,415

7,519

7,467

-104

The acquired company Kesselheld GmbH added 61 employees to the headcount.

Customer Service
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NOTE 1.6 – OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

NOTE 1.8 – FINANCIAL EXPENSE

“Other operating expenses” amounted to € 32,838 thousand, substantially in line with the € 31,173 thousand of the previous
year, and can be detailed as follows:

This item shows a balance of € 14,599 thousand versus a balance of € 17,246 thousand at 31 December 2019.
The item can be detailed as follows:

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES (in thousand €)

FINANCIAL EXPENSE (in thousand €)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Non-income tax and taxes
Losses on receivables
Office supplies and printing
Concession rights and other
Subsidies and contributions
Other operating expenses

5,540
1,017
1,681
3,375
900
20,325

6,004
601
1,722
4,871
716
17,260

Total

32,838

31,173

Interest expense on MLT bank loans
Interest expense on ST bank loans
Interest expense on other MLT loans
Financial expense on provisions for employee benefits
Other financial expense
Total

This item includes all ordinary operating expenses that cannot be recognised under other items.

NOTE 1.7 – FINANCIAL INCOME
“Financial income” had a balance of € 2,214 thousand at the end of the period, down compared to the value of € 3,701
thousand at 31 December 2019. The item can be detailed as follows:

FINANCIAL INCOME (in thousand €)

31 DEC. 2020
1,629
80
429
75

1,899
132
1,231
438

Total

2,214

3,701
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31 DEC. 2019

7,545
674
1,647
1,0 20
3,712

5,258
979
1,810
2,223
6,976

14,599

17,246

obligations associated with the acquisitions made in
previous periods, under which put and call options are to
be exercised in the future to obtain total control — and the
decrease in “Financial expense on provisions for employee
benefits” as a result of the change in the average actuarial
rate as per IAS 19 of the Swiss associate.

31 DEC. 2019

Interest income on bank current accounts
Interest income and discounts received on payments
Financial income on provisions for employee benefits
Other financial income

The year-on-year change was largely attributable to
the item “Financial income on provisions for employee
benefits” as a result of the change in the average actuarial
rate as per IAS 19 of the Swiss associate. “Interest income
on bank current accounts” was down and largely referred
to the Vietnamese and South African associates as a result

Compared to the previous year, the item “Interest expense
on MLT bank loans” was up as interest expense rose
because of the increased drawdown on revolving lines
of credit and the new loan agreements entered into in
2020. This was mitigated by the decline in “Other financial
expense” — largely attributable to the reduction in interest
on discounting from the fair value measurement of the

31 DEC. 2020

of the decline in interest rates and available cash. The item
“Other financial income” was down € 356 thousand from
31 December 2019, largely because of the adjustment for
hyperinflation of the Argentine associate. The other items
making up the total were largely unchanged between the
two years in question.

Ariston Alteas ONE
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NOTE 1.9 – EXCHANGE RATE GAINS/LOSSES

NOTE 1.11 – TAXES

“Exchange rate gains/losses” show overall a negative balance of € 3,452 thousand, which can be broken down as follows:

The taxes recognised in the consolidated income statement, compared with the profit before tax, are the following:

EXCHANGE RATE GAINS/LOSSES (in thousand €)

TAXES (in thousand €)

Exchange rate gains
Exchange rate losses
Unrealised exchange rate gains
Unrealised exchange rate losses
Total

“Exchange rate gains and losses” include the monetary
changes on the accounting entries that were realised at
the end of the reporting period; “Unrealised exchange rate
gains and losses” include the monetary changes that are
not yet realised because they refer to transactions that

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

25,456
-25,463
11,533
-14,978

15,523
-22,860
10,763
-3,582

Profit before tax		

-3,452

-156

were not closed at the end of the reporting period.
The result for the period relating to realised and unrealised
exchange differences was mostly negatively affected
by the depreciation in the Mexican peso and, to a lesser
extent, the Indonesian rupee.

NOTE 1.10 – PROFIT (LOSS) ON INVESTMENTS
The item “Profit (loss) on investments” was negative for
€ 1,332 thousand, mainly due to the annual revision of
the value of obligations relating to put and call options
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connected to extraordinary acquisitions, with the
recognition in the income statement of any valuation
differences.

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

▲

131,915

125,799

6,116

Current taxes		
Deferred taxes		

39,461
-4,233

40,420
-3,638

-959
-595

Total taxes 		

35,227

36,782

-1,555

Average rate		

26.7%

29.2%

-2.5%

The overall taxes recorded at 31 December 2020 were
€ 35,227 thousand, with a tax rate of 26.7% on pre-tax
income, compared to € 36,782 thousand in 2019, and with
a tax rate of 29.2%.
The decrease in value and in percentage of taxes was
mainly connected to the country mix and the decline in

taxes from previous years as a percentage of the total.
The analysis of the difference between the theoretical tax
rate (defined as equal to the Italian rate applicable for the
calculation of income taxes) and the actual one for the
periods compared is the following:

EFFECTIVE TAX RATE RECONCILIATION (in thousand €)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Theoretical tax based on Italian rate
Deferred taxes not recognised on losses
IRAP (Italian regional tax on productive activity)
Taxes from previous years
Effect of tax benefits in Italy
Tax rate differential
Other

31,659
3,112
2,803
421
-1,136
-1,877
244

30,192
2,124
3,577
4,496
-1,272
-673
-1,662

Effective Tax

35,227

36,782
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NOTE 1.12 – PROFIT/LOSS FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - ASSETS

The year 2020 does not show any figures related to profit/loss from discontinued operations.

NOTE 2.1 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS
NOTE 1.13 – BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share at 31 December 2020 amounted to
€ 3.41 and are calculated by dividing the net profit for the
year attributable to the ordinary shareholders of the Parent
Company, of € 96,687 thousand, by the number of ordinary
shares outstanding during the period, that is 28,393,150.
The number of outstanding shares is lower than the number

of shares issued owing to the purchases of treasury shares by
the Parent Company as from 2009.
The diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic
earnings per share since there are no elements that may
generate a diluted effect.

At 31 December 2020, “Intangible assets” amounted to
€ 391,435 thousand, down by a net € 19,919 thousand
compared to 31 December 2019, net of the amortisation
expense for the period of € 17,869 thousand, in addition to
other changes.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
GOODWILL
Net value

Gross

Net

Gross

TOTAL
Prov.

Net

252,587

152,530

-67,997

84,533

405,118

-67,997

337,121

Change inthe scope ofconsolidation
43,264
(Calorex Group)
Increases
0
Decreases
0
Revaluations/Write-downs
0
Amortisation
0
Exchange rate effect
4,081
Other
0

30,503
15,748
26
-194
0
1,066
-3,142

-3,150
0
0
37
-16,226
-425
2,646

27,352
15,748
25
-157
-16,226
642
-496

73,767
15,748
26
-194
0
5,147
-3,142

-3,150
0
0
37
-16,226
-425
2,646

70,616
15,748
25
-157
-16,226
4,723
-496

Total changes

44,006

-17,117

26,889

91,351

-17,117

74,234

As at 31.12.2019
299,932
196,536
-85,114
111,422
				
Change inthe scope ofconsolidation
(Kesselheld)
4,803
27
-6
21
Increases
15
13,813
0
13,813
Decreases
0
-909
771
-138
Revaluations/Write-downs
0
34
0
34
Amortisation
0
0
-17,869
-17,869
Exchange rate effect
-11,292
-4,907
1,161
-3,745
Other
-7,721
-7,018
9,179
2,161

496,469

-85,114

411,354

4,829
13,828
-909
34
0
-16,199
-14,739

-6
0
771
0
-17,869
1,161
9,179

4,824
13,828
-138
34
-17,869
-15,037
-5,561

(in thousand €)

SPECIAL ITEMS
In 2020, the “Special Items”, i.e. income from nonrecurring events or transactions, restructuring or
employment termination agreements, and other events
not representative of normal business operations,
caused the Group to recognise charges totalling € 19,584
thousand (€ 14,253 thousand in 2019) in terms of profit
before tax, and € 14,048 thousand (€ 10,154 thousand in
2019) in terms of net profit.

As at 31.12.2018
These expenses comprise primarily the costs for
restructuring operations paid in the current year and
allocations to the restructuring provision, as well as, to a
lesser extent, other non-recurring income and expenses,
while the year-on-year increase was largely the result of
the additional costs directly attributable to the Covid-19
emergency.

NON RECURRING TRANSACTIONS
For a description of the main atypical and/or unusual
transactions, defined as those transactions which, by their
significance, relevance, nature of the counterparty, subject
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matter and timing (near the end of the financial period), require
more details in the financial statements, see the Directors’
Report on Operations.

The amortisation expense for the period is recognised
under the appropriate item in the income statement.
Details of and changes in intangible assets are the
following:

47,345

OTHER INT. ASSETS
Prov.

Total changes

-14,195

1,039

-6,763

-5,724

-13,156

-6,763

-19,919

As at 31.12.2020

285,737

197,575

-91,877

105,698

483,313

-91,877

391,435
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The net total amount of the goodwill was € 285,737
thousand, versus € 299,932 thousand at 2019 year-end,
and shows a change largely due to the changes in exchange
rates, negative for - € 11,292 thousand, and the acquisition
of the German company Kesselheld for € 4,803 thousand,
resulting from the measurement at fair value of the
acquired company, as further detailed in the “Business
combinations” note. The total amount of goodwill
recognised in the statement of financial position is not

amortised, but is subject at least annually to an impairment
test (together with the other intangible and tangible assets)
to assess its recoverability, as envisaged by IAS 36.
Therefore, the goodwill has been allocated to the cash
generating units (CGU) from which future economic
benefits related to the acquisition are expected.
Consequently, at 31 December 2020, the impairment test
was carried out as described hereinafter.

IMPAIRMENT TEST
On an annual basis, the Group reviews the carrying value
of its tangible and intangible assets in order to determine
if they have lost value. Should there be significant
evidence of such a loss, the amount of the impairment
loss is determined by estimating the recoverable value of
the cash generating unit to which the assets in question
belong.
As clearly indicated in the relevant accounting standards,
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, including

goodwill, are tested at least on an annual basis, regardless
of any indication of impairment, by comparing the value in
use of the related cash generating units. The criterion for
determining the value in use follows the IAS 36 guidelines
and is based on the current value of the expected future
cash flows which are assumed to derive from the ongoing
use and the disposal of an asset at the end of its useful
life after being discounted at an interest rate that reflects
the current money market rates as well as specific risks
related to the cash generating unit in question.

DESCRIPTION OF THE CGUS FOR THE GOODWILL
The smallest operating units or groups of operating
units, to which future cash flows that are objectively
measurable and independent from those generated by
other operating units (i. e. the CGUs) are to be associated,
have been identified based on the organisational and
operating model of the Group.

These sectors represent the most significant breakdown
of the risk and benefit profile of the Company.
At 31 December 2020, the reference CGUs were the
three divisions to which specific areas of managerial
responsibility refer: Thermal Comfort (TC), Burners (BUR),
and Components (COM).
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Based on the analyses conducted under the above
assumptions, and considering also a sensitivity analysis
of WACC and CAGR beyond the specific planning
timeframe as required by the best practices issued by

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (in thousand €)
Concessions, licenses, trademarks
Development costs
Software
Intangible assets under development
Other
Total

The item “Concessions, licenses, trademarks” includes,
for € 28,440 thousand, the value of sole ownership of the
Ariston trademark, since its use was already included in
the assets of the Group, acquired in 2008 through a nonproportional division operation of the subsidiary Marchi &
Brevetti. Since the trademark has an indefinite useful life,
it is subject to impairment test.
The change in “Other intangible assets” from the start
of the period amounted to € 5,724 thousand and was
primarily due to the amortisation expense for the period
and adverse exchange rate movements, not fully offset
by € 13,813 thousand in investments for the period. The
other intangible assets have a definite useful life and are
consequently amortised as necessary.

ESMA in 2020 in the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic,
the Group can confirm the adequacy of the reported
amounts. The item “Other intangible assets” can be
detailed as follows:

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

40,127
20,515
19,333
12,233
13,491

42,939
22,473
18,286
13,441
14,283

105,698

111,422

average. The capitalised costs for the period, attributable
only to product development projects, amounted to € 6.3
million (€ 8.3 million in 2019) out of a total of € 20.5 million
(€ 22.5 million in 2019) reported in the financial statements.
For additional details on the main initiatives, see the specific
paragraph in the Directors’ Report.
In order to determine the loss in value of capitalised
development costs, in addition to the assessment of
the economic return from each development projects,
the Group arranged to allocate them to the Net
invested capital of the related CGUs and assesses their
recoverability together with the related tangible assets,
determining their value in use with the discounted cash
flow method.

Development costs refer to products for which the return
on investments occurs within a five-year period, on

ASSUMPTIONS RELATED TO THE IMPAIRMENT PLAN
The discounted cash flow analysis on which the test is
based was developed starting from the lockdown period
and the scenarios outlined for the 2021-2023 period,
prepared under the assumption that the Group will
remain fully operational for the foreseeable future. The
main assumptions formulated for the preparation of the
impairment test are the following:
- Net invested capital by CGU (in thousand euro): TC
782,840, BUR 47,321, COM 31,811

IMPAIRMENT TEST RESULTS

- Goodwill by CGU (in thousand euro): TC 267,751, BUR
12,486, COM 5,500
- Trademark by CGU (in thousand euro): TC 28,440
- CAGR (composite annual growth rate of the turnover in
2021-2023) by CGU: TC 2.3%, BUR 1.3%, COM 1.3%
- WACC (weighted average cost of capital) by CGU: TC
6.1%, BUR 6.0%, COM 6.8%
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NOTE 2.2 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
At 31 December 2020, “Property, plant and equipment”
amounted to € 341,333 thousand, down by a net € 28,091
thousand compared to 31 December 2019.
The depreciation expense for the period is recognised under

the appropriate item in the income statement and amounted
to € 59,809 thousand.
Details of and changes in property, plant and equipment are
the following:

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

264,721 -112,937

151,783

Other property,
plant and equipment
Gross
Prov.
Net

354,735 -262,532 92,202 286,171 -192,018

Total
Gross

Prov.

Net

94,152 905,626 -567,485 338,138

Other property,
plant and equipment
Gross
Prov.
Net

Gross

Prov.

Net

As at 31.12.2018

27,845

84,313

-21,223

63,090

55,751

Total changes

8,203

Total changes

28,922

As at 31.12.2019

63,954

As at 31.12.2019

293,642 -132,056 161,586

9,803

49,481

-31,389 18,092

404,216 -293,921 110,295

24,905

-21,516

311,076 -213,534

3,389

103,307

-72,023

31,284

97,542 1,008,933 -639,509 369,424

												
Change in the scope of consolidation
(Kesselheld)
0
0
0
0
0
0
385
-191
194
385
-191
194
Increases
11,064
0
11,064
10,071
0 10,071 26,122
0 26,122
47,257
0
47,257
of which for right of use
10,084
0 10,084
1,356
0
1,356
5,119
0
5,119
16,559
0 16,559
Decreases
-125
-1
-126
-1,120
0 -1,119 -1,847
0 -1,847
-3,092
0 -3,092
Revaluations/Write-downs
0
-74
-74
0
-21
-21
0
2
2
0
-93
-93
Depreciation
0 -19,214 -19,214
0 -16,188 -16,188
0 -24,407 -24,407
0 -59,809 -59,809
of which for right of use
0 -13,553 -13,553
0
-111
-111
0 -10,045 -10,045
0 -23,709 -23,709
Exchange rate effect
-7,654
2,194 -5,460
-11,747
8,101 -3,647 -4,242
2,568
-1,674 -23,643
12,863 -10,780
Other
-6,968
6,327
-642
-2,120
9,485
7,365 -26,927
18,436 -8,491 -36,015
34,248
-1,768
Total changes

-3,684 -10,768

As at 31.12.2020

289,959 -142,824 147,135 399,300 -292,544 106,756 304,567 -217,125
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-14,452

In accordance with the standard IFRS 16, below are the
carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and the relevant
changes during the period:

(in thousand €)
Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
			
Gross
Prov.
Net
Gross
Prov.
Net

												
Change in the scope of consolidation
(Gruppo Calorex)
15,336
-1,424
13,912
31,633 -18,726 12,907
1,507
-782
725
48,475 -20,932 27,544
Increases
12,134
0
12,134
10,525
0 10,525 36,669
0 36,669
59,328
0 59,328
of which for right of use
9,503
0
9,503
25
0
25 14,572
0 14,572
24,100
0 24,100
Decreases
-1,246
307
-939
824
165
989
-2,119
237 -1,882
-2,541
708
-1,833
Revaluations/Write-downs
121
0
121
32
-13
19
0
0
0
153
-13
140
Depreciation
0 -18,181 -18,181
0 -15,674 -15,674
0 -24,295 -24,295
0 -58,150 -58,150
of which for right of use
0 -12,657 -12,657
0
-202
-202
0
-9,843 -9,843
0 -22,702 -22,702
Exchange rate effect
4,260
-1,236
3,024
2,924
-1,972
952
2,049
-1,057
991
9,232
-4,265
4,967
Other
-1,682
1,415
-267
3,544
4,831
8,375 -13,202
4,382 -8,820 -11,340
10,628
-712
-19,119

the increase in property, plant and equipment for € 194
thousand. This refers primarily to assets used in the
performance of normal production activities measured
overall at fair value as at the acquisition date.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(in thousand €)
Land and buildings
Plant and machinery
			
Gross
Prov.
Net
Gross
Prov.
Net
As at 31.12.2018

The net decline was largely attributable to the depreciation
expense for the period, totalling € 59,809 thousand, only
partly offset by € 47,257 thousand in investments.
Another factor was the translation of the assets held by
foreign subsidiaries into euro: while this had resulted in a €
4,967 thousand revaluation at 31 December 2019, in 2020
it led to a major € 10,780 thousand write-down.
The change in the consolidation scope contributed to

-4,916

1,377

-3,539

-6,509

-3,591 -10,100
87,443

-15,108

-11,552

44,199

717

-302

415

-9,370

18,476

Total

												
Change in the scope of consolidation
(Calorex Group)
2,916
-315
2,602
0
0
0
0
0
0
2,916
-315
2,602
Increases
9,503
0
9,503
25
0
25 14,572
0 14,572
24,100
0 24,100
Decreases
-1,858
912
-947
-13
5
-8
-811
661
-151
-2,683
1,578
-1,105
Revaluations/Write-downs
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
Depreciation
0 -12,657 -12,657
0
-202
-202
0
-9,843 -9,843
0 -22,702 -22,702
Exchange rate effect
986
-168
818
4
-3
1
554
-186
368
1,543
-356
1,187
Other
-3,344
1,169
-2,175
-144
144
0 -2,059
2,059
0
-5,546
3,371
-2,175
-11,059
-22,611

-2,856

-128

-56

-184

12,255

-7,309

4,946

41,343

589

-357

232

40,101

-16,679

23,422

20,330

-18,424

1,906

104,643 -39,647

64,998

											
Increases
10,084
0 10,084
1,356
0
1,356
5,119
0
5,119
16,559
0 16,559
Decreases
0
0
0
0
0
0
-974
0
-974
-974
0
-974
Revaluations/Write-downs
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
Depreciation
0 -13,553 -13,553
0
-111
-111
0 -10,045 -10,045
0 -23,709 -23,709
Exchange rate effect
-2,059
667
-1,392
-4
1
-3
-334
169
-165
-2,397
837
-1,560
Other
-6,566
4,754
-1,812
-66
64
-2 -2,277
2,249
-28
-8,909
7,067
-1,842
Total changes

1,459

-8,132

-6,673

1,286

-46

1,240

1,534

-7,627

-6,093

4,279

-15,805

-11,526

										
As at 31.12.2020
65,413 -30,743 34,670
1,875
-403
1,472
41,635 -24,306 17,329 108,922 -55,452

53,472

-12,982 -28,091

993,824 -652,491 341,333
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In order to recognise any impairment loss of tangible
assets, in the presence of impairment indicators, the
Group attributes these assets to the Net invested capital
of the related CGUs and assesses their recoverability
by determining their value in use with the discounted

cash flows method. The item “Other property, plant and
equipment “amounted to € 87,443 thousand, down by €
10,100 thousand compared with 31 December 2019.

NOTES 2.4 – DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
“Deferred tax assets and liabilities” show a net positive balance of € 26,154 thousand, with an overall positive change of
€ 8,463 thousand compared with the figure at 31 December 2019.

The breakdown is detailed below:

OTHER PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (in thousand €)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Industrial and commercial equipment
Means of transport
Furniture and office equipment
EDP machinery
Assets under construction
Other property, plant and equipment

39,595
17,542
3,259
3,413
19,101
4,533

45,312
23,287
3,685
4,011
15,749
5,498

Total

87,443

97,542

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (in thousand €)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Product warranty provision
Provision for other risks and charges
Employee benefits
Inventory write-down
Property, plant and equipment
Losses
Other

5,698
12,694
9,281
1,708
1,192
6,190
21,540

5,356
12,610
10,509
1,913
1,770
3,095
14,855

Total

58,304

50,107

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Product warranty provision
Provision for other risks and charges
Employee benefits
Property, plant and equipment
Assets from Acquisitions
Other

1,085
3,168
1,578
7,793
4,705
13,820

1,122
3,256
1,753
9,790
6,198
10,298

Total

32,150

32,416

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (in thousand €)

NOTE 2.3 – INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
At 31 December 2020, there were no investments in associates.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
On 17 April 2020, the Ariston Thermo Group acquired
80% of Kesselheld GmbH, with put and call options over
the remaining 20%. Kesselheld GmbH specialises in the
installation and maintenance of heating systems.
A comparison of the overall acquisition cost to the fair
value of the assets acquired gave rise to a €4.8 million
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difference that was allocated to goodwill.
In the period between the acquisition date and the end
of the reporting period, the company has contributed
to the income statement of the Ariston Thermo Group
with € 6,367 thousand in revenue.

The effect of deferred tax assets and liabilities on equity rose overall by an amount of € 7,463 thousand and was due to a
range of temporary differences.
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NOTE 2.5 – FINANCIAL ASSETS
“Financial assets” amounted to € 3,878 thousand at 31
December 2020, up by € 507 thousand compared to
2019. This item mainly consists of the value of “Other
investments” held for the medium/long term, measured
at fair value, since they are mainly classified as “Debit
instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)”.
The increase of € 320 thousand during the period is due in

NOTE 2.8 – INVENTORIES
part to the subscription, by the parent company Ariston
Thermo Holding SpA, of further equity investment in an
“Investment company in risk capital (SICAR) provision”
specialising in interventions in sectors where the Group
operates and in part to the impact of the provision's
measurement in accordance with IFRS 9.

NOTE 2.6 – NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS
“Non-current financial assets” of € 5,127 thousand related
to liquidity against contractual commitments towards
third-party shareholders arising from the acquisition of

the American HTP Comfort Solutions LLC (now Ariston
Thermo USA LLC) and the acquisition of the German
Kesselheld GmbH.

NOTE 2.7 – OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
“Other non-current assets” includes primarily the
security deposits due beyond the year and other assets
with a financial impact spreading beyond one year. At 31
December 2020, the item amounted to € 7,795 thousand,

up compared with the € 6,208 thousand of 2019. The
increase was largely related to regional government
grants receivable to promote new investments in
technological research and development.

Following is the composition of “Inventories” at 31 December 2020, net of the obsolete stock provision.

INVENTORIES

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Raw materials
Work in progress and semi-finished goods
Finished goods and goods for resale

77,534
9,936
178,020

79,182
10,327
186,435

Total

265,490

275,943

(in thousand €)

Gross value of inventories, at 31 December 2020, amounted
to € 302,979 thousand (€ 313,659 thousand at 31 December
2019), whereas the provision amounted to € 37,489
thousand (€ 37,716 thousand at 31 December 2019).
The net decline in inventories in 2020, totalling € 10,453
thousand, was the result of both the revision of production
planning in response to the deep slump in demand induced
by Covid-19 during the year and the negative exchange
rate effect. The provision set up for obsolete or slow-

OBSOLETE STOCK
PROVISION
(in thousand €)

As at 31.12.2019
Increases
Decreases
Release
Exchange rate effect
Other
Total changes
As at 31.12.2020

ARISTON
NET
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HOME GETS SMARTER,
LIFE GETS SIMPLER.

Connectivity:
home gets smarter,
life gets simpler.

moving stock is substantially in line with previous year. The
obsolescence risk is measured taking into account the stock
rotation, calculated monthly as the ratio of inventories
to consumption over the last twelve months, and the
product life cycle. On the basis of these two parameters,
impairment percentages are applied which increase in
proportion to the estimated risk.
The change in the obsolete stock provision was as follows:

Raw
materials

Work in progress
and semi-finished
goods

Finished goods
and goods
for resale

Total

8,113

1,076

28,528

37,716

5,190
-2,785
-1,751
-228
0

830
-40
-382
-15
0

9,757
-2,605
-7,482
-784
66

15,778
-5,430
-9,614
-1,027
66

426

394

-1,047

-228

8,539

1,470

27,480

37,489

It should be noted that the item “Release” includes the
income following reversal of the provisions previously
recognised, whose reasons for being created have ceased
to exist.

The item “Other” shows primarily the reclassifications.
The recognition of inventories according to the weighted
average cost method does not show any significant
differences compared with a valuation at current costs.
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NOTE 2.9 – TRADE RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables amounted to € 227,766 thousand, net of
a bad debt provision of € 18,787 thousand.
Compared with 31 December 2019, the net balance
shows a € 9,852 thousand decrease in absolute values.
This decrease was attributable to the strong collection
performance, which caused days sales outstanding to
improve across all the Group's areas in the second half of
the year.
The incidence, in percentage, of trade receivables on
the turnover of the last 12 months was equal to 13.7%
compared with 13.6% recorded at 31 December 2019.

The bad debt provision of € 18,787 thousand shows a net
decrease by € 1,117 thousand compared with 31 December
2019, due to a significant year-on-year decline in past
due receivables thanks to the more stringent debt
management and collection policy, as well as certain
drawdowns as the Group wrote off non-performing loans
confirmed to be no longer recoverable.

The overall € 3,886 thousand reduction was attributable
to the item “Other ST tax receivables”, which in 2020 was
mainly affected by the refund of the excess estimated

NOTE 2.11 – CURRENT FINANCIAL ASSETS

Short term

Medium/long-term

Total

11,619

8,284

19,904

At 31 December 2020, the item “Current financial assets”
amounted to € 10,000 thousand, down from € 6,022
thousand at the end of 2019. These consist primarily of
short-term bank notes or similar tradable instruments
held by subsidiaries in China, issued and backed by leading
domestic banks and used in commercial transactions
with customers and suppliers in order to settle supply
agreements. The decline compared to 31 December 2019
was mainly attributable to the contraction in the so-called
bank notes in the portfolio of the Chinese subsidiaries
as a result of the lower sales generated in 2020, largely
because of Covid-19. The item “Current financial assets”

Increases
Decreases
Release
Exchange rate effect
Other

1,850
-795
-484
-392
917

321
-1,210
-351
-162
-811

2,171
-2,005
-835
-553
106

NOTE 2.12 – OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

Total changes

1,096

-2,213

-1,116

As at 31.12.2020

12,716

6,071

18,787

At 31 December 2020, the provision was deemed to be
appropriate for the estimated losses from unsecured or
in litigation receivables. Following are the changes in the
bad debt provision:

BAD DEBT PROVISION
(in thousand €)

As at 31.12.2019

The item “Other” includes primarily the reclassifications made for the period in order to ensure the correct recognition
of receivables subject to special valuation, such as those in legal proceedings or in litigation.

NOTE 2.10 –TAX RECEIVABLES
The item “Tax receivables” includes primarily the amounts
due to the companies of the Group from the taxation
authorities in several countries where the Group operates.

TAX RECEIVABLES (in thousand €)

At 31 December 2020, the item amounted to € 12,121
thousand versus € 16,007 thousand in 2019, mainly due to:

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Other ST tax receivables
Tax receivables for taxes paid in excess
Tax receivables for receivables from the Parent company

8,168
1,958
1,995

12,643
2,081
1,283

Total

12,121

16,007
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tax payments made in 2019 by the French subsidiaries.
The item does not include deferred taxes that are handled
separately.

included also the positive fair value measurement, as at
the reporting date, of derivative financial instruments
used to hedge exchange rates, amounting to € 504
thousand, and commodities, totalling € 1,587 thousand.
The change in commodity, foreign exchange and interest
rates hedges was offset by the change in the underlying
hedged item. The fair value measurement of the derivative
instruments has a direct contra-entry in the equity
reserve related to the cash flow hedge for a total of € 1,132
thousand. For a more detailed explanation of hedging
instruments, see section on the instruments for financial
risk management.

“Other current assets” amounted to € 37,087 thousand versus € 32,212 thousand at 31 December 2019. The main items are:

OTHER CURRENT ASSETS (in thousand €)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Advances to suppliers
Receivables from employees
Indirect tax receivables
Other receivables

4,396
677
12,296
19,718

6,163
652
13,933
11,464

Total

37,087

32,212

The € 4,875 thousand increase in “Other current assets”
was essentially due to the € 1,767 thousand reduction in
“Advances to suppliers” and € 1,637 thousand decrease
in “Indirect tax receivables”, largely offset by the € 8,254
thousand rise in “Other current receivables”. This was
largely driven by the Ecobonus tax credits purchased
during the reporting period from counterparties that had

previously obtained them as a result of energy efficiency
or energy saving projects, falling within the scope of
Article 14 of Italian Decree-Law no. 63/2013 and Article 16
bis of Italian Presidential Decree 917 of 1986 (“Ecobonus
Projects”), carried out by using products purchased from
a reseller and provided to the latter by Ariston Thermo
Group companies.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION - LIABILITIES

NOTE 2.13 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
“Cash and cash equivalents”, amounting to € 452,458 thousand as at the end of 2020, are represented almost entirely by bank
and postal account deposits, as shown in the following table:

NOTE 3.1 – EQUITY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (in thousand €)

The total consolidated equity at 31 December 2020
amounted to € 446,517 thousand, down compared with
€ 522,483 thousand at 31 December 2019.

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

Bank and postal deposits
Cash on hand

448,957
3,501

311,847
1,499

The overall change, as already explained in the Directors’
Report, is the result of the algebraic sum of items of
opposite signs, such as:

Total

452,458

313,346

- the increase in the Group’s profit for the period,
amounting to € 97 million;

The item “Bank and postal deposits” is primarily
represented by credit balances on current accounts and
short term deposits held at the banks used by the Group.

because of € 170,000 thousand in new short-term lines
of credit taken out to deal with potential liquidity stress
events caused by the Covid-19 emergency.

Compared to 31 December 2019, the net balance of cash
and cash equivalents was up € 139,112 thousand, largely

The amount of cash with a pre-determined use is not
significant.

NOTE 2.14 – ASSETS HELD FOR SALE
At 31 December 2020, the item “Assets held for sale”
amounted to € 304 thousand, down by € 73 thousand
compared with 31 December 2019. The item includes the
assets held for sale by the Romanian subsidiary, recognised

at the lower of the carrying value and the market value (net
of sale costs). These assets derive from calling upon secured
guarantees on trade receivables held by the companies and
not collected at their natural expiry date.

- the reserve for conversion of financial statements
into the appropriate currency, used to recognise
the differences in exchange rates deriving from the
translation of the financial statements of foreign
subsidiaries, not included in the Euro area, which has had
a negative impact of € 23 million;
- the exchange rate differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that are part of the hedge
of a net investment in a foreign operation, in accordance
with IAS 21, resulting in a € 17 million negative impact in
the reporting period;
- the decrease associated with the € 129 million dividend
payout, including € 100.2 million approved by the
Ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting on 15 December 2020;
- the negative change due to the remeasurement of the
pension provisions, for € 1.9 million, mainly following
changes in the financial assumptions, recognised in
equity in compliance with revised IAS 19.
The “Share capital” of the Parent Company at 31 December
2020, fully subscribed and paid up, is represented by no.
41,845,000 ordinary shares of € 1 each. At the approval
date of these financial statements, the Group owns
13,451,850 treasury shares, representing 32.15% of the
share capital. During 2020, no further treasury shares
were purchased.
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The “Cash flow hedge reserve” shows a change due to
the recognition of cash flows deriving from instruments,
which, pursuant to the provisions of IAS 39, are recognised
under “future cash flows hedging instruments”. This
reserve corresponds to the fair value of existing derivative
hedging agreements in effect at 31 December 2020. It is
negative for € 1,132 thousand, substantially in line with the
previous year, when it was negative for € 1,245 thousand.
For further details concerning the change in the hedging
values occurring in 2020, see the note 3.11 - “Current
financial liabilities” and the note 2.11 - “Current financial
assets”.
The “Remeasurement reserve” (related to defined benefit
pension plans), with a negative € 29,880 thousand,
reflects the net effect on actuarial gains (losses) as of 1
January 2012 from the application of the amendment to
IAS 19 - Employee Benefits. This item also includes the
effect on equity of actuarial gains and losses accrued
after 1 January 2012 and recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income. The reserve
remained negative and fell by € 1.9 million from 2019,
following changes in the financial assumptions (see also
the note 3.4 - “Provisions for employee benefits”).
The “Reserve for the adjustment to fair value of financial
assets”, which was positive at € 626 thousand, included
the fair value measurement at 1 January 2018 recognised
under equity of financial assets classified as debit
instruments at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
For additional details about the changes occurring during
the period in the single items of equity, see the financial
statements, in particular the “Consolidated statement of
changes in equity”.
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RECONCILIATION WITH THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE PARENT COMPANY

NOTE 3.3 – NON-CURRENT PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

The comparison between the equity that includes the profit (loss) of the year, resulting from the statutory financial
statements of the Parent Company Ariston Thermo Holding SpA, and the corresponding consolidated data, is the following:

Current and non-current “Provisions for risks and charges”
totalled € 83,103 thousand, up by € 7,184 thousand compared
with the previous year.

RECONCILIATION STATEMENT

PROVISIONS FOR
Product Allowance for
supplementary
Other
Total
RISKS AND CHARGES 				
warranty
indemnity
installation
provisions

Agent

31 Dec. 2020
Profit for
the period

31 Dec. 2019
Equity

234,941

55,483

306,896

53,596

12,389

358

18,463

787

140,349

25,535

154,018

30,998

Eliminations of intragroup gains (-)
and losses (+) included in inventory

-8,600

-294

-8,727

-1,840

Reversal of intragroup revaluations (-),
and write-downs (+), capital gains (-)
and losses (+), from consolidated
subsidiaries and other adjustments

67,438

15,605

51,833

5,476

(in thousand €)

Separate Financial Statements of
Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
Alignment with IAS/IFRS accounting
standards of the Parent Company
Consolidation of the subsidiaries
and associates’ results

31 Dec. 2020
Equity

31 Dec. 2019
Profit for
the period

			

provision

provision

2,408

50,973

5,522

17,016

75,918

of which:					
current
0
17,008
2,169
10,309
29,487
non-current
2,408
33,965
3,352
6,707
46,432
Change in the scope of consolidation						
(Kesselheld)
0
71
0
0
71
Increases
295
8,125
3,374
9,844
21,638
Decreases
0
-4,108
-2,837
-2,351
-9,296
Other
-104
-5,460
-129
465
-5,229
Total changes
As at 31.12.2020

190

-1,372

408

7,958

7,184

2,598

49,601

5,930

24,975

83,103

of which:					
current
0
16,830
2,132
12,313
31,276
non-current
2,598
32,770
3,798
12,661
51,827

The paid dividends are:

(in thousand €)

2020

2019

2018

Dividends paid during the period

128,621(*)

28,393

28,393

(*) including € 28.4 million in regular dividends authorised upon the approval of the 2019 financial statements and € 100.2 million
in special dividends.

As at the reporting date, there were no dividends approved by the shareholders’ meeting yet to be paid.

NOTES 3.2 – DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Comments on “Deferred tax liabilities” are included in the note 2.4 - “Deferred tax assets and liabilities”, to which reference
should be made.
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(in thousand €)

As at 31.12.2019

Consolidated Financial Statements of					
Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
446,517
96,687
522,483
89,017

DIVIDENDS

The following table shows the composition of this item and
the changes occurring during the year:

“Current provisions for risks and charges” amounted to
€ 31,276 thousand versus € 29,487 thousand at 31
December 2019, whereas “Non-current provisions for risks
and charges” amounted to € 51,827 thousand versus
€ 46,432 thousand in the previous year.

occurred during the period, relating to the warranty
on installations as well as a negative exchange rate
effect, which impacted for - € 2.8 million. The inclusion
of the German entity Kesselheld GmbH in the scope of
consolidation had a € 71 thousand impact.

More specifically, the “Agent supplementary indemnity
provision” recognises the accruals for covering
indemnities that may be due to agents at their
employment termination. This has not substantially
changed compared with December 2019.

The “First installation provision” represents the estimated
expense that the Group must bear for interventions of
this type on the products. The provision shows a limited
increase of € 408 thousand compared to the previous year.

The “Product warranty provision”, which represents
estimated costs to be borne for technical support of
sold products under warranty, is appropriate in order to
hedge the related risk. The method used to determine this
provision is based on historical/statistical data concerning
warranty work performed, costs incurred for such work
and products sold on the market which are still under
warranty at the evaluation date. The provision saw a
net € 1,372 thousand decrease—because of the changes

The item “Other provisions” includes estimated future
charges for corporate restructuring, pending legal
disputes and other risks that it was deemed necessary to
cover with appropriate provisions which were estimated
based on the available information. The net € 8 million
increase referred to provisions for legal disputes,
restructuring, taxes, and other risks. The item “Other”
includes the effect of exchange rates for the period,
releases and reclassifications.
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NOTE 3.4 – PROVISIONS FOR EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The Group has two defined benefit plans for employees;
the employee severance indemnity, due by Italian
companies to their employees in compliance with laws in
force until 31 December 2015, and other current pension
plans mostly in Switzerland and Germany.
Until 31 December 2006, in Italy, the employee severance
indemnity provision (Trattamento di fine rapporto, TFR)
was considered a defined benefit plan. The regulation
of this provision was amended by Law no. 296 of 27
December 2006 (“2007 Financial Law”) and subsequent
Decrees and Regulations issued in the first few months
of 2007. Given these amendments and in particular in
reference to companies with at least 50 employees, this
is now considered a defined benefit plan only for the
portions of benefits accrued before 1 January 2007 (and
not yet paid as at the end of the reporting period, while
subsequent to this date, it is comparable to a defined
contribution plan.)
IAS 19 expressly envisages the adoption of the “projected
unit credit method”, which is based on quantifying the
actuarial liability by considering only the service accrued
at the evaluation date, in accordance with the actuarial
approach of so-called “accrued benefits”. In particular,
in the projected unit credit method, this characteristic is
integrated with the forecast of the salary trend up to the
time that the TFR will probably be paid; the consequent
liability is then re-proportioned on the basis of the ratio
between the years worked up to the assessment period
and the total service at the probable date of payment of
the TFR (should the right be already completely accrued at
the evaluation date, there will be then no re-proportioning
of the liability).
Since as from 1 January 2007, for employees belonging
to companies with at least 50 employees, no amount is
any longer internally provisioned, but the amounts of
TFR accrued subsequent to that period are assigned to
the Complementary Pension Fund or to the INPS (Italian
National Social Security Institute) Treasury Fund and the
company remains solely responsible for the duty of reevaluating the amount accrued at 31 December 2006, the
actuarial calculation must estimate, in correspondence to
every possible event which leads to the payment of TFR
to the worker, the associated probability, the consequent
amount paid and the years of service corresponding to
the payment date. The latter, in particular, is a random
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variable that can take on any value between initial service
and the maximum service that the worker can perform in
correspondence with the retirement, with probabilities
that can be deduced from the economic and demographic
technical bases used in the evaluation. For the related
actuarial assessments, the demographic and economicfinancial assumptions set out in the attached table have
been adopted.
The pension funds of the German companies are
regulated on a pension system based on three pillars.
The “first pillar” (state and obligatory RV-Beitrag) is a
defined contribution pension plan, established by the
social pension insurance, based on the pay-as-yougo principle and related to the income limit. It covers
employees in the public and private sector and some
categories of self-employed workers and is mainly
financed through social security contributions paid by
workers and employers in equal measure and by taxes.
The “second pillar” (BAV: Betriebliche Altersvorsorge) is
represented by voluntary supplementary pensions on
a pay-as-you-go basis, and thus with defined benefits
falling on both the worker and the company.
The “third pillar” is a voluntary, private savings plan in
funds or insurance companies which is encouraged
through tax incentives and subsidies.
There are different types of BAV pension plans that qualify
as defined benefit plans (mainly: BVO 74/79, based on
employees’ pension commitments; BVO 79, based on
one-off payments; BASIS Versorgung, based on direct
insurance; and ZUSATZ Versorgung, based on employee
pension commitments), and the measurement is split
between pensioners, early leavers, and active employees.
Pension plans have developed differently in the Group’s
companies in Germany and there are currently two
different pension plans considered as defined benefits
plans:
• the so-called BVO 74/79 which covers all the people who
were working on 1 March 1979 and up to 31 December 1994;
• the so-called “1995 Pension” which was applied for all
employees, including those who benefited from the BVO
74/79, as from 1 January 1995 to date.
For all employees who started to work in the period March
1979-December 1994 a different defined contribution

pension plan (OLS 79) was applied until December 1994.
For the related actuarial assessments, the demographic
and economic-financial assumptions set out in the
attached table have been adopted.

there is currently no need for recapitalisation measures.
For the related actuarial assessments, the demographic
and economic-financial assumptions set out in the
attached table have been adopted.

The pension funds of the Swiss companies are regulated
on the basis on three pillars:

In relation to the recognition of the Group’s pension funds:

• Public Pillar (AHV/IV): defined benefits, based on the
pay-as-you-go principle, regulated at federal level and
managed by a public fund (AVS-Fund), obligatory and aimed
at covering basic needs;
• Occupational Pillar (BVG): based on the funded principle,
regulated at federal level, quasi-obligatory, with the
collective financing principle, but with private cover and
management risk;
• Private Savings: at the discretion of each resident, in
various forms (cash, securities, real estate, personal pension
plans, life insurance).
The pension funds set up pursuant to the second pillar
and which affect the Group more directly must be legally
independent from the sponsor company, segregated
in terms of equity and independently managed in the
legal form of cooperative foundations or associations
registered with a regulatory authority. The administrative
bodies of such associations consist of an equal number
of representatives from the sponsor companies and
employees with equal voting rights, are supported by a
management consultant recognised by the law and by
qualified actuarial experts, and are subject to supervision by
the regional authorities.
The funds are financed through the contribution of
the sponsor company of the employee. The sponsor’s
contribution must be at least 50% (obligatory minimum
by law) and the contributions vary from pension fund to
pension fund.
The contributions and the return on the market of the
invested capital contribute to defining the benefits. A
guarantee is envisaged for a minimum nominal return and
a minimum interest rate on the amount paid in. Should
it be underfunded, which is not the case of the Group’s
pension funds in Switzerland, it is the responsibility of the
sponsor company which is obligated by law to recapitalise
within a reasonable timeframe, not exceeding 10 years.
In the current situation of the Group’s pension funds in
Switzerland, the investment risks are met by fluctuation
reserves (i.e. by assets which exceed the actuarial liabilities)
and the level of actuarial cover is over 100%; therefore,

- current employment-related costs have been recognised
in the income statement, under Personnel costs;
- financial charges on the assumed obligations and the
financial gains expected on the plan assets are recognised
under financial income and expense;
- actuarial gains and losses are recognised in a specific
valuation reserve under equity.
The plan assets do not include the Group’s treasury shares,
nor property occupied or used by the Group. The expected
return on plan assets is defined on the basis of the current
market conditions.
As from 1 January 2013, with the adoption of revised IAS
19 - Employee Benefits, which removed the option of
deferring the recognition of actuarial gains and losses
using the corridor method, the Group restated the
provisions for employee benefits from the end of 2012,
transposing the deficits which were not recognised
previously for around € 41 million.
In 2019, the remeasurement of net liabilities emerging
in the period amounted to a negative € 2,749 thousand
against the negative € 3,829 thousand of the previous
year. This trend was affected mainly by the change in
the financial assumptions used, especially at the Swiss
subsidiaries, as shown in the description below.
The item “Foreign exchange gains (losses)” shows the
differences in exchange rates due to the revaluation of the
Swiss franc compared with the consolidation currency.
The following table shows the changes in the provisions
for employee benefits that occurred during the period:
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EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(in thousand €)

Switzerland

Germany

Amounts recognised in the income statement		
Current service cost
-4,822 -3,716
-374
Past service cost
0
1,131
0
Financial expense for obligations
-368 -1,145
-310
Expected return on plan assets
368
1,140
0
Net actuarial losses for the year
0
0
-193
Curtailment, settlement, plan amendment
0
0
0
Other pension cost
-242
-238
0
Net periodical cost
-5,065 -2,829
-877
Group obligations
Current value of defined benefit plans
Fair value of plan assets
TOTAL
Unrecognised plan assets
Unrecognised current and past service cost
Unrecognised actuarial gains and losses
TOTAL
Changes in obligations during the year
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD
Change in the scope of consolidation
Current service
Past service
Financial expense
Curtailment, settlement, plan amendment
Gains (losses) resulting from experience
Actuarial gains (losses) resulting from changes
in demographic assumptions
Actuarial gains (losses) resulting from changes
in financial assumptions
Foreign exchange gains (losses)
Paid benefits
Other
Total change
END OF THE PERIOD
Changes in assets during the year
BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD
Expected return on plan assets
Company’s contributions
Employees’ contributions
Curtailment, settlement, plan amendment
Payments
Actuarial gains (losses) from plan assets
Foreign exchange gains (losses)
Asset ceiling
Other
Total change
END OF THE PERIOD

Other

Total

-397
0
-524
0
-159
0
0
-1,080

-60
2
-115
0
0
0
0
-174

0
0
-290
0
0
0
0
-290

-301
0
-227
61
0
0
0
-467

-211
0
-263
92
0
0
0
-382

-5,558
2
-1,020
429
-193
0
-242
-6,583

-4,324
1,131
-2,222
1,232
-159
0
-238
-4,581

-219,824-213,089 -30,181 -30,044 -14,990 -15,346
218,689 210,068
-49
0
0
0
-1,134 -3,021 -30,230 -30,044 -14,990 -15,346
-4,145 -1,507
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-5,280 -4,528 -30,230 -30,044 -14,990 -15,346

-8,170 -8,164 -273,165 -266,643
407
481 219,047 210,549
-7,763 -7,683 -54,118 -56,094
0
0
-4,145
-1,507
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-7,763 -7,683 -58,263 -57,601

-213,089 -189,736 -30,044 -28,094
0
0
0
0
-4,822 -3,716
-374
-397
0
1,159
0
0
-368 -1,145
-310
-524
0
2,177
0
0
763
364
-132
231

-8,164
0
-301
0
-227
0
-107

-2,434

0

0

-37

-15,346 -15,275
0
-310
-60
0
2
0
-115
-290
0
0
-31
593
0

0

-3,431 -16,504
-1,100 -2,888
-367
-801
-989 -7,461
0
0
0
0
8,704 5,728
1,605
1,777
928
508
-4,158 -3,955
174
-112
0
228
-6,735 -23,353
-137 -1,950
356
-72
-219,824-213,089 -30,181 -30,044 -14,990 -15,346
210,068 184,195
368
1,140
5,085 5,063
3,961 3,957
0 -2,177
-8,701 -5,728
6,933 16,708
1,016
7,155
0
0
-41
-244
8,621 25,873
218,689 210,068

Remeasurements dell’obbligazione
INIZIO PERIODO - Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) -18,223
Other changes
0
Actuarial gains (losses) following adoption of IAS 19R
0
Actuarial gains (losses) resulting from changes
in demographic assumptions
-2,434
Actuarial gains (losses) resulting from changes
in financial assumptions
-3,431
Gains (losses) resulting from experience
763
Actuarial gains (losses) from plan assets
6,933
Asset ceiling
-2,628
Total change
-797
END OF THE PERIOD
-19,020
Plan assets structure
Shares
Securities
Cash
Other assets
END OF THE PERIOD

Italy

31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019 31.12.2020 31.12.2019

21.0%
62.3%
1.4%
15.4%
100%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-49
-49
-49

49
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-49
-49
0

-17,284
0
0

-10,725
0
0

-8,031
0
0

0

0

-37

-16,504
364
16,708
-1,507
-939
-18,223
21.0%
62.3%
1.4%
15.4%
100%

-1,100 -2,888
-132
231
0
0
0
0
-1,232 -2,694
-11,957 -10,725
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

-3,675 -3,466
0
0
0
0
0

0

-367
-801
-31
593
0
0
0
0
-399
-209
-4,073 -3,675
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

-2

0

-2,436

-37

514 210,549 184,758
92
429
1,232
0
5,085
5,063
0
3,961
3,957
0
0
-2,177
-151
-8,774 -5,879
3
6,937
16,711
0
1,016
7,155
0
0
0
23
-156
-270
-33
8,499
25,791
481 219,048 210,549

-2,612 -2,624
0
0
0
498
-2

0

-217
-682
-107
193
5
3
0
0
-321
12
-2,933 -2,612
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

-35,235
0
0

-31,405
0
498

-2,436

-37

-5,116 -20,875
493
1,381
6,938
16,710
-2,628
-1,507
-2,749 -3,829
-37,984 -35,235
21.0%
62.3%
1.4%
15.4%
100%

21.0%
62.3%
1.4%
15.4%
100%

Assumptions used											
Discount rate
0.10% 0.20%
0.75%
1.05%
0.34% 0.67%
0.35% 0.65%
Inflation rate
0.75% 0.75%
1.50%
1.50%
1.00% 1.00%
1.70%
1.70%
Future salary raises
0.75% 0.75%
1.75%
1.75%
2.00% 2.00%
2.00% 2.00%
Future pension raises
0.00% 0.00%
1.50%
1.50%
2.25% 2.25%
1.00% 1.00%
Sensitivity analysis
Discount rate - % change
Discount rate - Obligation value
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with an increase of € 662 thousand compared with the net
liability of € 57,601 thousand at 31 December 2019.

NOTE 3.5 – NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
At 31 December 2020, there were no “Non-current financial liabilities”.

NOTE 3.6 – NON-CURRENT LOANS
Medium/long-term “Non-current loans” amounted to € 389,874 thousand versus € 434,396 thousand at 31 December
2019, and were as follows:

Current
2020

-5,601 -266,643 -238,705
-1,976
0 -2,286
-211
-5,558 -4,324
0
2
1,159
-263
-1,020
-2,222
0
0
2,177
193
493
1,381

-217
-682
-5,116 -20,875
2
0
-988
-7,461
545
403
11,783
8,417
302
-27
-3,682 -3,866
-6 -2,563
-6,522 -27,938
-8,170 -8,164 -273,165 -266,643
481
61
0
0
0
-74
5
0
0
-66
-74
407

The liability recognised under the “Provision for employee
benefits”, at 31 December 2020, stood at € 58,263 thousand,

Current
2019

< 1 year

< 1 year

TOTAL 		188,009

22,305

Non
current
2020
total

Non
current
2019
total

Total
2020

Total
2019

Fair
Value
2020

389,874		
389,874

434,396

577,883

456,701

577,883

Non
current
2020
< 5 years

Compared to 31 December 2019, total loans were
up € 121,182 thousand, largely because of € 170,000
thousand in new lines of credit taken out to deal with
potential liquidity stress events caused by the Covid-19
emergency. Meanwhile, in November 2020, the Group
repaid the Belgian associate's US Private Placement note,
amounting to € 37,064 thousand.
Overall, “Non-current loans” were down € 44,522
thousand from 31 December 2019. This was largely due to
the reclassification of the amount due within 12 months
on existing loans to “current loans”, mitigated by the
increase in medium/long-term debt resulting from the
new loans taken out in 2020.

EXPIRY DATES 2020

The balance of “Current loans” amounted to € 188,009
thousand, up € 165,704 thousand compared with 31
December 2019. The increase was essentially attributable
to the reclassification of € 113,000 thousand in the shortterm portion of existing loans and € 55,000 thousand in
the short-term portion of new loans taken out in 2020.
In accordance with the new standard IFRS 16, below
are the carrying amounts of financial liabilities arising
from right-of-use assets broken down by maturity at 31
December 2020:

0-12 months

2-5 years

>5 years

TOTAL

- non-current loans		

29

8

37

- current loans

19			

19

Total

19

56

(in thousand €)

FINANCIAL PAYABLES

29

8

+ 0,10% + 0,10%
+ 0,5% + 0,5%
+ 0,5% + 0,5% + 0,25% + 0,25%
-3,431 -3,172 -26,804 -26,699 -14,349 -14,681 -2,507 -2,792
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NET FINANCIAL INDEBTEDNESS

NOTE 3.7 – OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Following are the figures of the “Net financial indebtedness” of the Group at 31 December 2020:

“Other non-current liabilities” amounted to € 40,278
thousand versus € 41,626 thousand of the previous year.
These liabilities are represented primarily by debts to
be extinguished beyond the year. “Other non-current
liabilities” largely reflected both the obligations under a
three-year long-term incentive plan, to be awarded to
the Chairman, the CEO, and a group of senior managers,
as well as the fair value of the debt resulting from the

NET FINANCIAL INDEBTEDNESS (in thousand €)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

-462,459
33,337
188,009

-329,368
42,742
22,305

Current net financial indebtedness
Non-current loans
Non-current financial liabilities

-241,113
389,874
0

-264,321
434,396
0

Net financial position (1)

148,761

170,075

Cash and cash equivalents
Current financial liabilities
Current loans

NOTE 3.8 – TRADE PAYABLES
“Trade payables” at 31 December 2020 amounted to
€ 364,061 thousand showing an increase of € 32,933
thousand, compared with 31 December 2019, including
€ 195 thousand attributable to the inclusion of
Kesselheld GmbH in the consolidation area. They are not

Net financial indebtedness
148,761
170,075
in addition, for a correlation with the Group indicators:
Non-current financial assets
-5,127
-3,516
Net Financial Position (NFP)
143,634
166,559
NOTE 3.9 – TAX PAYABLES
		
1) Definition pursuant to Consob Communication DEM/6064293 of 28.07.06 in application of CESR recommendations of 10.02.05.

In preparing the statement of financial indebtedness,
which is a non-IFRS measure, the Group considered
the provisions set out in Consob Communication
DEM/6064293 of 28 July 2006, with the exception that
it included non-current financial assets consisting of
financial receivables. In addition, the Group had € 24.9
million in outstanding debts associated with purchases
of equity interests. Said debts were largely attributable

to the options entered into as part of the acquisitions of
non-controlling interests in subsidiaries.
At 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a negative
Net financial position of € 144 million compared with a
negative balance of € 167 million at 31 December 2019.
For further details on changes in the financial situation,
please refer to the appropriate section of the Directors’
Report on Operations.

measurement of the individual obligations associated
with put and call options on non-controlling interests in
the recently acquired entities, chief among them the USbased HTP Comfort Solutions LLC (now Ariston Thermo
USA LLC), the Danish entity Gastech-Energi A/S, the
Israeli group Atmor Industries Ltd, and the newly acquired
Kesselheld GmbH.

subject to interests and their carrying value is believed
to be close to the fair value at the end of the reporting
period.
Trade payables improved in terms of the average number
of days for payment, which went from 93 to 95 days.

“Tax payables” amounted to € 21,640 thousand versus € 18,741 thousand in 2019.

TAX PAYABLES

(in thousand €)

Income tax payables
Other tax payables
Tax payables due to Group companies
Total

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

8,479
7,156
6,006

6,954
5,862
5,925

21,640

18,741

This item comprises the income tax payables related to foreign companies and the IRES and IRAP tax payables from
Italian companies, as well as “Other tax payables” represented by withholdings for employees, tax withholdings for
remunerations to third parties and other sundry tax payables.

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

105

NOTE 3.10 – CURRENT PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

NOTE 3.13 – OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

This item amounts to € 31,276 thousand and is described in the note 3.3 - “Non-current provisions for risks and charges”,
to which reference should be made.

“Other current liabilities” amounted to € 155,868 thousand, substantially in line with the € 156,148 thousand at 31
December 2019.

NOTE 3.11 – CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2020, “Current financial liabilities” amounted to € 33,337 thousand versus € 42,742 thousand at 31
December 2019.

Advances from customers
Current payables for social security contributions
Current payables due to personnel
Indirect tax payables
Other current payables

Liabilities are the following:

CURRENT FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (in thousand €)

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

(in thousand €)

Total
Bank credit lines
Short term bank loans
Other current financial liabilities

29,641
0
3,696

36,477
3,741
2,523

Total

33,337

42,742

Payables due to banks for short-term loans showed
a € 9,405 thousand decrease essentially due to the
lower drawdown on short-term lines and lines of credit
denominated in foreign currency used to manage
exchange rate risk at the consolidated level. Short-term
uncommitted credit lines amounted to approximately
€ 359 million and are represented almost entirely by
current account credit lines and advances.
The item “Other current financial liabilities” included the
negative fair value measurement, as at the reporting date,

of derivative financial instruments used to hedge interest
rates, totalling € 3,696 thousand. The change in commodity,
foreign exchange and interest rates hedges was offset by
the change in the underlying hedged item. The fair value
measurement of the derivative instruments has a direct
contra-entry in the equity reserve related to the cash flow
hedge for a total of € 1,132 thousand.
For a more detailed explanation of hedging instruments,
see section on the instruments for financial risk
management

NOTE 3.12 – CURRENT LOANS
The balance of “Current loans” amounted to € 188,009
thousand versus € 22,305 thousand at 31 December
2019. The item consists primarily of the short-term
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portion of the medium/long-term bank loans, the
details of which are annexed to the note 3.6 - "Noncurrent loans".

The item “Advances from customers” shows all advances
received from customers for supplies not yet delivered. The
€ 2,392 thousand increase largely referred to the advances
paid on services yet to be completed by the Danish
subsidiary.
“Current payables for social security contributions”
included all relationships that the company is required
to maintain with social security and insurance entities
for its employees and workers with atypical contracts
(parasubordinati). The € 2,248 thousand increase over 31
December 2019 was largely the result of the deferred
payment of such contributions as a result of the regulations
introduced in several countries where the Group operates
in the wake of the Covid-19 pandemic.
“Current payables due to personnel” included the amounts
accrued by personnel and not yet disbursed, up € 5,275
thousand mainly because of the different measurement
of the variable incentives linked to the company's
performance.
The item “Indirect tax payables” includes the VAT payables

31 DEC. 2020

31 DEC. 2019

6,982
16,635
43,251
19,302
69,699

4,590
14,387
37,976
18,714
80,481

155,868

156,148

to tax authorities and was essentially in line with 31
December 2019.
The item “Other current payables” includes mostly
adjustments of costs and revenues for the year in order to
comply with the accrual principle (accruals and deferred
income, also relating to financial liabilities) and the put and
call options arising from purchase agreements that are
to be settled in the near future. In addition, starting from
this year, these include also the amounts due and not paid
to the entities that sold Ariston Thermo Group companies
tax credits relating to energy efficiency or energy saving
projects falling within the scope of Article 14 of Italian
Decree-Law no. 63/2013 and Article 16 bis of Italian
Presidential Decree 917 of 1986 (“Ecobonus Projects”),
carried out by using products purchased from a reseller and
provided to the latter by the Group's companies.
The item showed a net decrease of approximately € 11
million, largely because of the settlement of part of the
commitment under the purchase agreement for HTP
Comfort Solutions LLC, now known as Ariston Thermo USA
LLC.
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GOVERNMENT GRANTS –
INFORMATION UNDER ARTICLE 1,
PARAGRAPHS 125-129 OF LAW NO. 124/2017

NOTE 3.14 – LIABILITIES HELD FOR SALE
There are no “Liabilities held for sale”.

OTHER INFORMATION
COMMITMENTS AND RISKS
The Group reported the following potential liabilities as at the end of the reporting period:

GUARANTEES ISSUED
The sureties issued in favour of third parties amounted to
€ 686 thousand. Third-party assets in deposit accounts
amounted to € 10,573 thousand.

COMMITMENTS
At 31 December 2020, there were no commitments to be
mentioned except for the ones concerning the call and put

options entered into as part of the recent acquisitions and
already accounted for as “Other liabilities”.

LEGAL DISPUTES
Provisions recognised in the financial statements are
deemed as fair in reference to the legal disputes that may
have potential critical outcomes for the Group, also in
terms of the significance of such outcomes.

With respect to the disclosure requirements for
government grants, included in article 1 paragraphs
125-129 of Italian Law no. 124/2017 as revised by article
35 of Italian Law Decree no. 34/2019 (“growth decree”),
which introduced a series of disclosure requirements
for entities that have business dealings with the Public
Administration starting from the year 2018, and based
on the interpretation issued by Assonime with Circular
no. 5 of 22 February 2019 as well as the subsequent Note
prepared jointly by Assonime and the Italian National
Council of Certified Accountants (Consiglio Nazionale dei
Dottori Commercialisti e degli Esperti Contabili, CNDCEC)
to clarify the changes introduced by the “growth decree”,
the Group believes that these provisions do not apply in
cases of:
- subsidies, grants, benefits and aids, the advantages
of which are available to all companies which meet

particular conditions on the basis of predetermined
general criteria (for example, measures envisaged by
ministerial decrees aimed at specific industrial sectors and
aimed at completing activities connected to research and
development projects);
- general measures that can be used by all companies and
which fall within the general structure of the reference
system defined by the State (for example, the mechanism
to facilitate the reinvestment of profits envisaged by the
ACE (Aid to Economic Growth) provision);
- European/non-European public resources.
Considering the above, the Group analysed its situation and
decided to set out in this paragraph the amount received
during 2020 from the subjects indicated in the following
table. This sets out both the amount of the benefits and a
brief description of the reasons behind them.

RECEIVED CONTRIB. (1)
(in euro)

REASON

CUSTOMS AGENCY

43,435

Repayment of customs duties
for iron and steel materials

FONDIRIGENTI

5,306

Financing of training programmes

FONDIMPRESA

17,193

Financing of training programmes

G.M.E. - GESTORE MERCATI ENERGETICI

192,279

Energy efficiency certificates

G.S.E. - GESTORE SERVIZI ENERGETICI

672,868

Renewable electricity production incentive tariff

G.S.E. - GESTORE SERVIZI ENERGETICI

19,385

Sale of electricity dedicated withdrawal agreement

ISSUING ENTITY

TOTAL

950,465

(1) Amounts received or offset in 2020

For State aid and de minimis regulation aid contained in the national State Aid Registry as set out in art. 52 of Law no. 234
of 24 December 2012, reference should be made to the data published in the “Transparency” section of the registry itself.

Elco Trigon XL,
Gas condensing boiler, internal view
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Below are the Group's financial instruments recognised by category and level of confidence of their fair value
measurements at 31 December 2020:

2020			
Notes
(in thousand €)

The financial instruments of the Group, recognised in the financial statements with a similar breakdown at 31 December
2019, are shown in the table below:

CARRYING VALUE PER TYPE					
FAIR VALUE

Fin.Instr. at Fin. Instr.
fair value at fair value
through p&l through OCI

Available
for sale

Loans &
Fin.
receivables Liabilities at
amortised
cost

Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

2019			
Total

Notes
(in thousand €)

CARRYING VALUE PER TYPE					
FAIR VALUE

Fin.Instr. at Fin. Instr.
Fin.
Available Loans &
fair value at fair value for sale receivables Liabilities at
amortised
through p&l through OCI
cost

Measured at : 		 Fair value Fair value Fair value Amortised Amortised
					
cost
cost

Measured at : 		 Fair value Fair value Fair value Amortised Amortised
					
cost
cost

Financial assets
Cash and cash
equivalents		
2.13
Trade receivables		
2.9
Current
financial assets		
2.11
Financial assets		
2.5
Non-current
financial assets		
2.6
Assets held for sale		
2.14

Financial assets
Cash and cash
equivalents		
2.13
Trade receivables		
2.9
Current
financial assets		
2.11
Financial assets		
2.5
Non-current
financial assets		
2.6
Assets held for sale		
2.14

Total			

Total			

0
0

0
0

0
0

452,458
227,766

0 452,458
0 227,766

0
0

0
0

0
0

2,091
0

12
0

7,897
3,878

0
0

10,000
3,878

0
0

2,091
0

0
304

0
0

5,127
0

0
0

0
0

5,127
304

0
0

0
0

304

2,091

5,139

691,999

0 699,533

0

2,091
0

0
0

0
0

0 2,091
0
0
0
304

0
304

304 2,395

Financial liabilities
Trade payables		
3.8
Current
financial liabilities		
3.11
Current loans		
3.12
Non-current
financial liabilities		
3.5
Non-current loans		
3.6

0

0

0

0

364,061 364,061

0

0
0

3,696
0

0
0

0
0

29,641 33,337
188,009 188,009

0 3,696
0
0

0 3,696
0
0

0
0

0
39,428

0
0

0
0
0
0 350,446 389,874

0
0

0
0

Total			

0

43,124

0

0

932,157 975,281

0 3,696

0 3,696

304

-41,033

5,139

691,999 -932,157 -275,748

0 -1,605

304 -1,301

Financial
instruments balance			

0
0

0

0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

313,346
237,618

0
0

608
0

12
0

0
377

0
0

377

Total

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Total

0 313,346
0 237,618

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

15,402
3,371

0
0

16,022
3,371

0
0

608
0

0
0

608
0

3,516
0

0
0

0
0

3,516
377

0
0

0
0

0
377

0
377

608

3,528

569,737

0 574,250

0

608

377

985

0

0

Financial liabilities
Trade payables		
3.8
Current
financial liabilities		
3.11
Current loans		
3.12
Non-current
financial liabilities		
3.5
Non-current loans		
3.-6

0

0

0

0

331,128

331,128

0

0

0
0

2,523
0

0
0

0
0

40,219
22,305

42,742
22,305

0
0

2,523
0

0
0

0
48,809

0
0

0
0

0
0
385,587 434,396

0
0

0
0

Total			

0

51,332

0

0

779,239 830,571

0

2,523

0 2,523

377

-50,724

3,528

0 -1,915

377 -1,538

Financial
instruments balance			

569,737 -779,239 -256,321

0 2,523
0
0
0
0

0
0

Notes:
Level 1: quoted prices in an active market for the asset or liability being measured.
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).
Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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As the above table shows, at the reporting date, there were
no differences between the carrying amounts of financial
instruments and the corresponding fair value. In particular,
among the non-current financial assets, obligations are
mainly stated at fair value. Current and non-current loans
are at both fixed and floating rates and are recognised at
their amortised cost. As already described at point 3.11
and point 2.11 of these notes, “Current financial liabilities”
and “Current financial assets” include the fair values, at
the end of the reporting period, of the derivative financial
instruments used to hedge the purchase of commodities,

which were positive for € 1,587 thousand, of those used
to hedge exchange rates, which were positive for € 504
thousand, and of those used to hedge interest rates, which
were negative for € 3,696 thousand. For details on these
transactions, see section “Hedging instruments”.
The Group is exposed to operations-related financial risks,
including credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, and
constantly monitors them.
The following section provides qualitative and quantitative
information about the impact of these risks on the Group.

CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is the Group’s exposure to potential losses from
failure by commercial counterparties to fulfil obligations
they have entered into. Failure to collect or late collection
of trade receivables could impact negatively on the
Group’s economic results and financial equilibrium.
The Group’s policy for managing credit risk from
commercial activities envisages the preliminary

assessment of counterparties’ creditworthiness, the
management of credit limits and the adoption of risk
mitigation instruments, such as the acquisition of bank
guarantees, letters of credit and the external transfer of
part of the insolvency risk through a global program of
credit insurance.

In order to mitigate credit risk, the Group has also
adopted a policy which defines the strategic guidelines
and operating rules for an effective system to control
each company’s credit. In addition, the policy defines
the means for estimating expected losses, in accordance
with the means set out hereafter and taking account of
the mitigating factor represented by the aforementioned
instruments for insured credit.
For trade receivables, the Group uses the “12-month ECL”
methodology to determine the life-time of the expected
losses associated with the probability of default over
the next 12 months, using a forward-looking approach.
The calculation of the expected credit loss, which is
made on the residual life of the receivables at the date
of their recognition in the financial statements and the
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The maximum exposure to risk, net of guarantees, at 31 December 2020 was € 100,936 thousand.
The table below summarises the types of instruments protecting against credit risk used by the Group:

TYPE

31 DEC. 2020

%

31 DEC. 2019

%

120

53%

129

54%

6

3%

14

6%

TOT insured receivables

127

56%

143

61%

Non-insured receivables

101

44%

94

39%

Total receivables

228

100%

238

100%

Receivables under insurance policies
Other

“Other” mainly includes receivables insured through letters of credit and bank guarantees.

PAST-DUE FINANCIAL ASSETS

RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES
The portion of insured receivables, at 31 December 2020,
was 56% of the total exposure.

MAXIMUM RISK EXPOSURE

subsequent reporting dates, considers a 12-month time
horizon, since at the closing date of the period there was
no significant increase in credit risk. In particular, the
Group applies an approach, defined as a “provision matrix”,
based on the division of trade receivables into clusters on
the basis of type (ordinary/legal), ageing (past-due ranges)
and country rating. For the purposes of determining
expected losses, the Group applies a definition of the
default threshold for ordinary receivables of 120 days past
due and 100% for receivables which have moved to legal
default, since this is considered an effective indication of
the threshold beyond which the receivable is considered
unrecoverable. The calculation of the probability of
default is therefore based on the effective number of days
the payment is overdue.

The instrument used for the classification and monitoring
of credit is ageing, according to which the accounts
payables are divided by their expiry dates, starting from
the most recent (1-30 days) to the oldest (beyond 120
days). The amount of receivables past-due within 60
days is € 16,584 thousand (versus € 22,695 thousand

TRADE RECEIVABLES AGEING

at December 2019) whereas the amount of receivables
past-due beyond 60 days is € 14,947 thousand (versus €
23,212 thousand at December 2019). For the purposes of
representing trade receivables for issued invoices by pastdue ranges, the following table is provided:

31 DEC. 2020

%

31 DEC. 2019

%

Performing

197

86%

192

81%

Past-due 0-30

13

6%

17

7%

Past-due 31-60

3

1%

5

2%

Past-due 61-90

2

1%

4

2%

Beyond 120 and legal

13

6%

19

8%

As regards the write-off criteria, these are clearly based
on the specific statutory and tax rules in force in the
various countries where the Group companies are present.
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LIQUIDITY RISK

METHOD USED TO CALCULATE THE BAD DEBT PROVISIONS
The allocation for the provision is made on the basis of
both analytical and generic assessments, as set out below:
Specific write-down: the receivables in litigation or pastdue for longer than one year or transferred to an external
collection agency are subject to a specific impairment
loss according to the progress of their recovery and the
information provided by the attorneys.

ANALYSIS OF BAD DEBT PROVISION (inthousand €)
Total receivables

Generic write-down: for receivables that are past-due
within the year, assessments are applied based on historic
analyses in relation to the ageing of the receivables and
the level of risk of each individual country, market and
type of customer.
Following is the summary of the specific and generic
assessments used to determine the bad debt provision:

31 DEC. 20

are therefore assessed as more than fair and such as
to allow the Group to promptly and financially meet all
its obligations by the due dates. The Group manages its
liquidity by using cash and cash equivalents in short-term
technical forms or involving easy disposal.

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s “Overall available
liquidity”, defined as the sum of cash and cash equivalents
and the unused portion of committed lines of credit
only (equal to € 380 million at year-end) amounted to
approximately € 830 million. With short- and long-term
bank loans, totalling over € 1,200 million as at the same
date, of which approximately 40% has been used, the
Group continues to carefully manage the liquidity risk.
The bank credit lines currently available to the Group,
the cash and cash equivalents from operating activities,

The following table shows the contractual expiry dates
for the financial liabilities other than derivatives. These
figures are based on the non-discounted cash flows,
including financial charges, as at the next closest date
when the Group may be asked for the payment.

31 DEC. 19

Gross
246.542
257.522
Provision
18.776
19.904
Net
227.766
237.618
			
Receivables impaired on a specific basis
Gross
8.050
10.885
Provision
6.406
8.952
Net
1.644
1.933
			
Receivables impaired on a generic basis
Gross
238.492
246.637
Provision
12.370
10.952
Net
226.122
235.685
			

EXPIRY DATES 2020
(in million €)

Trade payables

< 1 month
91

2-6 months 6-12 months
263

6

1-5 years

>5 years

Total

4

0

364

Financial payables					
-current financial liabilities
24
9				
33
-current loans		
12
176			
188
-non-current financial liabilities						
-non-current loans				
391
10
401
Total financial payables

24

21

176

391

10

623

Total

115

284

182

395

10

986

The details for the expiry dates of financial and trade payables at 31 December 2019 are shown in the table below:

EXPIRY DATES 2019
(in million €)

Trade payables

< 1 month
110

2-6 months 6-12 months
216

3

1-5 years

>5 years

Total

2

0

331

Financial payables					
-current financial liabilities
27
16				
43
-current loans			
59			
59
-non-current financial liabilities						
-non-current loans				
281
132
413
Total financial payables
Total
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27

16

59

281

132

515

137

232

62

283

132

846
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MARKET RISK
The Group is exposed to several market risks and, in
particular, to the possibility that fluctuation in exchange
rates, interest rates and commodity prices may affect
the value of assets, liabilities and the expected cash flows.
The risk management policies applied to interest rates,
exchange rates and commodities, are centrally defined
to minimise the above risks in a structured and proactive
manner in the advancement of the Group's objectives.
The three types of market risk can be characterised as
described here below.
EXCHANGE RATE RISK
The international context where the Group operates
exposes the Group to the risk that changes in exchange
rates may affect its financial results.
The exposure to exchange rate risk determines:
a) impacts on the operating result due to the different
valuation of income and expense in another currency
compared to the time when the price conditions were
agreed upon (economic risk);
b) impacts on the operating result due to the translation
of trade or financial receivables/payables denominated in
another currency (transaction risk);
c) impacts on the consolidated financial statements due to
the translation of assets and liabilities held by companies
that prepare their financial statements in a currency other
than the euro (translation risk).

US dollar, rouble, renminbi, Swiss franc and several other
currencies for lower amounts.
The economic risk is hedged through average rate forward
financial instruments, i.e. hedging agreements against
the volatility that characterises the currency markets,
using as a reference the monthly average exchange rates,
and that allow the Group to achieve the goals set forth
in its risk management policy. In order to pursue these
goals, the Group entered into derivatives hedging a set
proportion of net exposure in currencies other than the
Group's currency. At each reporting date, the exposure
is presented in the financial statements using hedge
accounting, which requires to recognise derivatives at
their fair value in the statement of financial position. The
Group considered it possible to use hedge accounting
since the hedging relationship is effective in accordance
with IFRS 9, which came into force as from 1 January 2018.
In order to minimise the exposure to the transaction risk,
the Group uses derivative forward instruments which
allow for a protection against revaluations/write-downs
at the due date of the credit and debit positions of a
financial and commercial nature.

At the same date, the fair value of the foreign exchange
derivatives was overall positive, standing at € 504
thousand.
In relation to exchange rate risk, the Group undertook
sensitivity analysis to determine any impact on the final
profit before tax from potential fluctuations in exchange

(in million €)

rates between the euro and the currencies to which the
Group is exposed. The hypothesised scenario envisages
a general variation in exchange rates of 2% and the
following table shows the sensitivity, while keeping all the
other variables fixed, in terms of the profit before tax and
equity, gross of the tax effect:

EFFECT ON PROFIT BEFORE TAX

EFFECT ON EQUITY

31 DEC. 2020
Foreign currency revaluation

3

3

Foreign currency devaluation

-3

-3

The Group does not hedge the translation risk except for
any distribution of intergroup dividends.
As at the reporting date, the notional amount of forward
currency contracts (sale and purchase) entered into by the
Group, can be summarised as follows:

The most significant exposure in other currencies of the
Group concerns the exchange rate of the euro against the

(in million €)

CHF
GBP
CNY
USD
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Notional amount
in the currency

Notional amount in €

3.43
1.40
-17.0
3.3

3.18
1.56
-2.12
2.67

Product design
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COMMODITY PRICE FLUCTUATION RISK
Profit and losses are affected by the performance of prices
of raw materials, in particular as regards non-ferrous
metals such as copper, nickel and aluminium, as well as
precious metals like silver, which represent one of the
primary components of the majority of products traded
by the Group. For hedging purposes against the risk of
fluctuating prices for copper, silver and nickel, the Group
provided, through the parent company Ariston Thermo
Holding SpA, for the necessary hedging measures in line
with the procedures already adopted in the previous years
aimed at reducing the impact of price volatility in purchases
over the next years. Thus, the Group partly hedged
purchases also for the years 2020, 2021 and 2022.
The Group hedged price risk with forward and average
forward financial instruments that allow it to achieve the
goals set out in its risk management policy. In pursuing said

Commodity
Copper
Nickel
Nickel
Silver
Aluminium

INTEREST RATE RISK
goals, the Group entered into derivatives hedging a set
proportion of raw material purchases. At each reporting
date, the exposure is presented in the financial statements
using hedge accounting, which requires to recognise
derivatives at their fair value in the statement of financial
position.
The Group considered it possible to use hedge accounting
since the hedging relationship is effective in accordance
with IFRS 9, which came into force as from 1 January 2018.
When these instruments no longer qualify for hedge
accounting, they are recognised as trading instruments.
As at the reporting date, the notional amount of forward
commodity contracts entered into by the Group, can be
summarised as follows:

Financial instruments

Quantity/ton

Total price (in million euro)

Forward
Average Forward
Forward
Average Forward
Forward

1,140
49
16
2.25
250

6.024
0.604
0.19
1.235
0.43

At the same date, the fair value measurement of the
derivatives on commodities showed a positive € 1,587
thousand and was classified under “Other current financial
assets”.

Interest rate risk refers to the possible impact on the
income statement deriving from fluctuations in the interest
rates applied to the loans of the Group. The amount of
variable rate debt exposure of the Group, not hedged
against interest rate risk, represents the main element of
risk for the negative impact from an increase in the market
interest rates. The interest rate risk to which the Group is
exposed originates primarily from the medium/long-term
financial payables. The Group's policy for managing this risk
seeks to strike a balance between fixed- and variable-rate
debts, considering the maturity profile and short-term
market outlook — including for the purposes of curbing
funding costs. Following the mid-long term loans, the
Group has, at 31 December 2020, Interest Rate Swap (IRS)
transactions with leading financial counterparties for a
notional total amount of € 222 million. At 31 December

2020, 63% of medium/long-term gross debt, in relation to
third parties, is at a fixed rate and 37% is at a variable rate
consistent with the Group policy.
The sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk is conducted
under the delta margin approach and is aimed at measuring
how a given change in interest rates would affect financial
expense associated with variable-rate debt over the next 12
months.
The sensitivity of the interest spread, assuming a
generalised +/- 50 basis point change in interest rates,
amounted to + € 1.4 million and - € 1.2 million, respectively,
at the end of 2020, up from +/- € 0.6 million at the end of
2019. There were no material impacts on the Group’s net
profit and equity.

Derivatives contracts entered into and closed during
the year resulted in positive items amounting to
approximately € 0.772 million which impacted the
purchase cost of commodities.

Climate Chamber, Ariston Thermo Innovative Technologies
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HEDGING INSTRUMENTS

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

In summary, at 31 December 2020, the following financial
hedging instruments are in place:
• against exchange rates – Swiss franc, British pound
sterling, US dollar and Chinese renminbi
• against commodities – copper, nickel, silver and aluminium
• against interest rates – medium-long term floating rate loans
The hedging instruments applied to exchange rates were

set up in order to reduce the economic and transactional
risk of the Group, and they meet all the formal
requirements set forth in the IAS/IFRSs and are therefore
recognised in hedging accounting.
The following table shows the details of hedging
instruments in use at 31 December 2020. The amounts are
expressed in million euro:

Based on the transactions carried out by Ariston Thermo Group during 2020, related parties are mainly represented by:
- companies directly and/or indirectly related to the majority shareholder of Ariston Thermo Holding SpA;
- Directors and Statutory Auditors and/or companies related to the same.
The following table shows the figures of the main transactions with related parties:

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(in thousand €)
Receivables

HEDGING INSTRUMENTS 2020
(in million €)

Hedged
risk nature

Interest Rate Swap
Average Forward
Forward
Average Forward

Tassi di int.
FX
commodity
commodity

Fair Non current
financial
value
assets
31.12.20

Current Non current
financial
financial
assets
liabilities

Current
financial
liabilities

Total

-3.7				
-3.7
-3.7
0.5		
0.5			
0.5
1.2		
1.2			
1.2
0.4		
0.4			
0.4

Total		
-1.6		
2.1		
-3.7

-1.6

The following table shows the details of hedging instruments in use at 31 December 2019. The amounts are expressed
in million euro:

HEDGING INSTRUMENTS 2019
(in million €)

Hedged
risk nature

Interest Rate Swap
Average Forward
Forward
Average Forward

Tassi di int.
-1.9				
-1.9
-1.9
FX
-0.6				-0.6
-0.6
commodity			
0.3			
0.3
commodity			
0.3			
0.3

Fair Non current
financial
value
assets
31.12.20

Current Non current
financial
financial
assets
liabilities

Current
financial
liabilities

Total		
-2.5		
0.6		
-2.5
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Total

31 DEC. 2020
Payables

31 DEC. 2019

Revenue

Costs Receivables

Payables

Revenue

Costs

								
Fondazione A. Merloni
6
0
5
500
6
0
5
500
Novapower Srl
9
56
9
225
8
33
8
29
Janus Immobili per l'Industria
0
0
0
983
0
0
0
984
Novapower L2 Srl
9
0
0
0
18
0
8
0
San Lorenzo Srl
0
0
0
0
8
0
8
0
EU.RO.MA. Srl
0
0
0
0
8
0
8
0
Eliosuasa Srl
0
0
0
0
8
0
8
0
Novacapital Srl
0
0
0
0
13
0
13
21
Total

24

56

As regards transactions with related parties, it should
be noted that they are not to be qualified as atypical or
unusual, but should be included in the normal course of
operations carried out by the companies of the Group.
These transactions are regulated by market conditions

14

1.708

69

33

58

1.534

and based on the characteristics of the services provided.
The main transactions with related parties concern Janus
Immobili per l’Industria and consist of rental charges for
the logistic site of Borgo Tufico (Ancona).

-1.9
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FEES

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Fees attributable to the year and represented by the remunerations to Directors and Statutory Auditors of the Parent
Company, at 31 December 2020, are summarised as follows:

Significant events occurring after the reporting period, if any, are detailed in the “Directors’ Report on Operations”
attached to the financial statements.

FEES (in thousand €)

FEES
PERIOD

TERM OF OFFICE

FEES FOR THE
OFFICE HELD (1)

OTHER
FEES (2)

Directors

2018-19-20

Fin. Stat. approval 2020

2,647

357

Statutory auditors

2018-19-20

Fin. Stat. approval2020

99

OFFICE

TOTAL

2,746

357

(1) Fixed remuneration pursuant to art. 2389, 3rd paragraph, civil code and/or attendance bonus.
(2) Gross remuneration to employees.

In addition, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer
and a group of senior managers are the beneficiaries of
an incentive system based on the allocation of phantom
options, which envisages a cash payment within the time
frames set forth for exercise of the options (from May
2019 to May 2022 for the incentive plan for 2016, from May
2020 to May 2023 for the incentive plan for 2017, from May
2021 to May 2024 for the incentive plan for 2018, from May
2022 to May 2025 for the incentive plan for 2019 and from
May 2023 to May 2026 for the incentive plan for 2020),
according to the “creation of value” realised by the Group
at the end of a three-year period from the assignment.
The payment of this bonus is subject to the continuation
of the professional relationship with the Group.
The amount of the charge has been estimated by
hypothesizing the achievement of the objectives for the
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optimisation of the Group that are implicit in the medium
term plan that the Group updates each year, taking into
account the reasonable expectation that the incentive
plan will be annually replicated in the foreseeable future
thus generating a recurrent cost.
The entire charge of each phantom option plan has
been recognised in the period based on the reasonable
expectation that this plan will be annually replicated in the
foreseeable future thus generating a recurrent cost.
The amount of the charge has been estimated by
assuming the achievement of the objectives for the
optimisation of the company that are implicit in the
medium-term plan that the company updates each year.

Albacina plant,
Heat Pumps production line
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LIST OF COMPANIES AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

Company

n°

Registered
office Curr.

1

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA

Italy

EUR

2

AR1

Italy

EUR

Group’s
Direct Subsidiaries’
Share
controlling
controlling controlling Minority
Investing Companies Interest Interest interest
capital
interest
41,845,000 Parent comp.			

Company

n°

Registered
office Curr.

Share
capital

Group’s
controlling
interest

Direct Subsidiaries’
controlling controlling Minority
Investing Companies Interest Interest interest

100.00

Ariston Thermo SpA		

100.00

44 ATM1 HR sa de C.V.
Mexico
MXN
50,000
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo USA Holding LLC		
Ariston Thermo Canada Ltd		

99.99		
0.01

3 Ariston Thermo Argentina Srl
Argentina
ARS
16,705,269
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo International Srl		
Thermowatt SpA		

99.63
0.37

45 ATM2 HR sa de C.V.
Mexico
MXN
50,000
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo USA Holding LLC		
Ariston Thermo Canada Ltd		

99.99		
0.01

4 Ariston Thermo Benelux sa
Belgium
EUR
176,000,000
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
70.01
Ariston Thermo International Srl		

46 Atmor (Dongguan) El. Technology Co. Ltd

China

USD

1,000,000

100.00

Atmor Electronic Technology Co. Ltd		

100.00

29.99

47 Atmor Electronic Technology Co. Ltd

Hong Kong

HKD

10,000

100.00

Atmor Industries LTD		

100.00

5

Ariston Thermo Canada Ltd

Canada

CAD

43,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

6

Ariston Thermo (China) Co., Ltd

China

CNY

145,885,010

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

7

Ariston Thermo Croatia Ltd

Croatia

HRK

800,000

100.00

8

Ariston Thermo CZ sro

Czech Republic CZK

30,000,000

100.00

9

Ariston Thermo Deutschland GmbH

Germany

255,700

100.00

200,000

100.00

48 Atmor Industries LTD
Israel
USD
1,790,409
100.00
						

Elcotherm AG		
80.00
Third parties			

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

49 BCE Srl

100.00

Elcotherm Bruciatori SpA		

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

Elco International GmbH		

100.00

50 Calentadores de America sa de C.V.
Mexico
MXN
1,226,643,637
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo Mexico sa de C.V		
Ariston Thermo USA Holding LLC		

10 Ariston Thermo Egypt LLC
Egypt
EGP
10,900,000
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo International Srl		
Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
0.01

99.99

51 Chaffoteaux sas
France
EUR
54,682,110
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
99.99
Elco International GmbH		

11

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA

52 Cuenod sas

France

EUR

15,422,390

100.00

STV France sas		

100.00

50 DHE Srl

Italy

EUR

100,000

100.00

Thermowatt SpA		

100.00

53 Domotec AG

Switzerland

CHF

50,000

100.00

Elcotherm AG		

100.00

54 Ecoflam Bruciatori SpA

Italy

EUR

3,690,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA

Ariston Thermo Espana sl Sociedad
Unipersonal

Spain

EUR

EUR

800,000

100.00

100.00

Italy

EUR

10,400

100.00
99.99		
0.01
0.01

12 Ariston Thermo Gulf Water Heating LLC
UAE
AED
400,000
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo International Srl		
49.00
Third parties			

13 Ariston Thermo Heating Tech.Nigeria Ltd

Nigeria

NGN

10,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

55 Elco Austria GmbH

Austria

EUR

35,000

100.00

Elcotherm AG		

100.00

14 Ariston Thermo Holding USA LLC

USA

USD

63,037,687

100.00

Elcotherm AG		

100.00

56 Elco B.V.

Netherlands

EUR

2,046,004

100.00

Elco Burners B.V.		

100.00

15 Ariston Thermo Hungária kft

Hungary

HUF

131,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

57 Elco Belgium nv/sa
Belgium
EUR
1,300,000
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo Benelux sa		
Elco B.V.		

99.99
0.01

51.00

100.00

16 Ariston Thermo India Private Ltd
India
INR
220,000,000
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
23.00
Ariston Thermo International Srl		

58 Elco Burners B.V.

Netherlands

EUR

22,734

100.00

Ariston Thermo Benelux sa		

100.00

17 Ariston Thermo Industrial Vietnam Ltd

Vietnam

VND

41,600,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

59 Elco Burners GmbH

Germany

EUR

25,000

100.00

Elco International GmbH		

100.00

18 Ariston Thermo Innovative Technologies Srl

Italy

EUR

2,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo SpA		

100.00

60 Elco GmbH

Germany

EUR

50,000

100.00

Elco International GmbH		

100.00

19 Ariston Thermo International Srl

Italy

EUR

27,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo SpA

61 Elco Heating Solutions Limited

UK

GBP

3,001,750

100.00

Ariston Thermo UK Ltd		

100.00

62 Elco International GmbH

Germany

EUR

8,691,962

100.00

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA

63 Elco Italia SpA

Italy

EUR

3,500,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo SpA		

64 Elcotherm AG

Switzerland

CHF

1,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA

77.00

100.00

20 Ariston Thermo Isitma ve
Sogutma Sistemleri Ithalat, 					
Ihracat ve Dagitim Ltd. Sti.
Turkey
TRY
66,157,500
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo International Srl		
Ariston Thermo SpA
0.39

21 Ariston Thermo Kazakhstan LLP

Kazakhstan

KZT

212,100

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

22 Ariston Thermo Maroc sa

Morocco

MAD

3,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

65 Fluida sa de C.V.
Mexico
MXN
302,188,920
100.00
						

Calentadores de America sa de C.V.		
Ariston Thermo USA Holding LLC		

23 Ariston Thermo MEA SPC

Bahrain

USD

2,526,596

100.00

Elcotherm AG		

100.00

66 Gastech-Energi A/S

Ariston Thermo SpA

99.61

99.99		
0.01

Denmark

DKK

7,554,935

100.00

100.00
100.00

100.00		
99.99		
0.01

100.00

67 Kesselheld GmbH
Germany
EUR
83,333
100.00
						

Elco International GmbH		
80.00		
Third parties			
20.00

24 Ariston Thermo Mexico sa de C.V
Mexico
MXN 2,350,000,000
100.00
						

Elcotherm AG
		
Ariston Thermo Holding USA LLC		

25 Ariston Thermo Parts & Services sa

Switzerland

EUR

940,551

100.00

Elcotherm AG		

100.00

68 Marchi e Brevetti Srl

Italy

EUR

10,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA

26 Ariston Thermo Polska Sp. z o.o.

Poland

PLN

12,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

69 NTI-Boilers Inc

Canada

CAD

28,210

100.00

NTI Holdings Ltd		

100.00

Canada

CAD

13,058,901

100.00

Ariston Thermo Canada Ltd		

100.00

100,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

RON

29,041,740

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

71 NTI-Industrial Inc

Canada

CAD

100

100.00

NTI Holdings Ltd		

100.00

RUB

1,403,787,727

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

72 NTI-USA Inc.

USA

USD

100

100.00

NY Boilers Inc.		

100.00

Italy

EUR

30,100,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA

South Africa

ZAR

100

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

Singapore

SGD

28 Ariston Thermo Romania Srl

Romania

29 Ariston Thermo Rus LLC

Russia

30 Ariston Thermo SpA
31 Ariston Thermo South Africa (Pty) Ltd

100.00
100.00

32 Ariston Thermo Tunisie sa
Tunisia
EUR
500,000
100.00
						

Elcotherm AG		
66.70
Third parties			

33 Ariston Thermo UK Ltd

UK

GBP

7,500,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo SpA

34 Ariston Thermo Ukraine LLC

Ukraine

UAH

38,705,753

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

33.30

100.00
100.00

35 Ariston Thermo USA LLC
USA
USD
10,275,184
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo USA Holding LLC		
82.84		
Third parties			
17.16

36 Ariston Thermo Vietnam Ltd

Vietnam

VND

31,471,000,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

100.00

37 Atag Construction B.V.

Netherlands

EUR

1

100.00

Atag Verwarming Nederland B.V.		

100.00

38 Atag Electronics B.V.

Netherlands

EUR

1

100.00

Atag Verwarming Nederland B.V.		

100.00

39 Atag Engineering B.V.

Netherlands

EUR

1

100.00

Atag Verwarming Nederland B.V.		

100.00

40 Atag Heating B.V.

Netherlands

EUR

10,000

100.00

Ariston Thermo Benelux sa		

100.00

41 Atag Heizungstechnil GmbH

Germany

EUR

512,000

100.00

Atag Heating B.V.		

100.00

42 Atag Verwarming Belgie BVBA

Belgium

EUR

18,600

100.00

Atag Heating B.V.		

100.00

43 Atag Verwarming Nederland B.V.

Netherlands

EUR

18,000

100.00

Atag Heating B.V.		

100.00
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100.00

70 NTI-Holdings Ltd

27 Ariston Thermo Pte Ltd

20.00

73 PT Ariston Thermo Indonesia
Indonesia
IDR
16,260,750,000
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo International Srl		
Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
40.00

60.00

74 Racold Thermo Private Ltd
India
INR
262,134,750
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo International Srl		
Ariston Thermo Holding SpA
22.51

77.49

75 S.H.E. d.o.o. Svilajnac

Serbia

RSD

35,432,220

100.00

Thermowatt Spa		

76 SPM Innovation sas

France

EUR

750,000

100.00

SPM sas

77 STV France sas

France

EUR

9,730,123

100.00

Chaffoteaux sas		

100.00

78 Thermo Professional Srl

Italy

EUR

100,000

100.00

Thermowatt SpA		

100.00

79 Thermowatt (Wuxi) Electric Co., Ltd
China
CNY
82,769,200
100.00
						

Ariston Thermo (China) Co., Ltd		
Ariston Thermo International Srl		

70.00
30.00

80 Thermowatt SpA

Ariston Thermo Holding SpA

Italy

EUR

7,700,000

100.00

100.00

100.00

100.00

The participation shares in this table are the ones relevant for determining the Consolidated financial statements. The companies acquired with the put/call contracts to be exercised on the remaining
shares of the share capital were fully consolidated, together with the acquisition agreement based on the provisions set forth in IFRS 3 (see the specific treatment of the individual put/call options in
the notes). The statutory ones can be found in the table at the end of the Notes to the Consolidated financial statements.

LIST OF COMPANIES NOT INCLUDED IN THE SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION
1

Joint venture “Ariston Thermo - UTG LLC”

Uzbekistan

EUR

1,000,000

51.00

Ariston Thermo International Srl		

51.00

49.00
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Ariston Thermo Holding S.p.A.
Registered office V.le A. Merloni, 45 - 60044 Fabriano
Share capital 41,845,000.00 – recorded at no. 104629 Administrative and Economic
Register of Ancona
Tax Code 01026940427
****
REPORT OF THE BOARD OF STATUTORY AUDITORS
PURSUANT TO ART. 2429 OF THE ITALIAN CIVIL CODE
****
To the Shareholders,
Please note that the Shareholders' Meeting appointed the independent auditors EY S.p.A
to audit the Company's financial statements, pursuant to art. 2409 bis of the Italian Civil
Code. The appointment was made on 8 May 2019. We also note that the current Board of
Statutory Auditors was appointed at the Shareholders' Meeting of 3 May 2018.
This Report was prepared pursuant to art. 2429 of the Italian Civil Code, taking account
of the fact that the independent auditors prepare their own Audit Reports with reference
to the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December 2020.

by the company at 31 December 2019, as well as the investment in AR 1 S.r.l., as
resulting after the further transfer by the Company to said AR 1 S.r.l. of the business unit
which generates and sells electricity from renewable sources and cogeneration.
The aim of this reorganisation, which will also allow to better seize the opportunities of
growth and corporate aggregation that may arise on the market, is therefore to concentrate
in the Transferee the industrial activities carried out in Italy and turn the Transferor into a
holding company, in line with industry best practices.
The transfer became effective for accounting and tax purposes on 1 October 2020, and
the transferor changed its name into Ariston Thermo Holding S.p.A. effective as of the
same date, in order to identify and properly define the new function and modified role
that the Company is called to perform within the Ariston Group, while, as of the same
date, the Transferee Ariston Thermo Italia S.p.A. took on the previous business name of
the transferor.
In view of the above, during 2020, we undertook the supervisory activities envisaged by
the law. In particular:
•

Directors, at least on a quarterly basis, and during the periodic meetings of the Board

Please note that during the year, as part of a corporate reorganisation of the Ariston

of Statutory Auditors, information on the Company's operations and the most

Group, which consisted in turning the Parent Company into an "Industrial Holding"

significant transactions concerning the Company's financial performance, financial

Company managing and coordinating its investees, the Company’s industrial business

position and cash flows; in particular, during 2020 we took part in all the meetings of

unit was transferred to a new entity, wholly owned by the Transferor, named Ariston
Thermo Italia S.p.A.
Said business unit consists of the assets, rights, liabilities, employees, and contracts
relating to the production and marketing of goods, and includes the investments in the
companies Elco Italia S.p.A. and Ariston Thermo Innovative Technologies S.r.l., owned
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we took part in the meetings of the Board of Directors and we obtained both from the

the Board of Directors, and held 6 meetings of the Board of Statutory Auditors;
•

we oversaw compliance with the law and with the articles of association, compliance
with the principles of sound administration and, to the extent of our responsibility, the
adequacy of the Company’s organisation, of the internal audit system and of the
administrative and accounting system, as well as on the reliability of the latter in

129

presenting fairly the Company's operations, also in relation to its size. We

we evaluated their overall presentation and compliance with the law concerning

accomplished the above by obtaining information from the heads of the relevant

their preparation and structure; to this end, we met with the independent auditors

departments at dedicated meetings and examining company documents. Regular

and analysed and discussed the results of their work. In this respect, we did not

meetings were also arranged with the Group CFO, the Head of Internal Audit and the

identify any issues;

independent auditors;
•

based on our exchange of information with the Boards of Statutory Auditors of the

of the Directors' Reports on Operations, and in this regard, we do not have any

main Italian subsidiaries (specifically Ariston Thermo S.p.A., Elco Italia S.p.A.,

observations to report;

Ecoflam Bruciatori S.p.A., and Thermowatt S.p.A.), there was nothing to report;
•

•

•

- we have verified compliance with the legal provisions governing the preparation

- we verified that these Financial Statements are consistent with the data and

we have monitored the activities carried out by the Company in compliance with the

information we acquired in performing our duties, and we have no observations

provisions as set out in Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/2001, analysing the

in this regard.

activities undertaken by the Supervisory Body, the related programmes and reports.

As regards the Separate Financial Statements as at 31 December 2020 and the related

An Auditor is also a member of the Supervisory Body and regularly takes part in the

Directors’ Report on Operations, as well as the Consolidated Financial Statements as at

work of the Body in question;

31 December 2020 and the related Directors’ Report on Operations, on 22 March 2021,

we received no complaints pursuant to articles 2408 and 2409 of the Italian Civil

the independent auditors issued their own Audit Reports with no particular findings.

Code;

In these Reports, the independent auditors also confirmed the correspondence of the

as regards the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements as at 31 December

Directors’ Reports on Operations to the Financial Statements and their compliance with

2020, we note the following:

the law.

- the separate financial statements are prepared pursuant to the relevant provisions

The Audit Report on the Separate Financial Statements contains an emphasis of matter on

of the Italian Civil Code, supplemented, where applicable, by the Italian

the reorganisation, which is also referred to in the first part of this Report.

accounting standards drawn up by the National Council of the Italian Accounting

Based on the information received from the CFO, and as confirmed also by the

Profession (Consiglio Nazionale dei Dottori Commercialisti e degli Esperti

independent auditors, it is noted that the latter provided also the following services:

Contabili) and revised by the Italian accounting standard setter;

- the Company has opted to prepare the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with IASs/IFRSs;

- since we are not required to audit the data reported in the Financial Statements,

ANNUAL REPORT 2020

Requesting company

Service
provider

Description of service

Cost (thousands of euro)

AT Holding Spa

EY Italy

Various consultancy

AT Holding Spa

EY Italy

Tax consultancy

3.6

AT SPA

EY Italy

Tax consultancy

4.9

Ariston Thermo Innovative Technologies SRL

EY Italy

Tax consultancy

4.2

123.7
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ARGENTINA
Ariston Thermo Argentina Srl
Av. Regimiento de Patricios 1052 Of. 601
1265 Ciudad de Buenos Aires (CABA)
tel: +54 115365 9200
e-mail: info.argentina@aristonthermo.com
AUSTRIA
Elco Austria GmbH
16-18, Aredstrasse
AT-2544 Leobersdorf
tel.: +43 2256 639990
fax: +43 2256 64411
e-mail: info@at.elco.net

Atmor (Dongguan)
Electronic Technology Co. Ltd.
Sha Ni Bridge, Qingxi Town, Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province, P.R.C.
tel: +86 (0)769-87362123
fax: +86 (0)769-87319203
e-mail: david@atmor.net
web: www.atmor.net
Thermowatt (Wuxi) Electric Co., Ltd
No. 9/1, Xing Chuang Yi Road
Wuxi Singapore Industrial Park
Wuxi, Jiangsu 214028 PRC
tel.: +86 21 60398600
fax: +86 21 60398620
CROATIA

BAHRAIN
Ariston Thermo MEA SPC
HIDD area, BIIP
Building 1305, Road 1516, Block 115, Manama,
Kingdom of Bahrain
tel.: +973 39223346

Ariston Thermo Croatia d.o.o.
Kovinska 4a
Zagreb
tel: +385 1 7899100
fax: +385 1 7899105
e-mail: info.croatia@aristonthermo.com

BELGIUM

CZECH REPUBLIC

Ariston Thermo Benelux nv/sa
Registered offices:
Zoning Industriel
11, Rue Gabriel de Moriame
5020 Namur Malonne
tel.: +32 81448311
fax: +32 81448400

Ariston Thermo CZ sro
Office Park Hloubětín
Poděbradská 88/55
190 00 Prague
tel.: +420 222 713 455
fax: +420 222 725 711
e-mail: ariston.cz@aristonthermo.com

Head offices and sales offices:
61, Boulevard Industriel
1070 Anderlecht (Brussels)
tel.: +32 23334888
fax: +32 23334889
ELCO Belgium nv/sa
61, Boulevard Industriel
1070 Anderlecht (Brussels)
tel.: +32 481 50 30
fax: +32 463 17 05
e-mail: info@be.elco.net
CANADA
NTI Boilers Inc.
30, Stonegate Drive
Saint John, New Brunswick
tel.: +1 506 657 6000
e-mail: info@ntiboilers.com
CHINA
Ariston Thermo (China) Co., Ltd
No.9 Xing Chuang Yi Road,
Wuxi Singapore Industrial Park
Wuxi, Jiangsu, 214028 PRC
tel.: +86 510 68899777
fax: +86 510 85282377

Head offices and sales offices:
15F, V-Capital building
No.333 Xianxia Road
Shanghai, 200336 PRC
tel: +86 21 60398600
fax: +86 21 60398620
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DENMARK
Gastech-Energi A/S
Sindalsvej 8
8240 Risskov
tel.:+45 70 10 15 40
e-mail: info@gastech.dk
web: www.gastech.dk
EGYPT
Ariston Thermo Egypt LLC
25 Ghadet El Maadi Towers,
Corniche El Maadi, Cairo
tel.: +2 0102 226 0336
FRANCE
Chaffoteaux sas
Le Carre Pleyel
5, Rue Pleyel
93200 Saint-Denis Cedex (Paris)
tel.: +33 1 55849494
fax: +33 1 55849610
Cuenod sas
110 rue des Vergers
ZI des Dragiez
74800, La Roche sur foron
SPM-Innovation sas
Zone Industrielle
2, Avenue Josué Heilmann
F - 68800 Vieux-Thann
tel. : +33 3 89 83 63 00
fax : +33 3 89 83 63 07
web: www.spm-innovation.com

STV France sas
130, Av. De Marseille
26000 Valence
tel.: +33 475576700
GERMANY
Ariston Thermo Deutschland GmbH
Hohenzollernstrasse 31
D-72379 Hechingen
tel.: +49 7471 187650 / 655
fax: +49 7471 187659
e-mail: info.de@aristonthermo.com
web: www.ariston.com/de
Elco Burners GmbH
Herbert-Liebsch-Strasse 4a
D-01796 Pirna
tel.: +49 3501 79530
fax: +49 3501 795502
e-mail: sales@de.elco.net
ELCO GmbH
Registered offices:
Dreieichstrasse 10
D-64546 Morfelden-Walldorf
tel.: +49 741187287
fax: +49 7471187111
e-mail: info@de.elco.net
web: www.elco.de

Head offices and sales offices:
Hohenzollernstraße 31
D-72379 Hechingen
tel.: +49 7471 187 - 0
fax: +49 7471 187 111
e-mail: info@de.elco.net
web: www.elco.de
Elco International GmbH
Hohenzollernstrasse 31
D-72379 Hechingen
tel.: +49 7471 1870
fax: +49 7471 187111
e-mail: info@de.elco.net
Kesselheld GmbH
Dusseldorf, Erkrater Str. 206
40233 - Dusseldorf
HUNGARY
Ariston Thermo Hungária Kft
1135 Budapest Hun utca 2.
tel.: +36 1 2371110
fax: +36 1 237 1111
INDIA
Ariston Thermo India Private Limited
2nd Floor, Eastern Wing, Nyati Unitree
Nagar Road Yerwada
Pune, Maharashtra 411006
tel.: +91 02067409934
tel.: +919130013971

Racold Thermo Private Limited
Gat no. 265/374/376
Kharabwadi, Chakan, Taluka - Khed
Pune, Maharashtra 410501
tel.: +91 02135 674700
fax: +91 02135 674850/674851
e-mail: marketing@racold.com
INDONESIA
PT Ariston Thermo Indonesia
Dipo Business Centre, 15th Floor
Jl. Jend. Gatot Subroto Kav. 51-52,
Jakarta 10260
tel: + 62 21 29865999
fax: +62 21 29865998
ISRAEL
Atmor Industries Ltd
20 Hataas St, Kfar-Saba 44455, Israel

M&B Marchi e Brevetti Srl
2, Via S. Filippo
60044 Fabriano (AN)
tel.: +39 0732 627627
fax: +39 0732 628680
e-mail: m-b@ariston.com
Thermowatt SpA
21, Via S. Giovanni Battista
60011 Arcevia (AN)
tel.: +39 0731 9881
fax: +39 0731 988267
e-mail: info@thermowatt.com
KAZAKHSTAN

NIGERIA
Ariston Thermo Heating Technology
Nigeria Limited
Landmark Towers, Plot 5B
Water Corporation Road, Oniru
Victoria Island, Lagos
POLAND
Ariston Thermo Polska Sp. z o.o.
ul. Pocieszka 3,
31-408 Krakow
tel.: +48 12 420 22 20
fax: +48 12 420 52 72
e-mail: pl.marketing@aristonthermo.com

Ariston Thermo Kazakhstan LLP
42 Timiryazev str., 15/1A
050040 Almaty City
tel.: +7 (727) 26648535456
fax: +7 (727) 2663867
e-mail: info.kz@aristonthermo.com

Ariston Thermo España, S.L. (Sociedade
Unipersonal) Sucursal em Portugal
tel.: +351 219605300
e-mail: comercial.pt@aristonthermo.com

MEXICO

ROMANIA

Ariston Thermo Mexico S.A DE C.V.
Blvd. Isidro López Zertuche 1839
Col. Universidad.
25260 Saltillo, Coahuila
tel. :+52 844 438 56 00

Ariston Thermo Romania Srl
Polona Business Center
68 – 72, Str. Polona, 1st Floor, 1st District
010505 Bucharest
tel.: +40 21 2319510
fax: +40 212317504
e-mail: office.ro@aristonthermo.com

PORTUGAL

ITALY
Ariston Thermo SpA
Viale Aristide Merloni, 45
60044 Fabriano (AN)
tel.: +39 0732 6011
fax: +39 0732 602331
Via Broletto, 44
20121 Milan (MI)
e-mail: public.relations@aristonthermo. com
Ariston Thermo International Srl
Viale Aristide Merloni, 45
60044 Fabriano (AN)
tel.: +39 0732 6011
fax: +39 0732 602234
Ariston Thermo
Innovative Technologies Srl
Via della Vignolina, 2,
20864, Agrate Brianza, Monza Brianza
e-mail: innovative.technologies@pec.
aristonthermo.com
B.C.E. S.r.l.
Via S. Margherita 450
21042 Caronno Pertusella (VA)
tel. +39 02 9657788
e-mail: info@bceitalia.com
Thermowatt Professional Srl
Via Fossa, 22
31051 Follina (TV)
tel: +39 0438 971865
fax: +39 0438 971866
e-mail: thermowattprofessional@legalmail.it
Ecoflam bruciatori SpA
64, Via Roma
31023 Resana (TV)
tel.: +39 0423 719500
fax: +39 0423 719580
e-mail:export@ecoflam-burners.com
ELCO Italia SpA
64, Via Roma
31023 Resana (TV)
tel.: +39 0423 7160
fax: +39 0423 716380
e-mail: info@it.elco.net
www.elcoitalia.it

MOROCCO
ARISTON THERMO MAROC S.A
Logistics 1, lot n°12 Z.I Ouled Saleh
Bouskoura, Casablanca, Morocco
tel.: +212 0522352283
e-mail: info.maroc@aristonthermo.com
NETHERLANDS
ATAG Verwarming Nederland B.V.
Galileïstraat 27, 7131 PE
Lichtenvoorde Postbus 105,
7130 AC Lichtenvoorde
tel.: +31 544 391 777
fax: +31 544 391 703
e-mail: info@atagverwarming.com
Elco Burners BV
Meerpaalweg 1
1332 BB Almere
Postbus 30048
1303 AA Almere
tel.: +31 88 69 573 11
fax: +31 88 69 573 90
e-mail: burners@nl.elco.net
Elco BV
Hamstraat 76
6465 AG Kerkrade
Postbus 1035
6460 BA Kerkrade
tel.: +31 45 7518600
fax: +31 45 5669935
e-mail: service@nl.elco.net

RUSSIA
Ariston Thermo Rus LLC
127015 Moscow
Butyrskaya street 77, 5th floor
tel.: +7 495 213 0300
e-mail: marketing.ru@aristonthermo.com
SERBIA
S.H.E Superior Heating Elements d.o.o
Svilajnac
Stevana Sinđelića bb,
35210 Svilajnac
tel.: +381 358155601
e-mail: info@thermowatt.com
SINGAPORE
Ariston Thermo Pte Ltd
1 Gateway Drive, #20-05/06
Westgate Tower,
Singapore 608531
tel.: +65 6226 0292
fax: +65 6226 0361
e-mail: info.sg@aristonthermo.com
SOUTH AFRICA
Heat Tech Geysers (Pty) Limited
294 Barolong Street
Icon Park, Sunderland Ridge Ext 10
Centurion 0046
Gauteng
tel: +27 87 9437471
fax: +27 87 941 7403
e-mail: info@heattech.co.za
www.heattech.co.za
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SPAIN

UNITED KINGDOM

Ariston Thermo Espana sl
Sociedad Unipersonal
Parc de Sant Cugat Nord, Plaça Xavier
Cugat, 2
Building A - 2nd floor
08174 Sant Cugat de Vallès, Barcelona
tel.: +34 93 4951900
fax: +34 93 3227799
e-mail: info.es@aristonthermo.com

Ariston Thermo UK Ltd
Artisan Building, Hillbottom Road
High Wycombe
Buckinghamshire HP12 4HJ
tel.: +44 1494 418500
e-mail: info.uk@aristonthermo.com

SWITZERLAND
Domotec AG
16, Lindengutstrasse
CH-4663 Aarburg
tel.: +41 62 787 87 87
fax: +41 62 787 87 00
e-mail: info@domotech.ch
Elcotherm AG
100, Sarganserstrasse
CH -7324 Vilters / SG
tel.: +41 817252525
fax: +41 817231359
e-mail: info@ch.elco.net
Ariston Thermo Parts & Services sa
Via Cantonale 2B
Stabile la Punta
6928 Manno
tel.: +41 (0) 916042126
TUNISIA
Ariston Thermo Tunisie SA
22, Rue de l’Imprimerie
Zone Industrielle Ksar Said
2086 La Manouba - Tunis
tel: +216 31378000
TURKEY
Ariston Thermo Isıtma ve Soğutma
Sistemleri İthalat ve İhracat
Dağıtım Ltd. Şti
Şerifali Mevkii Barbaros Cd.
Söyleşi Sk. 21/A Tan Plaza
Ümraniye Istanbul
tel.: +90 2163650700
fax: +90 2164156767
UKRAINE
Ariston Thermo Ukraine LLC
86/E, Bozhenko Str.
03680 Kiev
tel.: +380 44 496 25 18
fax: +380 44 496 25 12
e-mail: info.ua@aristonthermo.com

Elco Heating Solutions Limited
3 Juniper West, Fenton Way
Southfields Business Park
Basildon SS15 6SJ
tel.: +44 1268 546700
e-mail: enquiries@elco.co.uk
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Ariston Thermo USA LLC
272 Duchaine Boulevard
New Bedford, Massachusetts 02745
tel: +1 800 323 9651
e-mail: sales@aristonthermo.us
web: www.aristonthermo.us
www.htproducts.com
www.americanstandardwaterheaters.com
UZBEKISTAN
Joint Venture “Ariston Thermo UTG LLC”
210600 Navoi region, Karmana City
Free Industrial Economic Zone “Navoi”

Administrative office:
Mustakillik street 59A, office 5
100000, Tashkent
tel.: +998 71 1501762
e-mail: info@aristonthermo-utg.com
web: www.ariston-utg.uz
VIETNAM
Ariston Thermo Vietnam Ltd
TS3 street, Tien Son Industrial Zone
Dong Nguyen, Tu Son – Bac Ninh
tel.: +84 2223714111
fax: +84 2223714114

Head office and sales offices:
Floor 8 - Hanoi tourist building, 18 Ly
Thuong Kiet Street, Hoan Kiem District
Ha Noi
tel.: +84 24 39393576
fax: +84 24 39393575

UNITED ARAB EMIRATES
Ariston Thermo Gulf
Water Heating LLC
Dubai Airport
Freezone Building 6E-B
Office 829, Dubai
tel: +971 4 2364969
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